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CORPORATE PROFILE AND CORPORATE INFORMATION

nal@inRral&aid

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the “Company”, “our” or “we", together
with all its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is mainly engaged in the
provision of network system integration including provision of
network infrastructure solutions, network professional services
and mobile internet software of office automation, trading of
telecommunications equipment, the network equipment rental
business and money lending business. The shares of the Company
(the “Shares”) were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 November 2010.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ"))
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO)
Mr. Lu Chengye
Mr. Ching Chau Wa (Appointed on 1 January 2019)
Mr. Wu Chi Luen (Resigned on 1 January 2019)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(with his former name of Wong Tat Wai, Derek)
(Appointed on 1 August 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Huang Liangkuai

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund (Chairman)
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Huang Liangkuai

COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS COMMITTEE
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund

Mr. Huang Liangkuai

Mr. Ching Chau Wa (Appointed on 1 January 2019)

Mr. Wu Chi Luen (Resigned on 1 January 2019)
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CORPORATE PROFILE AND CORPORATE INFORMATION

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund

Mr. Huang Liangkuai

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman)

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Ching Chau Wa (Appointed on 1 January 2019)
Mr. Wu Chi Luen (Resigned on 1 January 2019)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Fung Siu Kei (Appointed on 1 October 2019)
Mr. Cheng Po Yuen (Resigned on 1 October 2019)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Fung Siu Kei (Appointed on 1 October 2019)
Mr. Cheng Po Yuen (Resigned on 1 October 2019)
Mr. Ching Chau Wa (Appointed on 1 January 2019)
Mr. Wu Chi Luen (Resigned on 1 January 2019)

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.0.Box 31119

Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way
802 West Bay Road

Grand Cayman, KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTER

Room 1907-1909, 19/F.

Tower E2, Oriental Plaza

No. 1 East Chang An Avenue

Dong Cheng District, Beijing

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC")

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Room 1201, 12/F, C C Wu Building

302-308 Hennessey Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE PROFILE AND CORPORATE INFORMATION
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PRINCIPAL BANKS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Bank of China

China Merchants Bank

Standard Chartered Bank

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS
Patrick Mak & Tse (as to Hong Kong Law)

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young

SHARE REGISTRAR
Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

LISTING EXCHANGE INFORMATION

Place of Listing
Main Board, The Stock Exchange

STOCK CODE
1087

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.investech-holdings.com
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FRIRES

Dear Shareholders,

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) continue to make effort in development
for its core business of network communication and sales of mobile

office automation (“OA”) software.

On behalf of the Group, | hereby present to you the audited annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the
“Year”).

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

During the Year, the Group continued to focus on its core business
of the network communication business and the sales of mobile
office automation software business. Mainland China continued to
be the major source of revenue contributed to the Group. Despite
the uncertainties in global economy and keen competition in the
industry, the Group still recorded a steady growth of revenue.
The improvement in overall performance was due to continuous
investment in advanced technology and exploration of overseas
market.

During the Year, the Group recorded a net loss of approximately
RMB24.7 million. Total revenue amounted to approximately RMB488.7
million, representing an increase of approximately RMB73.8 million,
or approximately 17.8% as compared to approximately RMB414.9
million for the corresponding period in 2018. The Group’s gross
profit amounted to approximately RMB65.0 million, representing an
increase of approximately RMB29.4 million, or approximately 82.6%
as compared with that of approximately RMB35.6 million for the
corresponding period in 2018. The gross profit margin for the Year
increased to approximately 13.3% from approximately 8.6% for the
corresponding period in 2018.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

During the Year, the ongoing trade arguments between the
United States of America and China were affecting the business
environment and global economic growth. By mutual understanding
and cooperation, the phase one of trade agreement between the
United States of America and China was entered in January 2020.
Despite of the aforesaid volatile global environment, as a result of
the successful strategy on diversification of risk by investments in
Vietnam and the effective execution of operational efficiency and cost
control measures, the Group has achieved growth on both revenue
and gross margin during the Year.

BERRR :
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EHNEETFRER -



The Group believes that in the 5G era, there are growing demand
for advanced technology, such as cloud computing, B2B platform,
Artificial Intelligence, Software Defined Networking (SDN) technology,
Internet of Things (IOT) etc. Therefore, the Group develops and
upgrades its mobile OA software continuously, and actively explores
new business application and solutions, to cope with the customers’
requirements and future trends of the coming 5G world. Furthermore,
the Group continues to establish strategic alliance with industry
leaders in order to enhance its competitiveness and accelerate the
distribution channel of OA software.

OUTLOOK

Looking forwards, the Group views that the outlook of the market in
China and the global business environment are challenging in 2020, it
is mainly due to the trade war between the United States of America
and China as well as the recent outbreak of novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) (the “Coronavirus”) epidemic. The uncertain business
environment and wide suspension of production and business
activities in certain countries and regions of Asia, Europe and
America are likely to affect the enterprise spending on IT services or
IT investments in the forthcoming year. As the epidemic is fluid and
rapidly evolving, the related impact on the Group’s operations, cash
flows and financial condition could not be reasonably estimated at
this stage. The Group will closely monitor the latest development in
the global economy and the impact of the Coronavirus epidemic on its
business and operation.

By virtue of its competitive advantages, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic about the prospects of its core business in the long
run, as it is expected the (i) the trade tension between the United
States of America and China may be alleviated or released; and
(ii) the Coronavirus epidemic may become controllable due to the
emergency public health measures taken by the Chinese government.
Moreover, the strong demand for mobile OA software is raised from
the awareness of benefit from the use of OA software, such as VPN,
cloud computing to facilitate home office and mobile office operation.
In light of the above, the Group foresees that more enterprises will
become aware of and seek for such technology to fit in sustainable
operation and risk management as the safeguard against any

uncertainty in the future. The Group is ready to take this opportunity.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERS

In addition, the Group will continue to explore proactively and
make investments in overseas market with business opportunities,
including but not limited to the opportunities from “One Belt and One
Road Initiative” and “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
Development” policies, so as to reduce market risks and provide
a better return to the shareholders (the “Shareholders”) of the
Company.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of directors of the Company, | express my
gratitude to our Shareholders for your continuous support to the
Group, and to express our appreciation to our dedicated staff for their
contributions as well as hard work, and to our customers, business

partners, shareholders and directors for their continuing support.

Yours faithfully,

Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Chairman and CEO

27 March 2020
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Rl P 1 2

A highlight of results, selected financial ratios, assets and liabilities %4  KETFPHL R EEHBBENRERE
and cash flows is as follows: FEEEZEWT
RESULTS INFORMATION ¥E:ER

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t—HLFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T ARET T
Revenue A 488,682 414,864
Gross profit EA 65,042 35,606
Loss before tax BRERIEE (22,638) (58,416)
Loss for the year FEHE (24,665) (54,657)

Loss attributable to: LA &5 FE1G 518 -
— Owners of the parent —&RAEHA A (21,096) (46,171)
- Non-controlling interests —FEPE SIS (3,569) (8,486)
(24,665) (54,657)

Loss per share SREE

- Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —HARBEE(ARED) (1.51) (3.95)
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FIFS RS

Revenue

L/ ON

RMB'000
ARMFT
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841,527 352,167 501,933

ARMTR

40,000

20,000

o

2015*

Profit/(Loss) Attributable to the Owners of the Parent
BATHEE AEGER,(EE)

35,621

2016

2017

-20,000
-40,000
-60,000
-80,000

-100,000

Total Assets

RMB'000
ARBFT

1,720,391

2,000,000

1,500,000

1,000,000

500,000

2015%

# For continuing operations only

0 I I

2016

1,577,624

(69,602) (95,611) (46,171)
2016 2017 2018
1,436,118 1,359,772

2017

2018

2018

414,864
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2019

(21,096)
2019

1,109,904

ERFESEME
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Rl s e 2

REEMBHLREY

Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t+—-HLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015

—F—tFf —F5F

(approximate)  (approximate)  (approximate)  (approximate)  (approximate)

2019

—B-hE

(84)

Gross profit margin ek 13.3%
Net (loss)/profit margin (FB8B) /4= (5.0%)
Current ratio (times) MBI & (13) 13
Gearing ratio® BERAELEN 5.8%
Return on total assets®? BEERHR? (2.0%)
Return on total equity® BERER (2.8%)

(1) Calculated by using the total of short-term and long-term borrowings
and coupon notes divided by total assets.

(2) Calculated by using average balances of total assets and total equity.

The ratios were calculated using data from continuing operations.

(BE4) (#4) (4) (BE4))
8.6% 12.7% 16.9% 14.7%"
(13.2%) (19.3%) (19.6%) 4.5%"

14 23 33 19
6.7% 8.6% 11.3% 2.4%"
(3.9%) (6.4%) (4.2%) 2.2%"
(5.4%) (9.2%) (6.6%) 3.9%"
(1 RARPREHEESERNEZERUNBEE

-

RMBEELBRS 2 PHEHAE -

L 75 R 5 4048 2 BB
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HIFS i =
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INFORMATION EEHEEER

As at 31 December
R+=A=t+-H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

—F-0FE BN\F  ZEFtF ZE-% C—F-If
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR ARBTT ARETRE ARETR AR%T:

Cashand cash equivalents & RKIREEEY

(excluding pledged deposits) (T BIEEEFFH) 48,781 98,278 211,514 533,491 192,120
Current assets MBEE 399,185 404,426 744,695 1,186,687 1,220,150
Non-current assets ERBEE 710,719 955,346 691,423 390,937 500,241
Current liabilities HEEE 301,439 297,637 322,812 359,298 631916
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 27,103 62,327 70,327 163916 40,550
Equity attributable to BAREAA

owners of the parent EfhE R 728,093 943,072 977,730 987,983 979,077
Non-controlling interests IR 53,269 56,736 65,249 66,427 68,848

CASH FLOWS INFORMATION HEeREER

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t-HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

“E-NE TN\ —T—+F —E-RF “T-HF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETn ARETE ARBTT ARETR

Net cash from/(used in) mEEEEE,/ (FTA)

operating activities BeFE 39,347 89,088 56,856 (30,308) 40,833
Net cash (used in)/from BEEY (1) /5
investing activities Re s (40,333) (195,393) (443,965) 172,239 154,747

Net cash (used in)/from WEEE () /1
financing activities ReFH (47,486) (2,902) 47,405 213,382 (170,653)



A summary of consolidated financial results for the five years ended

31 December 2019 is as follows:

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses, net

Finance costs

(Loss)/profit before tax from
continuing operations

Income tax (expense)/credit

Loss for the year from a
discontinued operation

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
that may be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations

Other comprehensive income that
will not be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on

translation of the Company's

financial statements into

presentation currency
Financial asset at fair value

through other comprehensive

income:

Change in fair value

Income tax effect

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

N
HERA

EF

B ARz
BERHUEY
IBR%
EtEFE
BENL

REGERRH
(B8 /B
a5 (Rx) /4
ERIAREERE

(BR)/fl

AREKRBHEN 7B
REEMEMERE
(B8)/ i

BENEEHL
EXZE

ERTTER
il
i

BEBRL TR
SRk B} 28

RE
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BRARERA
A2 ENER
SRAE:
DAEEE
fEkz2

ERAMLE(BR) hE

MHE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RIFS TS

BE_FT-AF+_A=+—HLEARFENEGE
DJ%%FWWKWT

Year ended 31 December
BET-R=t-HLEE
2015
—2-1f
RMB" []00

RMB'000

488,682 414,864 501,933 352,167 841527
(423,640) (379,258) (438,085) (292,690) (717,939)
65,062 35,606 63,848 89477 123,588
3,891 5629 15979 56,862 18,173
(24,654) (22,167) (25,947) (28,814) (9,639)
(56,038) (47,872) (57,768) (62,495) (39,018)
(6,764) (19.877) (51,975) (72,008) (33,569)
(4,115) (9,735 (31,991) (2,556) (8,025)
(22,638) (58,416) (87,852) (49,534) 51,510
(2,027) 3,759 (8,855) (19,339) (13,780)

= - - - (12537)
(24,665) (54,657) (96,707) (68,873) 25193
(57,997) 602 (18,736) 5,385 2,988
60,052 402 974 {2110 (3,624)
(230,370) 12939 - - -
3,235 (3,235) - - -
(167,083) 10,106 974 (2,110) (3,424)
(225,080) 10,708 (17,762) 3275 (436)
(249,745) (43,949) (114,469) (65,598) 24,757

13
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RIS

Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HLEE
2019 2018 2017
ZE-nE “F)N\F “Fif

RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBT R ARETT ARETT

(Loss)/profit attributable to: DTE RS (BR) /55 -
- Owners of the parent -BRAEEA (21,096) (68,171) (95,611) (69,602) 24,851
- Non-controlling interests ~JEE R (3,569) (8,486) (1,096) 729 342
(24,665) (54,657) (96,707) (68,873) 25,193
Total comprehensive (loss)/income WA T & A EE2E (FB) /
attributable to; et R
- Owners of the parent -BRAEFA (246,278) (35,436) (113.291) (66,386) 24,636
- Non-controlling interests —FEhER (3,467) (8,513) (1,178) 788 121
(249,745) (43,949) (114,469) (65,598) 24,757
(Loss)/earnings per share - 5k (BB) /B -

Basic and diluted (RMB cents) %$&ﬁ?«AEM%) (1.51) (3.95) (10.38) (8.73) 3.48
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Revenue

The Group recorded a total revenue of approximately RMB488.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2019, representing an
increase of approximately RMB73.8 million, or approximately 17.8%
as compared with that of approximately RMB414.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase of revenue was
primarily attributable to improvement of competitive strength by
continued investment in business development.

Cost of Sales

The cost of sales increased by approximately RMB44.3 million, or
approximately 11.7%, from approximately RMB379.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018, to approximately RMB423.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019. The increase was primarily
attributable to the increase in sales volume.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Gross Profit and Margin

The Group’'s gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
amounted to approximately RMB65.0 million, representing an
increase of approximately RMB29.4 million, or approximately 82.6%
as compared with that of approximately RMB35.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The increase was primarily attributable
to an increase of revenue contribution from network equipment
and software product with higher gross profit margin in the sales

portfolio of the Group.

The gross profit margin increased to approximately 13.3% for the
year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately 8.6% for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The increase in gross profit margin
was primarily attributable to an increase of revenue contribution
from sales with higher gross profit margin for the year ended 31
December 2019.

SEERESdall
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FHRFE IR -

HERAK
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EHAREINIBETHEINOARKELLIBE
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FFEHOARKEL36EET ENMEBHAR
SHE S o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN R

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Other Income and Gains

The Group recorded other income and gains of approximately RMB3.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2019, mainly including (i)
government grants released of approximately RMB1.6 million; (ii) a
fair value gain on debt investment at fair value through profit or less
of approximately RMB1.2 million; and (iii) finance income on the net
investment in a lease of approximately RMBO0.5 million.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
RMB2.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, or
approximately 11.3%, as compared with that of approximately
RMB22.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase
was primarily due to an increase in the salary and commission for
the staff in sales and marketing department which was in line with
the increase in revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately RMB8.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2019, or approximately
16.9%, as compared with that of approximately RMB47.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase was primarily due to
an increase in staff cost for business development for the year ended
31 December 2019.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Other Expenses

Other expenses amounted to approximately RMB6.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019, which was primarily resulted from (i)
impairment of trade receivables of approximately RMB3.6 million and
(ii) fair value loss on equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately RMB2.8 million.

Finance Costs

The finance costs decreased by approximately RMB5.6 million to
approximately RMB4.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019,
as compared with that of approximately RMB9.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The significant decrease was mainly
attributable to early redemption of coupon notes with an aggregate
principal amount of approximately RMB48.9 million in January and
February 2019.

Income Tax

The Group incurred income tax expense of approximately RMB2.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 primarily due to
the current income tax expense of approximately RMB5.5 million,
which was offset by deferred income tax credit from amortisation
of intangible assets acquired by the acquisition of Fortune Grace
Management Limited in November 2015 of approximately RMB3.5
million. Overall, the Group’s effective tax rate for the year ended 31
December 2019 was -9.0%, compared with 6.4% for the year ended
31 December 2018, as certain subsidiaries of the Group recorded
taxable profits during the current year.

Loss for the Year

The net loss decreased by approximately RMB30.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019, or approximately 54.8%, as compared
with that of approximately RMB54.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. The decrease was mainly attributable to (i) the
increase in gross profit of approximately RMB29.4 million; (ii) the
decrease in other expenses of approximately RMB13.1 million; and
(iii) the decrease in finance costs of approximately RMB5.6 million.
The decrease of net loss was partially offset by (i) the increase in
administrative expenses of approximately RMB8.1 million; and (ii)
the increase in selling and distribution expenses of approximately
RMB2.5 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group continues to implement prudent financial management
policies and maintains a relatively low gearing ratio during its
operations. As at 31 December 2019, the Group's gearing ratio
(measured by total of short-term and long-term borrowings and
coupon notes divided by total assets) was approximately 5.8% (31
December 2018: approximately 6.7%). The decrease in gearing
ratio was mainly due to the early redemption of coupon notes with
an aggregated principal amount of HK$56.1 million in January and
February 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, the total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMBé4.6 million
(31 December 2018: approximately RMB42.7 million), among which
approximately RMB38.9 million was unsecured and guaranteed by
a director of the Company. As at 31 December 2019, the interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings of approximately RMB42.3 million
carried at fixed interest rates and approximately RMB22.3 million

carried at floating interest rates.

As at 31 December 2019, there were no outstanding coupon notes of
the Group (31 December 2018: approximately RMB48.9 million). The

coupon notes were unsecured.

Save as aforesaid or as otherwise disclosed in this report, and apart
from intragroup liabilities, the Company did not have any outstanding
loan capital issued and outstanding or agreed to be issued, bank
overdrafts, loans or other similar indebtednesses, liabilities
under acceptances or acceptable credits, debentures, mortgages,
charges, hire purchases commitments, guarantees or other material
contingent liabilities as at the close of business on 31 December
2019.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Directors have confirmed
that there has been no material change in the indebtednesses and
contingent liabilities of the Group since 31 December 2019 to the date
of this report.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Working Capital

Inventories balance as at 31 December 2019 was approximately
RMB12.9 million (31 December 2018: approximately RMB13.4
million). The average turnover days for inventories was 11 days as at
31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: 11 days).

Trade and bills receivables balance as at 31 December 2019 was
approximately RMB210.3 million (31 December 2018: approximately
RMB209.7 million). The average turnover days for trade and bills
receivables decreased to 157 days as at 31 December 2019 (31
December 2018: 193 days) which was mainly due to effective

collection of payments from customers.

Trade payables balance as at 31 December 2019 was approximately
RMB170.9 million (31 December 2018: approximately RMB159.6
million). The average turnover days for trade payables decreased to
142 days as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: 150 days). The
decrease in turnover days was mainly due to the rising proportion of
purchase with relatively shorter payment period.

The Group’s cash conversion cycle for the year ended 31 December
2019 was 26 days as compared with 54 days for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cash Flows

The net cash flows from operating activities for the year ended 31
December 2019 amounted to approximately RMB39.3 million.

The net cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended
31 December 2019 of approximately RMB40.3 million was mainly
attributable to cash used in (i) placement of pledged bank deposits of
approximately RMB28.6 million and (ii) purchase of a debt investment
of approximately RMB13.0 million, was partially offset by interest
received from debt investment of approximately RMB0.8 million.

The net cash flows used in financing activities for the year ended
31 December 2019 of approximately RMB47.5 million was primarily
attributable to (i) repayment of bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB62.3 million; and (ii) payment for early redemption
of coupon notes of approximately RMB49.3 million and (iii) repayment
of a loan payable to a director of approximately RMB37.8 million,
and was partially offset by (i) new bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB76.9 million; and (ii) net proceeds from issue of
shares of approximately RMB31.3 million.

Capital Expenditures

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had capital
expenditures of approximately RMB3.5 million for additions to
property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Capital Commitments

The Group had no significant capital commitments as at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group underwent several reorganisations, including disposals
of the entire interests in Honglin International Limited and &()& T #
HERE R B R A 7 (Weihaishi Yubo Wire & Cable Technology Co.,
Ltd.*) during the year ended 31 December 2015 and the transfers
of several subsidiaries within the Group. The Group has conducted
filings of the reorganisations, if required, with the relevant tax
authorities. However, those reorganisations may be subject to
further investigations if initiated and requested by the relevant tax
authorities. The directors of the Company believe that the taxes
arising from those reorganisations have been properly dealt with
and provided for in the financial statements. Given the complexity
of relevant tax laws and regulations and the diversified practice
of respective tax authorities in the PRC, there exists a possibility
that tax authorities may levy and collect additional taxes for those
reorganisations.

Employees

As at 31 December 2019, the total number of employees of the Group
was 256 (31 December 2018: 245). The breakdown of employees of
the Group as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Manufacturing and technical engineering RUE K B ilg THE
Sales and marketing HERMIGHE
General and administration — M RIT
Research and development fiff 2%

Total st

Compensation policy of the Group is determined by evaluating
individual performance of the employees and has been reviewed
regularly.

*

The English name is for identification purpose only.
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INVESTMENTS IN LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES ETRAFSFRE

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded anet HE-_Z—hF+-_A=+—HILFE AEH
fair value loss on a held for trading listed securities investment of $(/SI5EE B L MESREMN AR BEESEFE
approximately RMB2.8 million, details as follows: MARK28B 8T FBEOT :

Movement during the year ended 31 December 2019
BE-E-AET-A=T-ALEEZ9E

Number of

shares held

and % of

total share
heldbythe ~ Percentage
Group tothe
Dividend asatdl Group's
income for Net loss December total assets
Carrying theyear  forthe year 2019 asat31
Carrying amount ended 31 ended 31 R December
amount asat31 December  December =E-AF 2019
asat December 2019 2019 t2R i
1 January 2019 Bz Bz =t-A  ZE-)f
2019 R ZB-nf ZB-NF RERR =
Name of investee R Unrealised Exchange —Z-NE +Z8 2R D) St
company ZE-hE loss realignment +28 =t-A Er=F A58 A58
REHS -A-H RER EX =t-A i3 LFE KERH BEAH
ARER HEE ER ik KR REKA FEE BEAM BAk
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TT ARETR ARMTr ARETR AR%Tr ARETz AR%Tr ARETR

6108 New Ray Medicine International 4,039 (2821) kil 1249 - (2.821) 25,080,000/ 0.1125%
Holding Ltd. 1.5000%
HHBREERERERAT

4,039 (2.821) 3 1,249 - (2.821)




INVESTMENTS IN LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES (continued)
Investee Company’s Principal Business, Performance and
Future

New Ray Medicine International Holding Ltd. (“New Ray”)

New Ray is an investment holding company principally engaged in
the trading of pharmaceutical products in China. New Ray operates
its business through four segments. The injection drugs segment is
engaged in the trading of injection drugs. The capsule and granule
drugs segment is engaged in the trading of capsule and granule
drugs. The tablet drugs segment is engaged in the trading of tablet
drugs. The others segment is engaged in the trading of miscellaneous
types of goods and drugs.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, revenue of New Ray
was approximately HK$118.6 million which has decreased by
approximately 68.2% when compared to that of approximately
HK$372.4 million for the corresponding period in 2018. A change
from a profit attributable to owners of New Ray of approximately
HK$33.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to a loss
attributable to owners of New Ray of approximately HK$44.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

New Ray was suspended trading on 6 October 2017 due to Securities
and Futures Commission has issued a direction under Section 8(1) of
the Securities and Futures (Stock Market Listing) Rules to suspend
trading in the shares of New Ray.

The Group recorded an unrealised fair value loss from its investment
in New Ray amounted to approximately RMB2.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019. The Group remained holding 25.08 million
shares of New Ray in its investment portfolio as at 31 December
2019. The Group’'s management appointed an external valuer to be
responsible for the valuation of shares of New Ray. The fair value
of shares of New Ray held by the Group was approximately RMB1.2
million as at 31 December 2019.

The Group will keep monitoring New Ray’'s operation status or any
update of resumption of trading of New Ray.
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INVESTMENTS IN NON-LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES
Investee Company’s Principal Business, Performance and
Future

China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* (“CCT")

CCT is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability which
together with its subsidiaries are principally engaged in research
and development, design, production and sales of computer software
and hardware, communication products, metal, semi-conductor
and provision of network information service. Its major businesses
include high-frequency satellite communication systems, military

communication and provision of related supporting services.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company entered into
a capital injection agreement to inject an amount of RMB400 million
to CCT (the “CCT Investment”). The CCT Investment was completed on
25 July 2018 and the Company was interested in approximately 3.91%
of the enlarged registered capital of CCT as at 31 December 2019.
The CCT Investment was booked as a financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive income of the Group. The fair value
of the CCT Investment was approximately RMB382.6 million which
accounted for approximately 34.5% of the Company’s total asset as at
31 December 2019.

Pursuant to the unaudited consolidated management account of
CCT for the year ended 31 December 2019, CCT recorded revenue
of approximately RMB7,828.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2019, representing a decrease of approximately 22.8%
as compared to approximately RMB10,145.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018, mainly as a result of the significant
decrease in revenue contributed from (i) satellite communication
products segment due to the trade war between the United States
of America and China; and (ii) military communications and ancillary
services segment due to restructuring of military related industries
in China. CCT recorded profit attributable to the owners of CCT of
approximately RMB408.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2019, representing a decrease of approximately 56.9% as compared
to approximately RMB948.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2018, mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue and a significant
increase in finance costs. As a result of the financial performance
of CCT for the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded a
fair value loss, netting of the income tax, amounted to approximately
RMB227.1 million in respect of the above unlisted equity investment

recognised in other comprehensive loss.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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INVESTMENTS IN NON-LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES
(continued)

Investee Company’s Principal Business, Performance and
Future (continued)

China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* (“CCT”) (continued)

In accordance with the business outlook of CCT management, CCT
plans to focus on spectrum, satellite and terahertz businesses
and enhance its leading position in satellite communication while
integrating with the “One Belt and One Road Initiative” of the PRC
to develop its global satellite communications products. In 2020,
CCT commercialises its satellite-cloud systems related services
with large state-owned enterprises and government authorities
in China. Having considered the above, the Group expects the CCT
Investment will contribute favourable return and capital appreciation
to the Group in the long run. Therefore, the CCT Investment has
been treated as a long-term investment of the Group. As of the date
of this report, the Group does not have any plan to realise the CCT
Investment or to make any further capital contribution to CCT.

REDEMPTION OF COUPON NOTES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, an aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$56.1 million of coupon notes was
early redeemed in January and February 2019. As at the date of this
report, there are no outstanding coupon notes.

*

The English name is for identification purpose only.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z— N EF 3§

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EHEE R

FLETRARFRE ()

REHRABATEEY  EHRRERKEKA
=(&)

EREABRERAA(ERFF) ()
BREEATAERENERRE

A

A

BOENSERE BERABZEBLREAREER
BEAENESMA - RSR[5

BRIBREHBEBREER - T _FTF #
AT AR ARIE A X RBARPIEE - #
HEEERAGHARRBAEL - KEE LMFA
A AEERHAEASTAREREREH/AE
SETRIEEBHNEARE - Bt FHSTH
BREWREAAEE -—HERHKRE -BEAESEH
B AEBARBEEMERERSARELE—F
MEH AT ERGE -

BEAMNERE

REBE-T-NF+-A=+—BILFE %%
REANSIBBELINMNEREER 2N
F-AR-ARTHEE - RARE RS BEX

EEFERIE -

: HXEBEHRZT

25



26

InvesTech Holdings Limited B s 1Z R B R 2 7

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES

On 20 December 2018, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with the Supreme China Securities Limited, pursuant to
which the Company appointed Supreme China Securities Limited
as its placing agent to procure not less than six placees who are
independent third parties to subscribe for up to 234,000,000 placing
shares at the placing price of HK$0.160 per placing share on a best
effort basis in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
placing agreement. The Company carried out the placing offers since
it offered a good opportunity to raise further capital for broaden the
shareholders base of the Company thereby increasing the liquidity
of the Shares as well as strengthening the financial position of the
Group.

The placing was completed on 11 January 2019. An aggregate
of 234,000,000 placing shares have been successfully placed to
not less than six placees. The net proceeds from the placing were
approximately HK$36.1 million. The net proceeds were used for the
general working capital of the Group.

Details of the placing have been set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 20 December 2018 and 11 January 2019,
respectively.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 March 2020, the Company as the subscriber and Elite Foster
International Investment Limited as the issuer entered into a
supplemental subscription agreement in relation to the extension
of the maturity date of an one-year 12% unlisted bond in principal
amount of HK$15 million issued by the issuer from 19 March 2020
to 19 March 2021 (the “Extension”). As one or more of the applicable
percentage ratios (as defined under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”)) in respect of the Extension is more than 5% but
less than 25%, the Extension constituted a disclosable transaction
of the Company. Details of the Extension have been set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 18 March 2020.

There was an outbreak of the Coronavirus around the world. As
the epidemic is fluid and rapidly evolving, the related impact on the
Group’s operations, cash flows and financial condition could not be
reasonably estimated at this stage.

Save as disclosed in this report, there is no material subsequent
event undertaken by the Company or by the Group after 31 December
2019 and up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (“Mr. Chan”), aged 60, is the chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the CEO of the Company.
Mr. Chan is also the chairman of the investment committee of the
Company (the “Investment Committee”). Mr. Chan is in charge of the
overall strategic planning, business planning and decision making in
all material matters of the Group. Mr. Chan was appointed as non-
executive Director on 23 December 2015 and was re-designated as
executive Director on 21 September 2016. Mr. Chan was appointed as
the chairman of the Board on 25 February 2016 and was appointed
as CEO of the Company on 21 September 2016.

Mr. Chan has obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Engineering
from The University of Hong Kong in November 1981. Mr. Chan is
currently a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference for Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the PRC. Mr. Chan has
over 32 years of experience in the IT and network industry. Mr. Chan
has previously worked for various multi-national corporations such
as General Electric Company, Case Communications Limited and Infa
Telecom Limited and served in senior executive positions in the Asia
Pacific region.

Mr. Chan also served as the sole director of Smoothly Global
Holdings Limited. He is currently the director of the following major
subsidiaries of the Company, namely Fortune Grace Management
Ltd., Wafer Systems Limited, Wafer Systems (China) Ltd., Beijing
Wafer New Century Information Technology Co., Ltd., Wafer Network
Systems (Shanghai) Co Ltd., Wafer (Xi'an) Software Co Ltd., and Wafer
Systems (Vietnam) Co., Ltd.
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Ms. Wang Fang (“Ms. Wang”), aged 52, is an executive Director and a
vice CEO of the Company. Ms. Wang was appointed as Director and a
vice CEO of the Company on 23 December 2015.

Ms. Wang graduated from Nanjing University of Posts and
Telecommunications (formerly known as Nanjing College of Posts
and Telecommunications) (Radio Engineering Section) in July 1988,
and obtained a degree of master of Business Administration from
the program jointly organised by the Beijing University and Fordham
University in May 2002.

Ms. Wang joined us in June 1995 and was promoted as the president
subsequently, wherein Ms. Wang was mainly responsible for daily
business operation, management and oversee of communication
system segment, including decision making in corporate strategy,
corporate policy review and internal control. Ms. Wang has over 23
years of experience in the area of network system integration.

Mr. Lu Chengye (“Mr. Lu”), aged 42, is an executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Lu is in charge of the overall strategic planning,
business planning and decision making in all material matters of
communication system segment of the Group. Mr. Lu was appointed
as Director on 29 May 2013.

Mr. Lu has over 19 years of experience in the communication industry
gained in the Group and in his previous employment. Before joining
the Group, Mr. Lu worked as a director of the science and research
department of base station software development in a renowned
mobile communication equipment company in the PRC from April
2002 to August 2008, mainly responsible for the design, development
and implementation of solution of communication base station
software. From August 2009 to May 2012, Mr. Lu had served as the
general manager of TD-SCDMA/TD-LTE production line of another
prestigious communication equipment and technology firm, mainly
in charge of the establishment and research and development works
for projects of wireless base station and communication base station
equipments. Mr. Lu obtained his master degree of engineering from
Xidian University (78 % & F £} # X 2) majoring in information
and communication engineering in March 2002. As an expert from
TD-LTE workgroup of the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the People’s Republic of China (R A R XA E T
2 501z B1{L#6), Mr. Lu is the inventor of 7 patented technologies in
the communication sector over the last 18 years, and has published
several research papers on communication topics in various journals.
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Mr. Ching Chau Wa (“Mr. Ching”), aged 40, is an executive director
of the Company. Mr. Ching joined the Company as the financial
controller since June 2016. Mr. Ching graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a bachelor degree of Arts in Accountancy
and a master degree of Corporate Governance in November 2003
and September 2019 respectively. Mr. Ching has been a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
since July 2009 and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants since June 2012. Mr. Ching has also been
an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known
as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) since
November 2019.

Mr. Ching has approximately 16 years of experience in financial
reporting and financial management of Hong Kong listed and
private companies. Mr. Ching had served as the senior accountant in
Shunfeng International Clean Energy Limited (stock code: 1165) from
June 2015 to June 2016. Mr. Ching is currently the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek ( £ {7#E) (“Mr. Wong"), aged 50, is a non-
executive director of the Company. Mr. Wong was appointed as
Director on 1 August 2019.

Mr. Wong was educated in Canada. Mr. Wong has approximately
24 years of experience in management and operation of textile and
knitting, food and beverages business. Mr. Wong was a co-founder
and an executive director of Fornton Group Limited (renamed as
Momentum Financials Holdings Limited, stock code: 1152, a company
whose shares are listed on the mainboard of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited) from October 2011 to June 2014.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund (“Mr. Wong”), aged 35, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
audit committee of the Company and a member of each of the
compensation and benefits committee and nomination committee of

the Company. Mr. Wong was appointed as Director on 5 June 2017.

Mr. Wong holds bachelor’'s degree in Accountancy, master degrees
in Master of Science in Applied Accounting and Finance, Master
of Business Administration and Master of Corporate Governance.
Mr. Wong is a fellow member of HKICPA and holds the practicing
certificate issued by HKICPA. He is also a member of The Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom, The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators).

Mr. Wong has over 12 years of experience in financial reporting,
taxation and audit and assurance of Hong Kong listed and private
companies. He had participated in various audit and assurance
engagements for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu before, and currently
is a practising director of Patrick Wong C.P.A. Limited. Mr. Wong is
an independent non-executive director of Confidence Intelligence
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1967, a company whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since 18 October
2019.
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Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen, aged 56, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of each of the C&B Committee and the
Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Investment Committee. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen was

appointed as Director on 25 June 2015.

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen graduated from the University of New South
Wales in Australia with a Degree of Master of Information Science in
October 1994.

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen served as a Manager, Design/Architecture
of IBM Australia Limited from May 1995 to April 2001. Mr. Lu, Brian
Yong Chen then served as a Client Unit Executive in the IBM Global
Technology Services Department of IBM China/Hong Kong Limited
from 2001 to 2012, and a partner of the Business Application
Consulting Sector of IBM (China) Company Limited from June 2012.
Mr. Lu is an independent non-executive director of Sprocomm
Intelligence Limited (stock code: 1401, a company whose share are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since 18 October
2019.

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen is a successful corporate executive with
excellent business strategy capability and well established business
connections in the Asia Pacific region. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen has
over 23 years of management experience in Fortune 100 companies
in Australia, Hong Kong and the PRC, assisting in enterprises with

their business transformation and growth.
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Mr. Huang Liangkuai (“Mr. Huang”), aged 77, is an independent
non-executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
the C&B Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Huang was
appointed as Director on 25 February 2016.

Mr. Huang graduated from the department of economics of Xiamen
University (Fujian, PRC) in August 1966 with major in statistics.

Mr. Huang has been the chief representative of the Shenzhen
Research Institute of Xiamen University (/& 9 K25 |4 5Th7) and
vice chairman of Xiamen University Alumni General Association since
August 1999. From November 1984 to December 1998, Mr. Huang
served as the chief of the general affairs division, chief of the assets
division and vice chairman of the alumni association at Xiamen
University. Mr. Huang was the secretary to the party committee of the
school of economics at Xiamen University from September 1979 to
October 1984.

Mr. Huang was a former external supervisor of Shengjing Bank Co.,
Ltd. (a company the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2066) from May 2014 to February
2018.

Mr. Huang was a former independent non-executive director of China
New Economy Fund Limited (a company the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 80) from
February 2015 to April 2016.

Mr. Huang acted as the chairman of Beijing Kaixuan Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (L RE\EIR EEHE BR A F]) from 6 February
2007 to 17 December 2010. This company was established in China
and had no substantial business operations upon its establishment
and its business license was revoked by the relevant authority on 17
December 2010 due to the failure to conduct annual inspection. Mr.
Huang confirmed that he was not involved in the actual operation of
the company and has not assumed any contingent liabilities nor has
he been subject to any relevant claims as a result of the revocation of
the business license of the aforesaid company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating the elements
of good corporate governance into the management structures and
internal control procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective
accountability to the Shareholders as a whole. The Board strives
to uphold good corporate governance and adopt sound corporate
governance practices continuously in the interest of Shareholders
to enhance the overall performance of the Group. The principles and
applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) contained in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules have been
adopted by and complied with the Group throughout the year except
for the following deviations.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Being aware of the said
deviation from code provision A.2.1, but in view of the current rapid
development of the Group, the Board believes that with the support
of the management, vesting the roles of both chairman and CEO by
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo can facilitate execution of the Group's
business strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation. In
addition, under the supervision by the Board which consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, the interests of the
Shareholders will be adequately and fairly represented. The Company
will seek to recomply with code provision A.2.1 by identifying and
appointing a suitable and qualified candidate to the position of the
CEOQ in future.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should
attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Some independent non-executive
Directors were not able to attend the annual general meeting held on
27 May 2019 due to their respective business engagements. Other
Board members who attend the aforesaid annual general meeting
was already of sufficient calibre and number for answering questions

raised by the Shareholders at the relevant general meeting.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. On specific enquiries made, all
Directors confirmed that they complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code regarding Directors’ securities transactions

during the year ended 31 December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2019 and the date of this report, the Board
comprised four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
three independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Board as at 31 December 2019 and the date of this report are as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO)
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO)

Mr. Lu Chengye

Mr. Ching Chau Wa (Appointed on 1 January 2019)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(with his former name of Wong Tat Wai, Derek)
(Appointed on 1 August 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Huang Liangkuai

The biographical details of all Directors are set out in pages 27 to
32 of this report. Save as disclosed herein, to the best knowledge of
the Company, there is no other financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among the members of the Board.

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The Board brings a variety of experiences and expertise to the
Company.
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Functions of the Board

The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee all major matters
of the Group, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, considering and approving overall development strategies,
financial objectives, annual budget, investment proposals, monitoring
and controlling the operation and financial performance, risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and to

assume the responsibilities of corporate governance of the Group.

Board meetings and Board practices

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board held 6 meetings,
among which, 4 meetings were regular Board meetings and passed
10 board written resolutions. The Directors can attend meetings
in person or through other means of electronic communication in
accordance with the Articles of Association. The company secretary
of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) will assist the chairman
of the Board to prepare the agenda of the meeting and all Directors
have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for the Board
meetings. Notices of at least 14 days for regular Board meetings
are given to the Directors and Board procedures in compliance
with the Articles of Association, as well as relevant rules and
regulations. The Directors are provided with relevant materials
relating to the matters brought before the meetings. All Directors
have separate and independent access to the senior management
and the Company Secretary at all time and will be able to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring the procedures
of the Board meetings are observed and providing the Board with
opinions on matters in relation to the compliance with the procedures
of the Board meetings. All minutes of Board meetings were recorded
in sufficient details of the matters considered by the Board and the
decisions reached.

During the year, a meeting of the Company Chairman and the
Independent Non-Executive Directors without the presence of
executives or other representatives of the Group was held to discuss
issues that they wish to raise at the Board.
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PEEBKS

(1)

(2)

Board Meetings

The numbers of the Board meetings held and the attendances
of each Director at the Board meetings for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been set out as follows:

No. of Board meetings held:
Name of the Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO)

Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO)
Mr. Ching Chau Wa

(Appointed on 1 January 2019)
Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(Appointed on 1 August 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
Mr. Huang Liangkuai

General Meeting

The number of general meeting held and the attendance of
each Director at the general meeting for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been set out as follows:

No. of general meeting held:

Name of the Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEQ)

Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO)
Mr. Ching Chau Wa

(Appointed on 1 January 2019)
Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(Appointed on 1 August 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
Mr. Huang Liangkuai

Note: Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek not yet appointed as non-executive
director as at 27 May 2019, the latest date of annual general

meeting.
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Directors’ appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years, all are subject to termination in accordance with
the provisions of the service contract or by either party giving the
other not less than three months’ prior written notice.

By virtue of article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Directors shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy of the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting
of Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
Annual General Meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for

re-election.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 84(1) of the Articles
of Association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have played a crucial role in
the Board by providing their independent judgment at the Board
meeting and scrutinising the Group's performance. Their views
carry significant weight in the Board's decision, in particular, they
bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the Group's strategy,
performance and control. All independent non-executive Directors
possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board. The independent non-executive Directors
provide independent advice on the Group's business strategy,
results and management so that all interests of the Shareholders
will be taken into account, and the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders can be protected.
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In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Board consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
representing not less than one-third of the Board, among the three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund,
possessing appropriate professional qualification in accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received the annual written confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on
such confirmations, considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund, Mr. Lu, Brian Yong
Chen and Mr. Huang Liangkuai, are independent and they all meet the
specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules.

Chairman and CEO

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Being aware of the said
deviation from code provision A.2.1, but in view of the current rapid
development of the Group, the Board believes that with the support
of the management, vesting the roles of both chairman and CEO by
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo can facilitate execution of the Group's
business strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation. In
addition, under the supervision by the Board which consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, the interests of the
Shareholders will be adequately and fairly represented. The Company
will seek to recomply with code provision A.2.1 by identifying and
appointing a suitable and qualified candidate to the position of the
CEQ in future.
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Delegation of powers

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, administration and
management of the Group’s businesses to the CEO, executive
Directors, senior management and certain specific responsibilities
to the Board committees of the Company. It is the job of the Board
to determine the objectives of the Company and it is the job of the
executives and senior management to decide the means by which
those objectives are best achieved within rules of conduct and limits
of risk that are set by the Board. When the Board delegates aspects
of its management and administration functions to members of
the management team, it gives clear directions as to the powers
of management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where the management team needs to report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company. The delegated functions
and work tasks are regularly reviewed.

Continuous professional development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in a programme of continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging and
funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company had arranged
to provide to all Directors with the “Guidelines for Directors” and the
“Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” issued by the Hong

Kong Institute of Directors.

The Company also updated the Directors and senior management
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. In particular, training sessions covering topics
including the CG Code and the disclosure of inside information had
been held during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary ofthe REZEFREMNLH  EFTREEZ_F—NLF
training received by the Directors for the year ended 31 December +—-—AZ=+—HIEFEMNEIERBMOT :
2019 is as follows:
Attending
training/
Reading briefing
Name of Directors materials sessions
HEENRR
Es=ng RMEMH LR
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO) R %558 50 & (£ # 447#) v v
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO) TrRLT(F#EH) v 4
Mr. Lu Chengye B LS v/ 4
Mr. Ching Chau Wa BRELE
(Appointed on 1 January 2019) (RZF-NF—HA—HEZM) v/ v/
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek TrfEEE
(Appointed on 1 August 2019) (RZE-NFNA-BEZMT) 4 v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund EEELE v v
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen Bk BRI v v
Mr. Huang Liangkuai BERREE 4 v/
Liability insurance for directors EEEERE
The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient insurance ZARFICEBE-_ZEZ—HAF=-"A=-1+—HEBEES
coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions taken RHEERE  UEBEEEEH X THHHESY
against Directors arising out of corporate activities since 31 March B EHfIEEAEFANE T -
2015.
BOARD COMMITTEES EEREE

The Board has established (i) the Audit Committee; (ii) the C&B
Committee; and (iii) the Nomination Committee, with defined terms of
reference. The latest versions of the terms of reference of the Board
committees which explain their respective role and the authority
delegated to them by the Board are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice
and other assistance in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses.

EESEKLNBZZEL (W FHEREMNEE
g Rii)VRBEES VERATEBREHRE
%%éEAEﬁﬁ$m%F”l7F%§%&$
NERUER  EPHARSESENBREEE
FERENER EETZESRRHIHANER
BITEEMT RREABEXRBAEEEBITSE
BT EEE R REMIRE  BRABHARARZ



Audit Committee

Composition

The Company established the Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of Directors passed on 25 October 2010 in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee has set
up the written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March
2012 first and further revised on 26 November 2015 and 1 January
2019. The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to
make recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal
of external auditors, review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting at least at half-year intervals,
and oversee the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company constantly. The Audit Committee currently consists of
three members, namely, Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund, Mr. Lu, Brian
Yong Chen and Mr. Huang Liangkuai, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund currently
serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
has adopted the terms of reference which are in line with the
applicable code provisions in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2019, the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019 and this report.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee held 2
meetings to make recommendation on the re-appointment of external
auditors, review financial statements, financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems of the Company. And the
attendances of each Audit Committee member for the Year have been

set out as follows:
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No. of Audit Committee meetings held: EEHEXRZEEEEBRNE: 2
Name of the Audit Committee members EREEERENRSR

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund HEE LA 2/2
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen =KERE A 2/2
Mr. Huang Liangkuai BERIREA 2/2
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C&B Committee

Composition

The Company established the C&B Committee pursuant to a
resolution of Directors passed on 25 October 2010 in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. The C&B Committee has set up
with written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March 2012.
The primary duties of the C&B Committee are to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Company. The compensation and remuneration of all Directors and
senior management of the Company are subject to regular review by
the C&B Committee to ensure that the levels of their compensation
and remuneration are appropriate and none of the Directors
determine their own remuneration. The C&B Committee currently
consists of four members, namely, Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen, Mr. Wong
Chun Sek, Edmund, Mr. Huang Liangkuai (all are independent non-
executive Directors) and Mr. Ching Chau Wa (an executive Director).
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen currently serves as the chairman of the C&B
Committee. Mr. Wu Chi Luen resigned as a member on 1 January
2019 and Mr. Ching Chau Wa was appointed as a member on 1
January 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the C&B Committee held 2
meetings to review and make recommendation on the remuneration
policy and structure relating to Directors and senior management of
the Company. And the attendances of each C&B Committee member

for the Year have been set out as follows:
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No. of C&B Committee meetings held: EEHFHREANZEESSHRE: 2
Name of C&B Committee members FHERANZESEREHAR
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen =K BR A 2/2
Mr. Ching Chau Wa FEREL A

(Appointed on 1 January 2019) (RZE—NF—H—BEZE) 2/2
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund EHEBLE 2/2
Mr. Huang Liangkuai HERREE 2/2



Remuneration policy for Directors and senior management
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is determined
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the C&B
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance, experience, responsibility, workload and time
devoted to the Company and comparable market statistics. Each of
the executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary which is reviewed
annually. In addition, each of the executive Directors may receive a
discretionary bonus as the Board may recommend. Such amount has
to be approved by the C&B Committee.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme on 25 October
2010. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to selected eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high caliber employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any
invested entity.

Nomination Committee

Composition

The Company established a nominating and corporate governance
committee pursuant to a resolution of Directors passed on 25
October 2010 (which was renamed as Nomination Committee on
22 March 2012). The Nomination Committee has set up the written
terms of reference which was revised on 22 March 2012, revised
on 28 August 2013 and 1 January 2019. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis and to recommend to
the Board the suitable candidates for Directors after consideration of
the nominees’ independence and quality in order to ensure fairness
and transparency of all nominations. The Nomination Committee
currently consists of three members, namely Mr. Lu, Brian Yong
Chen, Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund and Mr. Huang Liangkuai (all
are independent non-executive Directors). Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Nomination Committee adopted the board diversity policy in
August 2013. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy, selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of
the Board, the Nomination Committee would follow the nomination
policy and consider factors including:

(a) Reputation;

(b)  Skills, knowledge, experience, cultural and educational
background, gender, age and other qualities required, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board;

(c) The extent to which the proposed candidate is likely to
contribute to the overall effectiveness of the Board and work
constructively with the existing Directors;

(d) The skills and experience that the proposed candidate brings
to the role and how he/she will enhance the efficiency and
performance of the Board as a whole;

(e) The nature of existing positions served by the proposed
candidate including directorships or other relationship with the
Company and/or its Directors and impact they may have on his/
her ability to exercise independent judgment; and

(f) Factors which may affect the proposed candidate's time
commitment to the Company.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to

nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination Committee
held 2 meetings to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board. And the attendances of each Nomination Committee member
for the Year have been set out as follows:
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No. of Nomination Committee meetings held: EEAHERZEEEERNRE: 2
Name of the Nomination Committee members REZEEREHS

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen = KBRS A 2/2
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund =EBELE 2/2
Mr. Huang Liangkuai \mRIREE 2/2
Corporate governance functions EERBAE

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out by
the Board pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted
by the Board in compliance with code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code,
which include (a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations
to the Board; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management
of the Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d)
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the
Directors; and (e) to review the Company’s compliance with the
applicable CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for
the preparation of the Group’s financial statements for each financial
year which shall give a true and fair view of the financial position,
performance and cash flows of the Group for that year. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable
and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The Board is not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as

a going concern.

SEFReREEFER/TALEE AT TR
XEDINGEMERMNEMBELERETARA
MEEERBE  BRE@VEREHARFN
CEERBRIES YHEFSRHERER
)R REREERAKESREEE/F
REFBHEEER (O RERARANEE R
EBHRERNEAREREERTE  (dFHIE BTk
EREARNASEREREENTRTIRER
Fit (@A) R AR REETER
EEEARTAREEEAREFIFHARKE -

M 28
EEgaUBHMNI I TEEREASEHEHE
MREENMBRE  ZEVERREERAIE
HMRBASEERZFENTBENRR ZRBERES
ME HFEEE_ZT-NFT_A=T—HLF
ENMBHERN EEeBIUERSH BRI
ERER WEE  AnmEEMIED B R
o ARERBECEAERUVBEHRE EFFH
EREH—VEEMUENTR  REAEED
BE VAR LEREERFREMERER &
E U TABEMEBFI RS RSB FERE
BEKZNENERERNRMNSHRBERNT
fAIEARTABRRAEZE -



46

InvesTech Holdings Limited B s 1Z R B R 2 7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FEREBKRS

The responsibilities of the Company’'s external auditors, Ernst &
Young, on the financial statements are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditors’ Report” in this report.

External auditors’ remuneration
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the fees paid or payable
to the Company’s external auditors in respect of their audit and

non-audit services were as follows:

Type of Services PR %5 28 5l
Non-audit services IERZ RS
Audit services ZER TS
Total 4AEt
COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Po Yuen (“Mr. Cheng”) nominated by ComSec Team Limited
(“ComSec Team”) to assume such office and ComSec Team has been
providing certain corporate secretarial services to the Company
pursuant to an engagement letter entered into between the Company
and ComSec Team.

Mr. Cheng is a director of ComSec Team Limited. Mr. Cheng holds a
Bachelor of Business Administration degree, majoring in accounting.
Mr. Cheng is a practicing accountant in Hong Kong and is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr.
Cheng is also a member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Cheng has over 20 years of
experience in auditing, accounting, company secretarial and finance.
He joined the Company in October 2017 and resigned as the company

secretary of the Company with effect from 1 October 2019

AR B H)SNE X BRET 2K & 5t B E A5 P B 7
RZBEFHRARE BLAZBENRE | £ -

SMEEA B AT BN =
HE_ZT-NFTA=T—HIEEFE  BEH
FIFZBRE C B AR B IMNEZEENH B
R

RMB’000
AR®TR

685
1,600

2,285

NAME

EiR 7T 55 4 ([EB 55 4 1) B3 ComSec Team Limited
([ ComSec Team |) 12 & #& £ 52 8 iz - M ComSec
Team — E IR & 7N 2 5] B4 ComSec Team 7] M M &
FERRARRREE FTEEWERS

# % 4 5 ComSec Team Limited 2 & 5 » 556 A&
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The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial
services provider, Link Corporate Services Limited (“Link”), to provide
compliance and full range of company secretarial services to the
Company in order to assist the Company to cope with the changing
regulatory environment and to suit different commercial needs. Mr.
Fung Siu Kei (“Mr. Fung”), the representative of Link, was appointed
as the named company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”) with effect from 1 October 2019.

Mr Fung has over ten years of professional experience in public
accounting and auditing, and had previously served in international
audit firm and acted as company secretary for a Hong Kong listed
company. Mr. Fung is a practicing member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accounts. Mr. Fung obtained a degree of bachelor of
business administration in accountancy from the City University of
Hong Kong in 2007.

The Financial Controller of the Company is the primary point of
contact at the Company for the Company Secretary.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board has access
to the advice and services of Mr. Fung at all time in accordance
with Code Provision F.1.4 of Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Listing Rules”). Mr. Fung has taken no less than 15 hours of
professional training during the Year under review pursuant to the
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In accordance with the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a
general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to
a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of
hands. Therefore, all votes of the Shareholders at general meetings
shall be taken by poll. The results of voting by poll will be published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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How Shareholders can convene an extraordinary general
meeting and put forward proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary by mail at Room 1201, 12/F, C C Wu Building, 302-308
Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may put forward their proposals or inquiries to
the Board by sending their written request to the Company’s
correspondence address in Hong Kong.

INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2019, there has been no

significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with Shareholders and investors
of the Company. The Board also recognises that effective
communication with investors is the key to establish investor
confidence and to attract new investors. Therefore, the Group is
committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure
that the investors and the Shareholders receiving accurate, clear,
comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the publication
of annual reports, interim reports, announcements and circulars.
The Company also publishes all corporate correspondence on the
Company’s website at http://www.investech-holdings.com. The Board
continues to maintain regular dialogues with institutional investors
and analysts from time to time to keep them informed of the Group's
strategy, operations, management and plans. The Directors and the
members of the Board committees would attend and are available
to answer questions at general meetings of the Company. Separate
resolutions would be proposed at general meetings of the Company

on each substantially separate issue.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the Year, the Board complied with the code provisions on
risk management and internal control as set out in the CG Code.
The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not

absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The procedures and feature of the Group’s risk management and

internal control systems are as follows:

For risk management

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.
Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual

risks.

For internal control

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed.

Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to
the achievement of objectives are carried out.

Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and

functioning.

The management of the Company has established a set of

comprehensive policies, standards and procedures in areas of

operational, financial and risk controls for safeguarding assets

against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper

accounting records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial

information to achieve a satisfactory level of assurance against the

likelihood of the occurrence of fraud and errors.
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The Board has overseen the Company’'s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. A year end review
of the effectiveness of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ risk
management and internal control systems has been conducted
annually and the systems are considered to be effective and
adequate. The Company also has an internal audit function to carry
out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the systems, and has procedures in place to keep
information confidential and manage actual or potential conflicts of
interest. Stringent internal structures have been designed to prevent
the misuse of inside information and avoid conflicts of interest.

The Group has established systems and procedures for disseminating
inside information as defined under the SFO so as to ensure inside
information is promptly identified and escalated. Directors and
management of the Group received relevant trainings to ensure
inside information remains confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such
information is efficiently and consistently made.
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INTRODUCTION

This following disclosure complies with the guidance of
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Reporting Guide as set
out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and aims at disclosing to investors the contributions
made by the Group in the aspects of environmental and community

activities for the Year.

The Group engages in network communication businesses and sales
of mobile office automation software to corporate clients. It has
offices in a few provinces within Mainland China and Hong Kong.
In the Year, the Group continued to be an eco-friendly corporation
and tried its best to minimize the harm (if any) it would cause to the
environment. Through the Group's efforts in guiding staff to adopt
green office habits, its green procurement policy, and its eco-friendly
technological innovations, the Group endeavors to cultivate a green
living environment for its staff and the community where it has

operations.

The Group's staff is the cornerstone to its success. To offer them
ample development opportunities, sponsorships are available to
those who participated in job related professional trainings and
development courses. The Group ensured the competitiveness of its
staff remuneration packages by conducting regular reviews. A safe
and healthy working environment is also provided to the Group's
staff. As much as it cares about its staff, the Group extended this care
to the communities it has operations in within Mainland China during
the Year.

In the following, the Group would like to share with you its ESG

achievements in the “Environmental” and “Social” sections.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

In the Year, the Group maintained its stance as an environmentally
responsible corporate. Well aware of the importance of sustainable
development, the Group's staff pursue waste reduction and energy
saving practices in their daily operations by following the eco-friendly
policy of the Group and with the aid of the energy saving technologies
developed by the Group.

1. Energy saving at the Group’s offices

The Group’s energy saving measures at its offices includes the

following:

. Electricity-saving light bulbs were used at the Group
offices.

. Lights and air conditioners would be turned off or would

be set to the energy-saving mode when they are not in
use.

. Lighting devices and light bulbs would be kept clean to
attain highest illumination efficiency.

. To reduce the amount of paper used, most of the network
printers are pre-set to print on both sides of a paper.
Envelopes and loose minute jackets would be re-used,
and any expired paper pad’s back would be used for
drafting or printing.

Electricity consumption in total and intensity

Aspects 2.1 HE 2.1

kWh
kWh/office

Electricity usage
Electricity usage intensity

HE
HE
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=
w

Water consumption in total and intensity
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TR 142.75 109.85
TEE/PBAE 23.79 16.80
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Aspects 2.2 EE2.2
Water consumption FEKE cu.m
Water consumption intensity /K% E cu.m/office

MK
AR/ BRE

28.83
4.81
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

2.

Energy saving technologies
The Group prides itself as an energy saving technologies
provider and had enjoyed the benefits of these technologies

together with its customer over the years.

The Group’s “Smart Energy Management System” provides an
energy saving platform for both the Group and its customers.
The system facilitates detection of any idle office equipment
and will automatically switch off the relevant equipment. This
technology helps to save energy while at the same time extends
the life span of the relevant equipment.

Another technology developed by the Group, the “Building
Management System”, can collaborate with the “Smart
Energy Management System” to achieve energy saving. By
interconnecting the two systems, a corporate can plan and
control office lighting and air-conditioning and provide energy
and electricity consumption and carbon emission information
by department, staff, time period and equipment. The analysis
can help corporates to develop their energy saving strategy and

achieve proactive energy management.

The work station booking system as part of the Group's
“Smart Office” solution allows corporates to optimize usage of
available furniture and equipment at their offices. This helps
corporates to avoid over ordering unnecessary equipment and

lower resources wastage.

To the best of the Group’s knowledge, the Group noted no non-
compliances regarding environmental laws and regulations in

the Year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued) RIE (5)

3. Emissions 3. B
Due to the nature of the Group's business, the Group's HENAEEMERKEED  AEENEER
operations caused only minimal greenhouse gas (GHG) HIRBH R EEEREEW -AREE -
emissions to the environment. Its operations produced nil KM E BV EREEEEY AEEE
hazardous wastes for the Year. The Group neither used any SFEATMABRIEARASIAEAR - Bt
liquified petroleum gas or other gases and thus does not have RAFEANLERBRERBEEMATE
relevant GHG emissions to report for the Year. WE o
The following presents GHG emissions in other areas: UTE2FH MR EEE R = R
GHG emissions from vehicles: HEHHHEERE -

Aspects 1.1

Nitrogen oxides RELEY gram 52 2,539.80 1,054.90

Sulphur oxides mEiD gram g 52.92 39.69

Respiratory suspended particles 7] Ik A S5 Z ¥ F gram 7% 187.00 77.67
GHG emissions from mobile combustion sources: BB R IR B ERAE -

Aspects 1.2

Scope 1 #E1

Carbon dioxide — & bk kg AT 8,496.00 6,372.00

Methane i kg AT 0.91 14.35

Nitrous oxide —4t=R kg AT 3.98 924.89
Indirect GHG emission from electricity consumption: RIS EH N EE R

Aspects 1.2

Scope 2 #ilE2
Indirect GHG Emissions: C02 B R =R kg 2T 112,774.90 86,780.71
HER: — &bk
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued) RIE (5)
3. Emissions (continued) 3. HEm(@)
Indirect GHG emission from business travelling: REENEEHR B EREE -

Aspects 1.2 #iE1.2

Scope 3 i3
Indirect GHG Emissions: CO2 BEAERE kg AT 27,192.60 9,304.50
BERL - — &bk

Non-hazardous wastes produced: EEWHBEZEY

Aspects 1.4 EE1.4

Non-hazardous waste disposal ~ 3FB EEE YRR IE Tonnes M 1.01 0.95
Non-hazardous waste intensity ~ 3FE ERENHE Tonnes/office 0.17 0.19
W,/ WAE
SOCIAL o
1. Employment and Labour standards 1. EERZEIEE
As the Group values its human resources as its greatest asset, HRAEERANERE BEHKEE -
the Group continues to nurture its staff and provide them with AEBEEEEETIV AR AEHE -

ample opportunities.

The Group prides itself as an equal opportunity employer REBNFATFERSEEIMAER AR
and its staff had always enjoyed equal opportunities working EERNIINETI —EBHIUKZETFEH#E -
with the Group. Discrimination based on sex, age, race or REBPRAZENBTIAAMR - Tt &
religion is intolerable at the Group’s offices. In the Year, similar R REER - —BEBE - AEER
to past years, the Group received no internal nor external AEEVTEZEEBETIFERERSHAI
complaints regarding equal opportunities employment and SHNESARFR - TOR B (A AL M BB AR 1
have zero non-compliances concerning regulations such as By ~ IR AR 5B K (R BE i B AR 16
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination B TEHREBIE - AEBEH A FERL
Ordinance and Family Status Discrimination Ordinance. The TRRPREEITNEANRRIE HE NERER

Group's zero-tolerance attitude towards unfair discrimination
applies across its recruitment, appraisals and counselling
procedures.
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SOCIAL (continued)

1.

Employment and Labour standards (continued)

Apart from annual performance appraisal, the Group also
practises monthly and quarterly appraisals in a year to review
staff's performance. The Group’'s management consider the
appraisal process to be a chance to communicate with staff and
understand their concerns and needs, while at the same time to
evaluate their achievement of the targets set by themselves and
the Group’s management. Outstanding staff would be rewarded
with internal promotions and salary increment. The appraisal
process also assists in organising training programmes for

staff based on their strengths and weaknesses.

Internal or external fraudulent behaviours are strictly
prohibited. The Group’'s stringent recruitment procedure
prevents child labour or forced labour. The Group’s staff
handbook sets out strict professional ethics and personal
gualities for staff to abide to.

In the Year, the Group had not noted any cases of non-
compliance in relation to laws and regulation about

employment and labour standards.

RIE - BIREIGRS
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SOCIAL (continued) #HEgwWw

2. Staff Composition 2. BETHAE
As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed a total of 256 RZZE-NF+ZA=+—HB AEEEL
staff. They include both employees working in Mainland China, HEA2WM6ZET HFRBEFREAM - &
Hong Kong and Vietnam. BRBEMNET -
The below illustrates the staff composition of the Group’s TEZVWAEEXENE TFRDM - 26%
business: 26% of the Group’s staff is in the age between 21 and WETFRNT215E305% 51%MWE T
30, while 51% is between 31 and 40, and 21% between 41 and FWRNTINRELOR - M21%HE TFIR
50. The relatively even age distribution reflects the Group's BN F 41572 505% Y FHMFR DM
stance of anti- discrimination based on age. R & B 5 F R IR IS5 o

M 21-30 [ 31-40

—t-HE=t =t HERTR

Bl

41-50 51-60
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3.

Occupational Health and Safety
The Group is committed to protect its staff's occupational health
and provide them an enjoyable and safe working environment.

To encourage its staff to take care of their physical well-being,
for managerial grade or above staff, the Group subsidizes them
to join gymnastic activities and provides them with medical
insurances and annual body checking services.

For recreational events, the Group’s management is happy
to see that its staff had greatly enjoyed the events the Group
organized. These include annual outings, birthday parties and
other forms of staff gathering.

In the Year, the Group had not noted any cases of non-
compliance in relation to laws and regulation about
occupational health and safety.

Training and Development

Trainings related to the Group’s product and technical trainings
relevant to the industry to enhance staff's career development
were provided in the Year. Topics of the trainings include web
and software development skills, sales technique, project
management, and customer service.

For positions relevant to sales, marketing or customer service,
to better equip new recruits with the essential skills and
knowledge for their duties, the Group provides trainings to the
new recruits during their probation period and will require
them to prepare a presentation for their direct supervisors and
department heads towards the end of their probation period.
This ensures new recruits will be well prepared for their jobs
after they become permanent staff.
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SOCIAL (continued)

5.

Supply Chain Management

In the Year, the Group maintained a just, transparent and
competitive bidding system for the procurement of both
goods and services. During the selection of suppliers or
contractors, the Group’s policy ensures the selection factors
are fair and would serve the interest of the Group. Such factors
include price, specification and quality of the product, service
quality and product support, and social and environmental
contributions of the supplier. The Group does not engage
suppliers with questionable social or environmental conducts.

The Group ensures impartiality of the procurement process by
involving the participation of personnel from different functions
and seniority: the responsible purchasing staff, the purchasing
manager, the business director and the financial controller.
This ensures proper review and authorisation and segregation
of duties over the Group's suppliers selection process.

Service Responsibility

To uphold the service standards as stated in the Group’'s
service management policy, the Group assigns customer
service executives to each of its operating region to care for
its customers. The executives are responsible for after-sales
services and product support.

The Group likes its customers to be able to fully utilize
and enjoy its products. As such, responsibilities, working
procedures, required training, and servicing standards are well
defined for its engineers and customer service executives.

In the service management policy, service level escalation
matrix depending on the technicality of each case is set. This
is for ensuring the appropriate personnel with the required
expertise would always attend customer enquiries and resolve
the case according to the Group’s service standard and up to
the customer’s satisfaction.
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SOCIAL (continued)

6.

Service Responsibility (continued)
A feedback approach is also adopted to check on customer’s
satisfaction. After resolution of each case, the customer service

executive is required to perform client satisfaction survey.

Quarterly statistics and analysis of overall customer
satisfaction level would be compiled for the management to
reflect on areas that require further improvement.

Anti-Corruption

For the prevention of corruption and fraud, the Group has set
up the compliance manual and implemented the reporting
mechanism to provide its staff with guidance to deal with
potential fraud. Staff are encouraged to report business
practices that are suspected of violating laws or regulations
and, to this end, a secured and independent reporting channel
is specifically set up.

In the Year, the management of the Group did not find any
cases of bribery or fraud. Through the established code of
conduct, compliance manual and reporting mechanism, as well
as the controlled environment developed by staff throughout
the years, the Group believes that the risk of the occurrence
of fraudulent behaviour has been minimized. The Group will
continue to monitor the related risks so as to maximize the

values for its shareholders and stakeholders.

Helping the community

The Group takes pride in being an innovative high-tech
enterprise. To contribute to the information technology
industry by helping industry peers, the Group joined 1t 7 7 8
2 FT R T 1 2 1 2 to assist in administration and review
works for the association. The association provides services
including certification services for small to medium high-tech
enterprises, software copyright registration, dispute mediation
among industry peers, and financing services.
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FUTURE APPROACH TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

Reflecting on the ESG achievements by the Group for the Year, we are
looking forward to the following in the future:

. Encourage our staff to join more community activities, raise the
civil awareness of all staff within the Group and offer help to
those in need in the society.

. Provide our staff with a larger variety of training and improve

the all-rounded development of our staff.

. Utilize our expertise and develop more energy saving eco-

friendly technologies.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to submit herewith this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong
is Room 1201, 12/F, C C Wu Building, 302-308 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group was mainly
engaged in the provision of network system integration including
provision of network infrastructure solutions, network professional
services and mobile internet software of mobile office automation
software business, the network equipment rental business, the
trading of telecommunications equipment and money lending
business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the
sections of Financial Summary, Chairman’s Statement, Management
Discussion and Analysis, Environmental, Social and Governance
Report and the paragraphs below.

The Group complies with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the SFO for the disclosure of
information and corporate governance. The Group also complies with
the requirements of Employment Ordinance and ordinances relating
to occupational safety for the interest of employees of the Group. No
important event affecting the Group has occurred since the end of the
financial year under review up to the date of this report.

KEY RISK FACTORS
The following lists out the key risks and uncertainties facing the
Group.

Impact of Local and International Regulations

The business operation of the Group is subject to government
policies, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with applicable rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension of
the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely monitors
changes in government policies, regulations and markets as well as
conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes.

EE8%E

EEMARZAEFHRIBE_FT-—NF+ A
=+t BLEFENKESZSEUBERE -

ERATELEXEME
AAREHSEEFMAIAER AT £R%
ERNTEEEMBMNRE B ETEHES
302-308 SR &AL 12181201 = ©

Fﬁ%%

FEXEH
BE-F-AF+-AZt—ALEE AEE
EEE'T)’\‘E%TE{/\IHzgg/ML%éA @?ETEf/\:nZ%ﬁﬁM

RARR T R n%@%m%&%ﬂﬁaﬁmm
BOIB@EIRD B2 ERARS
BERME R HE T -
EHEE
AEENFEEBEERINMBHE  ERE

& - ﬁqf@ﬂamﬂ& AT IRIE g MERARE
CARER AT -

AEBEBET ARG - EWARRNRES KR K
PIBERERBBERERERNER - SAKER
BEmRERZER  AEEMETREBGEILEHER
ERE2GRPINENR - EEBEFRFEREERR
TEH TEZRLFEARENERSE F-

FTERRREE

AT AEEmE N EERR R THAREE -
i BB R E N E
AEBHEHREIBATBER - EEBPIHIRTH
*E?ﬁxf%ﬁ&%a%lﬁﬁwa 11 7R B 38 <7 8 A A A5 A
EBPl a8 ERELRE ERAERER
rg - AEETYERBNEE ERLT5E
B UARHZEEHNTEETHR

63



64

InvesTech Holdings Limited B s 1Z R B R 2 7

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEBHRE

KEY RISK FACTORS (continued)

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in
parts of business to improve performance and efficiency of the
Group. While gaining the benefits from external service providers,
management realises that such operational dependency may
pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in
service including reputation damage, business disruption and
monetary losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group only
engages reputable third party providers and closely monitors their

performance.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the accomplishment of the employees by
providing comprehensive benefit package, career development
opportunities and internal training appropriate to individual needs.
The Group provides a healthy and safe workplace for all employees.
No strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents are found

in the year under review.

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to
meet our customers’ needs in an effective and efficient manner.
Each department works closely to make sure the tendering
and procurement process is conducted in an open, fair and just
manner. The Group’s requirements and standards are also well-
communicated to suppliers before the commencement of a project.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through
various means and channels, including usage of business intelligence
to understand customer trends and needs and regular analysis on
customer feedback. The Group also conducts comprehensive tests
and checks to ensure that only quality products and services are

offered to the customers.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to the

financial statements.
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DIVIDEND

The Directors consider that the declaration, payment and amount
of the dividend shall be subject to the status of the Group’s future
development. The Board does not recommend any final dividend for
the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of
dividends to Shareholders after considering the Company’s ability to
pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things, its actual
and expected financial performance, its current and future business
operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements, contractual and
regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board has complete discretion
on whether to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval,
where applicable. Even if the Board decides to recommend and
pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon
its actual financial performance, its current and future business
operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements, contractual and
regulatory restrictions of and affecting the Group. The Board may
also consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in
addition to the interim and/or final dividends. The Company would
review and reassess the dividend policy and its effectiveness on a

regular basis or as required.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to
approximately RMB568.5 million as at 31 December 2019. Such
amount includes the Company’'s share premium and capital reserve
accounts of approximately RMB731.7 million and accumulated losses
of approximately RMB163.2 million in aggregate as at 31 December
2019.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The transfer books and register of members of the Company is
expected to be closed from 25 May 2020 (Monday) to 29 May 2020
(Friday) (both dates inclusive) during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. The holders of shares whose name
appears on the register of members of the Company on 29 May 2020
(Friday) will be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting of the Company (the “Annual General Meeting”). In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting, all
transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 22
May 2020 (Friday).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein, no contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or
existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group's top five largest customers comprised
approximately 34.1% (2018: 25.1%) of the Group's sales and the sales
attributable to the Group's largest customer were approximately
14.9% of the Group’s sales. The aggregate purchases attributable
to the Group’s top five largest suppliers comprised approximately
62.7% (2018: 61.6%) of the Group's purchases for the year and
the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier were
approximately 35.6% of the Group’s purchases for the year.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders owning more than 5% of the
Company’s issued shares capital had any interest in the share capital
of any of the top five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 91.

OPERATING RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 88 of this
report.

The Group's loss attributable to owners of the parent for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was approximately RMB21.1 million.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 32 to the

financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 and

up to the date of this report include:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEQ)
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO)

Mr. Lu Chengye

Mr. Ching Chau Wa (Appointed on 1 January 2019)
Mr. Wu Chi Luen (Resigned on 1 January 2019)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek (Appointed on 1 August 2019)
(with his former name of Wong Tat Wai, Derek)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Huang Liangkuai

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS (continued)
Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wong Tsu
Wai, Derek shall retire and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-

election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Pursuant to article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. Mr. Chan Sek Keung,
Ringo (executive Director), Mr. Lu Chengye (executive Director) and
Mr. Lu, Brain Yong Chen (independent non-executive director) will
retire by rotation at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting and
be eligible to offer themselves for reelection at the Annual General
Meeting.

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo and Mr. Lu Chengye (executive Director)
(both are executive Directors), Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek (non-
executive Director) and Mr. Lu, Brain Yong Chen (independent non-
executive Director) will offer themselves for re-election at the Annual
General Meeting.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The C&B Committee considers and recommends to the Board
the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the
Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular
monitoring by the C&B Committee to ensure that the levels of their
remuneration and compensation are appropriate. Details of Directors’
remuneration are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 27 to 32 of
this report.
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DISCLOSURE OF CHANGE IN INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change of
information on Directors is as follows:

(1) Mr. Wu Chi Luen resigned as an executive Director, a member
of each of the Compensation and Benefits Committee and
the Investment Committee of the Company with effect from 1
January 2019.

(2)  Mr. Ching Chau Wa has been appointed as an executive Director,
a member of each of the Compensation and Benefits Committee
and the Investment Committee of the Company with effect from
1 January 2019.

(3) Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek has been appointed as an non-

executive Director with effect from 1 August 2019.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director and a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as follows:

Interest in Shares and underlying shares of the Company

EERBETHRAESRKRG - HERSG
REERNESRRKXR

R-ZE-NF+_A=+—8 BFREAQAK
BITBABRARBSEMEBEER (EER
&5 R HIERAIFEXVED) Bt - AR RER
EPREBEREES RN EHRIIEXVEET &8
DEAMGARB LB ANERIORE (B
REZZEZIMEGINZREREFLERE
ERRBEIAR)  HACTHERNREESFLHAE
PIFE352EREFEZELMNERIXR -
SRBELEMBETAEFTETESFRHHIFRLETA
(MEZEST A ]) ZB AN & AN A Ko B 22 P B0 2 3100
BT

RARRADRAREKRD T ER

Percentage of

Number of Number of the issued
issued ordinary underlying shares share capital
Shares held/ of the Company of the Company
interested in held/interested in (approximate)
e/ REER FRE/ HEkR PN
Name of Director Capacity ZBRT P& N BERITRE
EEpE E27) EEREE HRRGHE B (84)
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Interest of controlled 330,082,839 (L) - 23.51%
Ringo (“Mr. Chan”)"® corporation
BRihae 4 (B £ REEE R
Beneficial owner 74,267,000 (L) - 5.28%
ERBAA
Beneficial owner - 720,000 (L) 0.05%
ERBBA
Ms. Wang Fang Interest of controlled 310,118,839 (L) - 22.08%
(“Ms. Wang")@® corporation
Frmt((Fxt))ww REEE R
Beneficial owner - 7,200,000 (L) 0.51%
ERBEBA
(L) : Long position L) :tFE
Notes: Htat -

(1) Mr. Chan was deemed to be interested in 330,082,839 Shares,
comprising of (i) 310,118,839 Shares held by Smoothly Global Holdings
Limited by virtue of it being owned as to 70% by Mr. Chan and (ii)
19,964,000 Shares held by Woodstock Management Limited by virtue of
it being owned as to 100% by Mr. Chan.

(1) ERABR 4L 4 # B Smoothly Global Holdings Limited
2 70% % = [2 Woodstock Management Limited
2 100% # %5 - AR 5 A #5458 72 330,082,839
W B 19 R #E B 2% - 2 E (i) Smoothly Global
Holdings Limited FT #5 & #9 310,118,839 & iX {5
% (ii) Woodstock Management Limited F7 5 & &)
19,964,000 FRAZ 1D °



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Interest in Shares and underlying shares of the Company
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(2)  Ms. Wang was deemed to be interested in 310,118,839 Shares held by
Smoothly Global Holdings Limited by virtue of it being owned as to 20%
by Ms. Wang.

(3) These Shares are the share options granted to Mr. Chan and Ms. Wang
under the share option scheme of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SF0), which had been recorded
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO or which had been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the Year were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director of the Company
or their respective spouses or minor children, or were such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of
the Company or any other body corporate.
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(2)  ER L Z 1% A Smoothly Global Holdings Limited
2 20%fE % - L 2 T ¥ 18 S H Smoothly Global
Holdings Limited FT 5 5 310,118,839 i& % {5 1 1
Bk o
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REDEMPTION OF COUPON NOTES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, an aggregate principal
amount of HK$56.1 million of coupon notes was early redeemed in
January and February 2019. As at the date of this report, there are no
outstanding coupon notes.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT
Details of the equity-linked agreement entered into during the Year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 25 October 2010 (the
“Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the Company
to grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the
Group to recruit and retain high caliber employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group and any invested entity.

Eligible participants include the Directors, any employee (whether
full-time or part-time) or Shareholder, and any customer, supplier,
agent, business or joint venture business partner, consultant,
distributor, promoter, service provider, adviser or contractor to any
member of the Group.

The maximum number of Share which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the Shares in issued as at the Listing Date, i.e. 72,000,000 Shares.
The scheme mandate limit was refreshed on the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 24 May 2017 to 10% of the shares
of the Company in issue on the same day, i.e. 97,500,000 Shares,
representing approximately 6.9% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report. No option may be granted
to any participant of the Share Option Scheme such that the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month
period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s
issued share capital from time to time.

BEAER
@éfg—ﬂ¢+—ﬂz+—ﬁtiﬁv$ﬁﬁ
REMEAS BB A5 TEETHFBRED

E’é:%—ﬂi—ﬂ Kk—AREERL - RAHER
o MEREENEREE -

BRE#HBHZ
FERFTEIM SR ERDAE N 2 IRZ 917 35 5
=N

BRESE

ZAY/N]) N ?E-H% —HiEITm BB AR AT
g ([FEREsrE ) - RAEIAEERE
T%/,J\ii‘xtﬂﬁ%ﬂﬂéf‘ﬂ%f&—réﬂ‘zﬁ%lﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁ
Bl BB ZE - &I AEEEERREE
BEREEURBEIHAKRERIAREERRA
BENADER-

BRERZEATBEREES IMRE (THZR
SHARB) IR ARAKREEEMAKE RRE
EF HER RIE  FBREERREBRHE

BHEACDHEE BN A RBRER - BRI
HER o
BIEEREFSILAEETMNEMAS G TR

mE’Jﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂ%ﬁ@ﬁﬁ‘f%%”ﬁ’a = RM5
BETFBAN ETHABEHITRMHA10% (B
72,000,000Hxﬂx1ﬁ> cHTEIRERBENRE
—tFRAAZTMHBRITHARRBRRBFK
EREMEARNREHEEITRMD 210% + 8
97,500,000 % g 10 - HE R AH|E B R RFIE
BATRRARKY 6.9% © W B 17 [ 5 1m0 B AR A 51 B A F
M2EALTEENBRERTEREEREER
EERHZBLEFAMI2@EABHMARZALDE
TRBEITHORNBHBBARNRTRDETR
RE)1% + BI NS RZA TR L EAE -



EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by
the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are
required to pay the Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant on
the offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than which ever

is the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of the grant,
which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five (5) trading days

immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

(c)  the nominal value of a Share.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years from 15 November 2010 after which no further options will

be granted or offered.

Movements of share options during the year ended 31 December
2019 under the Share Option Scheme are summarised as follows and

details of which are set out in note 33 to the financial statements:
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

Movements of Share Option Scheme during the Year

< i 175 3 (40)

=
=

BRESE (B
FRBKREEIEE

Balance
Balance asat
asat 31 December Exercise
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Price
2019 during during during during HKS
List of Grantees RZB-0E the Year the Year the Year the Year i€  Dateofgrant Exercise Period
ARABE -A-R&%  REARYL  RERAE  RERRR  REREH BT Ritip 8 Git:d
Directors
£
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo 720,000 - - - - 720,000 170 25/10/2016  25/10/2016-
Ri% ote 1) 25110/2026
(it1) Note 2)
(Hit2)
Wang Fang 7,200,000 - - - - 7,200,000 170 25/10/2016  25/10/2016-
1% Note 1) 25/10/2026
(Hit1) Note 2)
(Hit2)
Total 7,920,000 - - - - 7,920,000
3t
Notes: st

1.

Durin
grant

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the
date on which the options were granted was HK$1.73.

Up to 40% of the options granted (the “First Options”) are exercisable
during the period from 25 October 2016 to 25 October 2026 (both
days inclusive) (the “First Period”); up to 30% of the options granted
(the “Second Options”) (together with the First Options to the extent
the same has not been exercised during the First Period, as the case
may be) are exercisable during the period from 25 October 2017 to
25 October 2026 (both days inclusive) (the “Second Period”); up to
30% of the options granted (the “Third Options”) (together with the
First Options and the Second Options to the extent they have not been
exercised during the First Period and the Second Period, as the case
may be) are exercisable during the period from 25 October 2018 to 25
October 2026 (both days inclusive) (the “Third Period”).

g the year ended 31 December 2019, no share options were
ed, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option

Scheme.

2.

ARrRHWEmEREEBRERL BHATA
1.738 7T °

BZL%CERERE(EHBERED TR =
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ZEBIERERE SR - RIERME) A
R N\FT+A-F+HRBE-_ZTE-_X<Ft+A
“tTHRB(BEEEMB) BE (TEZ4HM])
TETTIE -

BE-_Z-NFT_A=+—HiL - BRETE
AT HERBRECER L - 176 - RUHGEH -



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z— N FF

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND FEREAROREERGOERZR
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING RE

SHARES

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the FAMEFHARNAESTRABHMN  RZ
—NE+=—A=+—08  RAXFRG RABER
R RERAR T ERIEES RS EHE
XVEBE2RIDBIEXAADTREE - LB
RIBIEES R EIKGIEIB6IKAFE 2 ZRM
MATHER (BEXARTESTRAERIN)

were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 20T :

Company, as at 31 December 2019, the persons or corporations
(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had
interest or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which

of the SFO were as follows:

Number of Number of

Percentage of

issued ordinary underlying the issued

shares of the shares of the share capital of

Company held/ Company held/ the Company
interested in interested in (approximate)
Name of Substantial e/ BERRE e BERER NN
Shareholders Capacity AAFERT KA A HEE ERTRA
TERFRHE 227 EEREE g 4! B (B4)
Smoothly Global Holdings Limited Beneficial owner” 310,118,839 (L) - 22.09%
(“Smoothly Global”) EnEEAW
Woodstock Management Limited Beneficial owner? 19,964,000 (L) - 1.42%
(“Woodstock Management”) ERBEAAR
Ms. Tin Yuen Sin, Carol Beneficial owner 118,718,000 (L) - 8.45%
H¥EZ T+ ExBEBA
Interest of controlled 15,000,000 (L) - 1.07%
corporation®
RrEERRY
Favor Way Investments Limited Beneficial owner® 15,000,000 (L) - 1.07%
(“Favor Way”) EnBAAG
(L): Long position L) : 78
Notes: B

(1) These 310,118,839 Shares are held by Smoothly Global, a company (1)
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is
70% and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang

respectively.

5 310,118,839 2% 17 F8 Smoothly Global 55 -
ZARABREBER ST INERAR]
YR @A ER TS LD RIS 70% K% 20%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(2) These 19,964,000 Shares are held by Woodstock Management, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with liability and is
100% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo.

(3) These 15,000,000 Shares are held by Favor Way, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with liability and is 100%
owned by Ms. Tin Yuen Sin, Carol, who is deemed to be interested in
these 15,000,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) having an interest or short position
in the Shares and underlying Shares which would require to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of
not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2019.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this report, no contract of significance has been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
then controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from
the Group's business, that competes or competed or is or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to and
including the date of this report.

FERRAROREBEROVERR
A ()

Mzt ()

(2)  5%%519,964,000 A% I 17 3 Woodstock Management
BE ZAfARNABHEBARES MK INE
PRAR - M ERPRE R SR 100% #Ew o

(3)  #%%515,000,000 (% f% {5 3 Favor Way35 48 @ 22
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All related party transactions disclosed in note 40 to the financial
statements did not constitute connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction of the Company subject to, among other things,
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related
party transactions under the paragraph headed “Compensation
of key management personnel of the Group” in note 40(e) to the
financial statements were exempted from reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to
Rule 14A.73(6) of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2019, cash and bank balances (excluding pledged
deposits) of the Group amounted to approximately RMB48.8 million
(2018: approximately RMB98.3 million). Details of such are set out in
note 25 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMBé64.6
million (31 December 2018: approximately RMB42.7 million),
among which approximately RMB38.9 million was unsecured and
guaranteed by a director of the Company. As at 31 December 2019,
the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of RMB42.3 million
carried at fixed interest rates and RMB22.3 million carried at floating
interest rates. Details of such are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the total carrying amount of coupon notes
of the Group was nil (31 December 2018: approximately RMB48.9
million). The coupon notes were unsecured. Details of such are set
out in note 31 to the financial statements.

HUMAN RESOURCES
As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 256 employees

(2018: 245). The emolument policy of the employees of the Group
is determined on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme to
provide incentive to its senior management and employees. Please
refer to the paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report
for details of such scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total staff costs (including
directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately RMB49.5 million
(2018: approximately RMB46.2 million). The Company maintains a
Share Option Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to the eligible participants for their contributions to the
Group.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out in the financial summary
section on pages 9, 11 to 14 to this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares to existing Shareholders on a pro-rata
basis.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting is expected to be held on 29 May 2020
(Friday) and the notice of Annual General Meeting will be published
and despatched to Shareholders in due course.

AUDITORS
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Chairman and CEO

Hong Kong
27 March 2020

MBRE

ARG T AN B E R AR A ERAHD
BERRARELIE HNAZUANBREE
5 o

ErRBRE

REABERAULFSHS (KRR BEMKL
FRER RARER) 2 AP B AR ETERE
HRE AR BZAR LB A3R A BRRBITHR -

BE HEFWEALQFAN LHES

HE_Z-NAEF+_A=+—HILLFE  KXA7A
SEEAMNERARMERE  HEXBEALT]
EA LT ES

BRBFARE
REBFAGEAR -_T-_BFHEA-TAA(E
B 47 BRIVEF AR B S R E R
B FHE TR -

BB
AREBE-F-NAFT-AST—BLFEZ
GANBRRDERRAEHMERMB -

KB MEBABERE AAEREERE -
BREZOKGHEN BT AR AR EEN ZRESR
KREERRBFAGRES

EEEED
FERABE
BR 85 32

BB
—E-FTF=HA—-++H



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z— N FF

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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To the shareholders of InvesTech Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of InvesTech
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 88 to 236, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the

accompanying consolidated financial statements.

BARERSE

FREZFESRESEZ XL - RAHARH
HEVBmRNEREAEENZIH  WEFH
EEHREVBRREBETERIFKERL
ERTH#TRER BEETHLESHREHES
WER EFHTAE—FBEEFZT SNME

B0ttt AL B AR A -
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HHOEAMBERREAHERR AR R
MEZERF BFRTERREFNER '@%}E
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HEEREE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

B & (E AT
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AREXEE G

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REZFEMNTESBREREXZSE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had goodwill of
RMB192.6 million. Based on management’s impairment
testing, goodwill was allocated to the network system
integration cash-generating unit (“CGU"), and the
recoverable amount of the CGU was determined based on

value in use calculation using cash flow projection.

Significant judgement is involved to determine the key
assumptions such as the budgeted gross margins, discount
rate and long term growth rate used in the calculation of
value in use of the CGU.

Based on management’'s assessment, no further

impairment was made for the goodwill for the current year.

The accounting policies and disclosures related to
impairment of goodwill are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H EXEFEEHEEARK
1926 EET - REBEEEEBNWRENSR BEEIRKES
WMEGEAReELEN ((REELEM)  MADE
ABUNARESRENDRERRSRERINERER
AHEORERE -

EAERSELABUERAEERAANIERR  WR
BEMNX -FREREYPERER - PREKRHME -

RBEEENE  AFEEHELELE—PRE -

ERPEBRENSTBRREEBEHNGE VB HRERME
24 3]15°

We examined the Group’s cash flow projection which

underpinned management’s impairment assessment.

We assessed the assumptions and methodologies for
the cash flow projection by considering the previous
forecasts, evaluating the recent historical results
and business plans of the CGU, and performed
benchmarking of the inputs, such as the budgeted
gross margins, discount rate and long term growth
rate to externally available market data and the

Group'’s historical performance.

We involved our internal valuation specialists
to assist us to assess the methodologies and
assumptions adopted in the calculation of value in
use of the CGU.

We also assessed the adequacy of disclosures
related to goodwill impairment assessment in the
consolidated financial statements.

EFEZTERERENEMERN SRENHR

KD DM
S
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EEORBERAETRAMTERCELEEMN
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

REEREE

Valuation of an unlisted equity investment

FLTRARE w18

FRELEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REZFEMNTESBREZSE

The Group held an unlisted equity investment, which
amounted to RMB382.6 million as at 31 December 2019.
The unlisted equity investment is classified as a financial
asset at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Management engaged an independent external valuer
to assess the fair value of the Group’s unlisted equity
investment as at 31 December 2019. The fair value of the
unlisted equity investment is dependent on certain key
assumptions, which require the exercise of significant
judgement and are subject to an inherent risk of

misstatements.

The accounting policies and disclosures related to the
valuation of the unlisted equity investment are included
in notes 2.4, 3, 18 and 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

T-NFT+_A=+—08 EXEFBEARE
3826§%ﬁm3FJ:meZIK&§ FLEMBEAREDES
BARBEFAEMBEZAKRENERHEE

ERERFBEIEEMNE EEER_T-NF
TZA=+t BN FLEmRAREN R AEE - FEL™
BRAKRENRABEIRNE TERRKRE  HERTRE
BEARHEY B FAESEREUL R E S AR o

B FTRAREHEEENS TR EERN LGS
B SRR MIsr2.4 318 %42

. We evaluated the objectivity, independence and
competency of the independent external valuer.

. We discussed with management on the assumptions
used to determine the valuation and tested the
underlying key estimations, the assumptions and
methodologies for the valuation by reference to the
historical information and recent business operation

information.

. We involved our internal valuation specialists
to assist us in evaluating the discount rates,
methodologies and assumptions adopted in the
calculation of fair value of the unlisted equity

investment.

. We also assessed the adequacy of disclosures
related to the valuation of the unlisted equity
investment in the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HEERER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 R R (B AT
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RVAA TR S

AREXEE G

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REZTFEMNTEESBARELZSEE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had trade receivables
of RMB208 million, which represented 19% of the total
assets of the Group.

The Group has used a provision matrix to calculate
expected credit losses (“ECLs") for trade receivables.
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates and adjusted for
forward-looking information, and it requires a high
level of management estimation. Specific factors, such
as the ageing of the balances, existence of disputes,
past collection history, forward-looking information
and any other available information concerning the
creditworthiness of counterparties, would be considered
during the assessment. This assessment requires the use
of judgement and highly subjective assumptions.

Based on management’'s assessment, impairment
provisions of approximately RMB9.4 million were made for
the balance of trade receivables as at 31 December 2019.

The accounting policies and disclosures related to
impairment provision on trade receivables are included
in notes 2.4, 3 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

N—ZZ—NFE+_A=1+—0  BEEEIREEFHEKK
THARB208EHETL 1 BEEEBEEEMN19% -

EEEERRRERAEESREFENEREERR
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EREZESERFERERFENSTHRLABEERNRGEA
PSRRI 2.4 - 3% 21 °

We understood and evaluated the key controls
over the collection processes of the Group’s trade
receivables.

We evaluated the assumptions used in the ECL
model by a) reviewing the credit terms and historical
payment patterns of different categories of the
customers to assess the groupings of customer
categories with similar loss patterns; b) examining
the underlying data used in the provision matrix
by checking to the ageing of trade receivables,
the repayment history of the debtors and future
repayment plan on a sampling basis; and c)
assessing the related forward-looking information.

We recalculated the provision matrix of ECLs.
We checked bank receipts for the settlements of

samples of trade receivables made subsequent to
the year end.

FEETHIFE EEEESRKFIAKREIRIZH
B2
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z— N FF

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
8 N7 1% 8RBl ¥R 25

BRBMHER SV BBRRNEE
BEENEERERAMBHREBRS MFEH
RERFE SR R T G B A 5 AR R XS & 2 4R
& UHAREESFERNREEIRSE - HEA
BEERAZERREL  TAIREEMRR - &
EMIRARENANT - BHEFMEMALE £k
EEERBAE

@E

AERRENRKFHRE  BEARBREEE
EAERETHNERBERRFAER —EXHER
ROt - $8SRERA AT A BREF BB RR SI R WA IETR

HeMEBlERERAIEFERREREZS
REMBRRMELEERE - A BREMER
ROt AT R ARVEE K o

ERRBEBRBRAEAETERN D NFE

ZHIE  BESEREXAE LRFRRRERE -

£i

. el DS R Rl e el A e
RMERAE KNSR IE R - RE M
TEZEFUEHZERR  UAREST

REEENEZERE (FRESERNER -
HRREFAIRE S KA REE  BE WE

B RGN SO E A ERES - Bt
AREEBEBE AU AR ERERR AR
AEEBRANERMEMNE N FERR A
FERE S o

- EHREEZAMARIES
WEZEF BYXFEEYH
ZHINARMERRER

AREHEE

E\K@W%B

- FHEMAEHHERNESERESMAMED
MEHAFT AR EN SN -

85



86

InvesTech Holdings Limited & 51l 12 & B fR 2 7

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
8 N7 % 8K Bifi ¥R 25

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’'s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’'s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Hui Kin Fai, Stephen.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2020
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Year ended 31 December 2019
BE—FE—NF+—_A=+—HIFE

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses, net

Finance costs

LOSS BEFORE TAX

Income tax (expense)/credit

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT

Basic and diluted
— For loss for the year

EH

H A Ko Yo zm
HE N D HMAX
TR

H b A S % 58
BEMKA
BB AT B 1R

Pris®t (M) /%
FEBE

A& RIGER :

SRAEEE A
FEVEHI S

BRAREERER

BFEARGEEBRER

—FEEER

10

12

2019 2018
= AN
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARKET T
488,682 414,864
(423,640) (379,258)
65,042 35,606
3,891 5,629
(24,654) (22,167)
(56,038) (47,872)
(6,764) (19.877)
(4,115) (9.735)
(22,638) (58,416)
(2,027) 3,759
(24,665) (54,657)
(21,09¢) (46,171)
(3,569) (8,486)
(24,665) (54,657)

(RMB1.51 cents)
(AR®1.515%)

(RMB3.95 cents)
(ANR¥3.959)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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Year ended 31 December 2019

HE-E—NF+-H=+—ALFE

2019 PANK:]
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARET T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FERE (24,665) (54,657)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME ~ H 2 (F8) k&
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that AREZEMEN SR
may be reclassified to profit or loss REZNEMEE
in subsequent periods: (B518) /W
Exchange differences on translation of BMEINEE 2
foreign operations MEHZR (57,997) 602
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that RERBBEARTENHEE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss BEENEMEE
in subsequent periods: (B8,
Exchange differences on translation of B NN L2 R
the Company'’s financial statements BEyEE Y
into presentation currency ME W 258 60,052 402
Financial asset at fair value through BEARBEFAHEME
other comprehensive income: EH&¥W§%§§§ :
Change in fair value NREEEE (230,370) 12,939
Income tax effect Fristis & 3,235 (3,235)
(167,083) 10,106
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME ~ FEHt2M (1K)~
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX W - MBRBLIE (225,080) 10,708
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FETHERASE
FOR THE YEAR (249,745) (43,949)
Total comprehensive loss AR &5 L2 E1E
attributable to: %@%ﬁi\ :
Owners of the parent YNGIETZS N (246,278) (35,436)
Non-controlling interests 3'5? kg (3,467) (8,513)
(249,745) (43,949)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
am 0 B FS A 2=

31 December 2019
—F-AF+-A=+—A

2019 2018
—B-NF

—F-N\F
RMB'000
AR¥EFT

RMB’000
AR®T T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Loan receivables

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Loan receivables

Interest receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss

Debt investment at fair value through
profit or loss

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

FRBEE

WE - BERRE
EREEE

kS

Hip B E
ELETRIAEE

WA BERAEM
2EEENEREE
JEUE 3R

FRBEERE

RBEE

A

B 5 K RIEE YR
e E 3R

e W 2
FBAFRIA ~ A UK
AREMEE
BRNRBEFARD
R A E
BRNRBEFARD
ZEBERE
[REEREHEES N
BekReEED

MBEERE

13
14
15
16
17

18
19

20
21
19

22

23

24

25
25

1,487 2,351
8,248 -
192,564 192,564
118,936 139,181
3,002 2,570
382,569 612,939
3,913 5,741
710,719 955,346
12,881 13,398
210,280 209,690
27,034 40,244
343 1,356
53,743 35,232
1,249 4,039
13,856 -
31,018 2,189
48,781 98,278
399,185 404,426




CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Contract liabilities
Other payables and acc
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RBEE
EE Y ANEN
BHAaE
ruals Htt BRI K EET B A

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T8 R 17 & E A&

Coupon notes
Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS C

MERE
FEASH K

&)

mEBRERRE

REBEEFE

URRENT LIABILITIES EEZERABERS

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE

Contract liabilities
Loan from a director

BHWAaG
RE—BREEZER

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T8 38R 17 & E A&
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIRE &

Total non-current liabilities MBI B ERRE

Net assets BEFE

EQUITY R

Equity attributable to owners of the parent & QA BB A FEIH#E
Issued capital BEBITIRA

Reserves i

Non-controlling interests FEfE b =

Total equity T AR

Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
R 85 28
Director

EF

—=
— =

2019
—E-hE

RMB’000
AR®T T

in e RS &R

31 December 2019
NEF=A=+—A

2018
—EF-N\F

RMB'000
AR¥ETF T

26 170,915 159,642
27 24,932 6,979
28 33,788 36,471
29 57,664 36,979
31 - 48,921
14,140 8,645

301,439 297,637

97,746 106,789

808,465 1,062,135

27 2,296 -
28 - 32,510
29 6,966 5,705
17 17,841 24,112
27,103 62,327

781,362 999,808

32 188,710 156,928
34 539,383 786,144
728,093 943,072

53,269 56,736

781,362 999,808

Ching Chau Wa
EuE
Director

EBEFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mORE@mEER

Year ended 31 December 2019
BE—FE—NF+—_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARRAAES

Share Share Statutory
Issued Share option  Special award Other surplus
capital  premium  reserve reserve®  reserve reserve® reserve®

BhE iviEd | EERR

BRIRE RHEE  BE WHREY  BR AtEEY  GE©
RMBO0D  RMBOOO  RMBODO  RMBODO  RMBOOO  RMBODD  RMBOOD
ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARRBTR ARRTR ARETR ARETR

Foreign
currency

Fairvalue translation

reserve

MER

i EXRE REEA

RMB'000

reserve

RMB'000

Retained
profits Total

RMB'000  RMB'000

Non-
controlling Total
interests equity

A5t FEARR BReE

RMB000  RMB'000

AR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR

(note 32)
(K& 32)
At1 January 2019 RZE-NE
-A-H 156,928 625495 6,304 61,064 2,073 (7.473) 28,655 9,704 (9,316) 69,638 943,072 56,736 999,808

Loss for the year ERBE - - - - - - - - - (2109)  (21,09)  (3569)  (24,665)
Other comprehensiveincome/  EEEH 2

(loss) for the year: W&/ (58)

Exchange differences on HENEH

translation of foreign JERER

operations - - - - - - = - (58099) - (58099) 102 (57.997)
Exchange differences on HERLT

translation of the YHERA

Company’s financial By

statements nto EXEE

presentation currency - - - - - - = - 0052 - 60052 - 60052
Change infair value of ERAEBHA

afinancial asset at Ath2EhE

fair value through other HEREAER

comprehensive income, NMEESY:

net of tax NBHE - - - - = = - (221135) - - (2271135) - (221135)
Total comprehensive income/  £E 2%/

(loss) for the year (B4 - - - - - - - (22113 1953 (21,096) (266,278)  (3.467)  (249,745)
Issue of shares (note 32) 7k 31,782 652 - - - - - - - - L% - 3%
Share issue expenses BOE:
(note 32) (t32) - (11%) - - - - - - - - (1% - 13
Transfer from retained profits £ 5 RE 7| - - - - - - 627 - - (627) - - -
At31 December 2019 RZE-NF
t-A=t+-H 188710 625,012 6304 61,064 2,073 (7473 29282* (174310 (7363 47915 728093 53269 781,362
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Y TS

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE—T—NF+—A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
\Eff

Foreign
Share Share Statutory currency Non-
Issued Share option Special award Other ~ surplus  Fairvalue translation  Retained controlling Total
premium  reserve  reserve®  reserve  reserve®  reserve® reserve profits Total interests equity

g
Ml HflwhEY B EfRRY 6
RMB000  RMB00O i RMB000  RMBOO0  RMBO0 RMB1000
T . ARETT ARBTT T ARKTR ARKTR ARKTT

At1 January 2018 R-E-NE
-A-H 156928 625495 5526 61,064 2073 (7473) 28,655 - (10347) 115809 977,730 65249 1042979
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - - - W8T W17 (848 (445T)
Other comprehensiveincome/  EEE4 2
(loss) for the year: Wi/ (E8)
Exchange differences on HENEEH
translation of foreign LEREE
operations - - - - - - - - 629 - 629 (27) 602
Exchange differences on HEANE
translation of the BBHRA
Company’s financial Bk
statements into EREE
presentation currency - - - - - - - - 402 - 40 - 402
Change infair value of ERAEBHA
afinancial asset at A2 ENE
fair value through other MEREAED
comprehensive income, IEEEER
net of tax ARGE - - - - - - - 9,704 - - 9,704 - 5,104

Total comprehensive income/
(loss] for the year

- - - - - - - 9,704 1031 (66171)  (35436) (8513 (43949)

Equity-settled shareoption ~ FREE ZEERIE
arrangements (note 33) 2 () - - 778 - - - - - - - 778 - 178

At31 December 2018 RZF-)\E
ToRSH-B 1998 625495 6306 61086 W (1413 2865 906 (9318) 69638 93072 58T 999,808

o These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEREREBREEAVBEMRARANNG S G
RMB539,383,000 (2018: RMB786,144,000) in the consolidated # A K #539,383,000C (ZZ—N\F: ARK

statement of financial position. 786,144,000 7C) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
|||T]'\|:|”EI\2 i;]]%g

Year ended 31 December 2019
BE—FE—NF+_A=1+—HIFZE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Special reserve
The balances as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 mainly represent:

(i) the difference between the nominal amount of the shares issued
by the parent and the aggregate amount of paid-in capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation of
the Company in 2008; and

(ii) the excess, amounting to RMB13,330,000, of the consideration
paid by the parent for the acquisition of a subsidiary over
the consideration paid by Mr. Chi Shaolin (“Mr. Chi"), the then
controlling shareholder of the Company, for the acquisition of the
subsidiary from a third party.

Other reserve
Other reserve arose from acquisitions of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries or disposals of interests in subsidiaries.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises in the
People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Company’s PRC subsidiaries
are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund which is
non-distributable. The appropriations to such reserve are made out of
net profit after tax of the statutory financial statements of the relevant
PRC subsidiaries. The statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to
make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into
capital by means of capitalisation issue.

At -

(a)

(b)

(c)

ﬁﬂﬁﬁ
—E-NFRZ
%f%h-

—NF+_HA=+—Hz#&

(i) SRFRMABETROMNEEERERARR
T N\FHETEEEAMBEREB QA
BEHERBRSENERE &

(ii) ““ﬁﬁ%%-ﬁWﬁ“ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁFK

T*%mThkﬁL IS ([BEE]D)

FE=NWEHNBRAREMTRESHZ
@gﬁ/\ﬁﬁﬁ 13,330,000 T °

Hth ik
HibfEERE WENB AR MR HE

=Nk

EEEBRFHE
mEARAME (T ®ENBEBERRE
BBRTE - ARFIFEHERBAERE TR D IKA
ERBFREES - 2FRENBEFTRE T EE
BB A RDEEM B HRRAOBRRAEHN X ER
HEBESITARBHBAEFEESRE (WEH)
WAIAERNEBETH T ABHRAER -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REKZ EZBHHERE

Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Bank interest income
Finance income on the net investment in
a lease/interest income arising from
finance leases
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Fair value (gain)/losses, net:

Equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss
Debt investment at fair value through
profit or loss
Equity-settled share option expense
Government grants released to the
statement of profit or loss
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Impairment of trade receivables, net
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of
deposits and other receivables, net
Impairment of other loan receivables
Write-down of provision for inventories to
net realisable value
Impairment of goodwill

Increase in inventories

(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills
receivables

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets

Decrease in loan receivables

Decrease in interest receivables

Increase in trade payables

Increase in contract liabilities

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and
accruals

Increase in government grants

Cash generated from operations

Interest paid
Income taxes paid

Net cash flows from operating
activities

FR 7% AT &5 18

BN PIESIR A

BE KA

RITHLE KA

HEREFHEELW
BMERA BEHEE
E AR B U A

VERN AN
e

EREEENE

NAEE KR
1R R
BARBEFARR
ZBEAREE
BARBEFARR
ZEBHRE

VAR 4 51 A8 e 2

SFABmRZBEER
BT 8 B

H ity S E B 5

B 5 MR IR R (B F B

H R E A EUGRIA ORt
EREE) OREFE

H U S SR E

MRFEREERER
FE

B RE

FER
E%EZ%T@F‘%H&%&@M)/
B2
TERHOR - B EUGRIR
KEME E () B
FEU & BB

& W) Bk

B 5 e I8 b
BHABEEN

H IR K BT B H
g, Cid)
I 4 B 358 0

REFF/ARE

EHE
B ATSHR

REZBABRSNRE
HEE

(SRS

o O Oy

[N

#

mOIRE

\

o

MER

Year ended 31 December 2019

EENFF+ A= —HILFE

==
2019
—EB-NEF
RMB’000
AR® TR
(22,638) (58,416)
4,115 9,735
(292) (1,898)
(553) (416)
1,208 1,042
4,814 -
2,821 226
(1,233) -
- 778
(1,631) (1,026)
20,245 20,245
3,641 4,270
(16) 278
172 74
1,022 1,104
- 15,016
11,675 (8,988)
(695) (4,092)
(5,065) 12,290
(18,495) 23,222
15,344 111,721
1,023 1,466
13,240 8,719
20,250 6,979
3,711 (26,465)
1,631 1,026
42,619 125,878
(3,272) (6,431)
- (30,359)
39,347 89,088
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEHERER

Year ended 31 December 2019
BE—T—NFf+—A=1+—HIFE

2019
—E-hEF
RMB’000
AR¥ TR
Net cash flows from operating activities KEFZFHBRESRE
R 39,347 89,088
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REREZFHESHKE
Interest received B U FE 845 2,258
Purchases of items of property, plantand  BE% - BE &
equipment HEEE (372) (1,588)
Proceeds from disposals of items of HEWE - BER
property, plant and equipment HREIEB TS HIA 24 -
Purchase of equity investment at fair value BB A RBET A
through profit or loss BammRAEE - (58)
Proceeds from disposal of equity investment HEE AR BEF AER
at fair value through profit or loss IR A& B 15 5KI8 - 42
Purchase of a debt investment at fair value BEEZEARBETAER
through profit or loss MEKIEE (12,980) -
Interest from debt investment at fair value EARBEGTAEBGZH
through profit or loss B E RN E 794 -
Prepayments for a financial asset at BAREBEBEFAEMEE
fair value through other comprehensive WS REEMTEN
income B - (280,000)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits BB EREmM) R (28,644) 83,953
Net cash flows used in investing activities ~ REFEBMARS T2
FEE (40,333) (195,393)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REBEZFEHRESHE
New bank and other borrowings FTIBERTT R E M S 76,946 301,636
Repayments of bank and other borrowings  {EZR17 M E A& (62,255) (302,591)
Principal portion of lease payments/finance FENMZ HMEHMERS
lease rental payments A D (6,347) (2,209)
Proceeds from issue of shares 1D 31T AT 5R0R 32,434 -
Share issue expenses AR 0 21T B SZ (1,135) -
Early redemption of coupon notes REEBELRMNEEE (49,323) (43,671)
(Decrease)/increase in a loan from a director KB —HEEMHNE X
CRiA) /18N (37,806) 43,933
Net cash flows used in financing activities BB ZHFTAE SRS
R (47,486) (2,902)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERASZEYRD
EQUIVALENTS HE (48,472) (109,207)
Cash and cash equivalents at FURERRSEFEY
beginning of year 98,278 211,514
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 4NESE R B B 22 £ 5 &7 (1,025) (4,029)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRRERREEZEY
END OF YEAR 48,781 98,278
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERASEEYHELR
CASH EQUIVALENTS D
Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe ~ RFIEAK R KT ]2
statement of financial position RehkReEFED 25 48,781 98,278
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 16 November 2007 as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office of the
Company is located at P.0. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus
Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205, Cayman
Islands. The Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong is Room 1201, 12/F, C C Wu Building, 302-308 Hennessy
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are mainly engaged in the provision of network
system integration including the provision of network
infrastructure solutions, network professional services and
mobile internet software of mobile office automation software
business, the network equipment rental business, the trading
of telecommunications equipment and money lending business.

B 65 ¥R 2% Bfif 5

31 December 2019
—E-AF+=A=+—A

REAIREEEHR

BEAERERQR ([RRF]) AR _ET
+F+—A+ R NBERSHS M
BHREAREELR HRMDHREBEH S
REGFMBRARE ([BEARZFT]) ER EF o AR
X @) 7% 3% = BE b 3k 2 /R P.0. Box 31119
Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay
Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205, Cayman
Islands - A RB BB FTBERMHERER
AT ST B 558 302-308 5 £ Ak P 0 12748
1201 % °

RRBRREERRAT - NRRAREWE
RE (W ARE]) TERERHBPER
BES DRENEBEERERBRITER
BEREERB LR AZEDLEME
BB EMEHNT  BEREEEED
BEEEERBERER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2019
—E-NFELZH=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. RAIREEER(®)

Information about subsidiaries M B A B
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARAEBHBRARZFBOT «
follows:

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to the Company

AARAEGRERA L
Issued ordinary/
registered
Place of incorporation/ share capital
regislratioq and business BRAEE/ Indirect  Principal activities
AR/ R E R AU B IEER
Rosy Sun Investment LimitedA* British Virgin Islands ('BVI) United States dollars 100 = Investment holding
(‘Rosy Sur') \ ﬁ%%m?ﬁ% ~(Us§)2 RERR
ERRERRAT ™ ([BH)) ([XBEBRES]) ESHESH)
Fortune Grace Management Limited? B US$100 75 - Investment holding
(*Fortune Grace’) REABRES 10071 RAER
Wafer Systems Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong dollars - 75 Investment holding
AEZGARAR (o ('HKS") 67,269,905 REZRK
67,269,905/ 70
(&)
Wafer Systems (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$30,000,000 - 75 Investment holding and
FEZG (hE) BRAF & 30,000,000/ 7 network system integration
REZRLBEZGES
Beijing Wafer NewCentury Information PRC/Mainland China 5$15,000,000 - 75 Investment holding and
Technology Co, Ltd. ™ (Befjng Wafer’) %8/ EIAfE 15,000,000 network systen integration
FRAENELRERRIRRARA ™ RESRRBEZ50ES
(L REE])
Wafer Network Systems (Shanghai) PRC/Mainland China RMB6,580,000 - 75 Network system integration
Co, Ltg." T/ EAR AR 65800007 Beznza
FRRFMEZAGARAT N
Wafer (Xi‘an) Software Co, Ltd. *A* PRC/Mainland China 1S$700,000 - 75 Research and development
("ffan Wafer) VAL 700000570 i
R (BB ERA ™
(ARAE])
Wafer Systems (Vietnam| Co,, Ltd. Vietham 1S$400,000 - 75 Network system integration
(Vietnam Wafer') " e 400,000 CEFS S
AEZG(HE)ARAA (HmgE))
|nvgsTech Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$J - 100 Money lending
EENBARAR Bk 187 ME
Chunlin Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding and sale
EnsEERAA & 15T of telecommunications
products
REBRRFEFAER
Chunlin Finance Leasing (Shenzhen) PRC/Mainland China RMBB833,000,000° - 100 Finance leasing
Co, Ltd. *N (‘Chunlin Finance Lease’) hE /KR ABR%833,000000 ¢ HEHE

ERRARE (R ARAT
(EmHERE)



2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

R Subsidiaries whose statutory financial statements were not
audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of
the Ernst & Young global network

& Wholly-foreign-owned limited liability enterprises
* The English name is for identification purpose only
© The registered share capital of Chunlin Finance Lease amounted

to RMB833,000,000, among which RMB594,732,000 was unpaid
as at 31 December 2019.

& The subsidiary was dissolved and its deregistration was
completed in July 2019.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
(which include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for a financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income, an equity investment at fair
value through profit or loss and a debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

2.1
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31 December 2019
—EF-AFT=ZA=+—H

ARREEER (&)

M B A RS (&)

A HEATEMBMERLIEFBR BB KEFTRIE
TR ek Rk Bl R A 4% H b pk B A R B A
LN

i SNEBERBRAR

* EHTHERER

e R=ZZF—AF+=—A=+—H8 THFME
HEFMIA A AR 833,000,000t © H
iR AR ¥ 594,732,000 7T i AR A o

@ MEBARCEHE  BFHER=Z—AN
FLAFTK -

R EERA/ETEXEFEEEX
ARAREBEEFETERDHARR BN
BRA -EERRREHEBHBLTER

mREE

WERBRRDIREER ST LENZES
(B et EANZBE]) B ZBIRM%
HEEAN ((BARFHHREEL]) BREHAE
RE SRS R - BIFR & FH A (TBIRR
SEHER) RRE) LAREE R BMRDI 8
BHRERE -BRRAABEAENEAR
BEFAEMCEZARENEREE RO
AEEFABSHBRAREUNRIZARE
Eff \BaEWEBREN  EERRES
RAEPIRE - WEHBRERTIAARE
TAR®] 25 B EHEHIN > FIBAH
EENEREO TRH -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2019
—E-NFELZH=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders

of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue

to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

2.1

fim BLELZE (1)

REE%E
HEMBEBRREBEAKRERE_T-NF
TZA=+t—"BLEFENHBHRE - B
REARARFEEIFREFNER (21
REELEER)  -EAKEH2EREHRE
15 1) 7% B O] oA HE L B 3l = B R DA K e
FEREREHROEN (IR KEER TR
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the

Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

IFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments

Amendments to IAS 28

IFRIC 23

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11,
IAS 12 and IAS 23

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of IFRS
16 and IFRIC 23, the adoption of the above new and revised
standards has had no significant financial effect on these

financial statements.
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31 December 2019
—E-NFELZH=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases —
Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all
leases under a single on-balance sheet model to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for
certain recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting under IFRS
16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17. Lessors continue
to classify leases as either operating or finance leases using
similar principles as in IAS 17. For a sublease arrangement,
the classification of the sublease is made by reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, instead of by
reference to the underlying asset. IFRS 16 did not have any

significant impact on leases where the Group is the lessor.

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method with the date of initial application of
1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard has been
applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial
adoption recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at 1 January 2019, and the comparative
information for 2018 was not restated and continued to be
reported under IAS 17 and related interpretations.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

New definition of a lease

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset and the right to direct the use of the identified
asset. The Group elected to use the transition practical
expedient allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and
IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application. Contracts that were
not identified as leases under |IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not
reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16
has been applied only to contracts entered into or changed on
or after 1 January 2019.

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases
Nature of the effect of adoption of IFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of machinery
and buildings. As a lessee, the Group previously classified
leases as either finance leases or operating leases based on
the assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially
all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the
Group. Under IFRS 16, the Group applies a single approach to
recognise and measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for all leases, except for two elective exemptions for leases of
low-value assets (elected on a lease-by-lease basis) and leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”)
(elected by class of underlying asset). Instead of recognising
rental expenses under operating leases on a straight-line basis
over the lease term commencing from 1 January 2019, the
Group recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the
right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the outstanding

lease liabilities (as finance costs).
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases
(continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised based on
the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 and
included in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The
right-of-use assets were measured at the amount of the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the lease recognised in the statement of
financial position immediately before 1 January 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based on
IAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present the right-of-
use assets separately in the statement of financial position.

The Group has used the following elective practical expedient
when applying IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

. Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases with
a lease term that ends within 12 months from the date of

initial application
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as finance leases
The Group did not change the initial carrying amounts of
recognised assets and liabilities at the date of initial application
for leases previously classified as finance leases. Accordingly,
the carrying amounts of the lease liabilities at 1 January 2019
were the carrying amounts of the recognised liabilities (i.e.,
finance lease payables) measured under IAS 17.

Financial impact at 1 January 2019
The impacts arising from the adoption of IFRS 16 as at 1

January 2019 are as follows:
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Increase in total liabilities BEBEEEm 9,926
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (continued)
Financial impact at 1 January 2019 (continued)

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the
operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 are as

follows:
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Operating lease commitments as at RZE-NF+ZA=+—8A®
31 December 2018 REHERE 13,030

Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases i ﬁfﬁ RHRTE & & | eR 70 & B
and those leases with a remaining lease —F— j'LE‘f’ A=+—H

term ended on or before 31 December 2019 _ﬁZZﬁW?E SRR S H E AR (934)
12,096

Weighted average incremental borrowing rate RZZE-—NF—A—HK
as at 1 January 2019 ﬂﬂ$§$i’]i = &A=& 5.35%

RZZ—NF—A—BmMH
3y %ﬁ% I 9,926

Discounted operating lease commitments
as at 1 January 2019

Add: Finance lease liabilities recognised m:R=_F2—-—NF+_HA=+—H
as at 31 December 2018 ﬁEu/u\Eﬁmﬂﬁfﬁfﬁﬁ 7,592
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 R-ZE-hE-HF—BWHEEAE 17,518
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IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

IFRIC 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current
and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that

include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain
tax treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity
makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation B AR Ef’ﬁtﬂ HIREE ; (i) B EE
authorities; (iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax JERB A S IEEE HE - REBAN
losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and IEE’?T% RBARMBEBERETRE : R(vE
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tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances. Upon adoption of the interpretation, the Group
considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions. Based
on the Group's tax compliance study, the Group determined
that it is probable that its tax treatment will be accepted by the
tax authorities. Accordingly, the interpretation did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.



2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business'

Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material’

and IAS 8
Amendment to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current®

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Further information about the IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that
for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered
a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business and
continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether
acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to
focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional fair
value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2020. Since the amendments
apply prospectively to transactions or other events that occur
on or after the date of first application, the Group will not be
affected by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 address the effects
of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting. The
amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before
the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark. In
addition, the amendments require companies to provide
additional information to investors about their hedging
relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020. Early application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for

adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information. A misstatement of information is material if it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by
the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2020. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial

statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-

related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the

portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Fair value measurement
The Group measures its derivative financial instruments and
equity investments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable

inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and goodwill),
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’'s or cash-
generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

e
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Related parties (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended

use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful

lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 33.3%
Equipment 33.3%
Motor vehicles 33.3%
Others 33.3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment, including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Technology know-how

Technology know-how is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 10 years.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed

when incurred.

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Buildings 2 to 3 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the

estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying

asset.

The Group’'s lease liabilities are included in interest-

bearing bank and other borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as

revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,

are accounted for as finance leases.

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and
related payments (including the initial direct costs), and
presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the net
investment in the lease. The finance income of such leases is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the
on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies
the sublease as an operating lease.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)
Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’'s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial asset designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investment)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investment as equity investment designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is

determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment

assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and

the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of

the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral
to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings, and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, loan from
a director, coupon notes, and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of

profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion

and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an

integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits and assets similar in nature

to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EASFHEBEME (&)

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can

be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods
or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

(a)  Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods by

customers.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 E AR HEME (&)

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued) WA TR (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) KEEFEHZ W (&)

(b)  Rendering of services

(i)

(ii)

Installation services

The Group provides installation services that are
either sold separately or bundled together with
the sale of goods to a customer. The installation
services can be obtained from other providers and
do not significantly customise or modify the goods.

Contracts for bundled sales of goods and
installation services are comprised of two
performance obligations because the promises to
transfer the goods and provide installation services
are capable of being distinct and separately
identifiable. Accordingly, the transaction price is
allocated based on the relative stand-alone selling

prices of the goods and installation services.

Revenue from installation services is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
service, because the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced. The input method
recognises revenue based on the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the installation services.

Maintenance services
Revenue from the provision of maintenance
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from other sources
Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in note 33 to
the financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative

expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date

of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the

previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per

share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement
of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF

Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Pension scheme (continued)

For the defined contribution schemes of the Group, the forfeited
contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave
the scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) would
not be used by the employer to reduce the existing level of
contribution.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial

statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’'s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised

immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s presentation currency. The Company, which
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands, uses the HK$ as
its functional currency. As the Group mainly operates in
Mainland China, RMB is used as the presentation currency
of the Company. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary

items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income

or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for

the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the

assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Recognition of deferred tax liabilities for withholding taxes
Deferred tax liabilities should be recognised for withholding
tax levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax liabilities that can be recognised,
based upon the probability that dividends would be declared.
The Group is of the view that it is able to fully control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference arising from
dividend distribution of these subsidiaries and it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will make such profit distribution in the
foreseeable future. Therefore, the Group has not recognised
any deferred tax liability for withholding taxes as at 31
December 2019.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that affect the
determination of the amount of revenue from contracts with

customers:

ldentifying performance obligations in a bundled sale of goods
and installation services

The Group provides installation services that are either sold
separately or bundled together with the sale of goods to a
customer. The installation services are a promise to transfer
services in the future and are part of the negotiated exchange
between the Group and the customer.

The Group determined that both goods and installation services
are each capable of being distinct. The fact that the Group
regularly sells both goods and installation services on a
standalone basis indicates that the customer can benefit from
both goods and installation services on their own. The Group
also determined that the promises to transfer the goods and to
provide installation services are distinct within the context of
the contract. The goods and installation services are not inputs
to a combined item in the contract. The Group is not providing
a significant integration service because the presence of the
goods and installation services together in the contract does not
result in any additional or combined functionality and neither
the goods nor the installation modifies or customises the other.
In addition, the goods and installation services are not highly
interdependent or highly interrelated, because the Group would
be able to transfer the goods even if the customer declined
installation and would be able to provide installation services
in relation to goods sold by other distributors. Consequently,
the Group has allocated a portion of the transaction price
to the goods and the installation services based on relative
standalone selling prices.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer categories that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer
type and rating and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
of credit issuance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults
in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’'s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note
21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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HAEBECFEBRER -B2HIME WA
HRTROBI A R (B R A E R E) BRK
FREVEFHEREBNHEL N BB
FROXBELAE - REREEH B
EBERENXCEHN  MAEEGTES
EEH AT

FEATEREBEOR  BRLEKRERTE
HEEEBEB s HANBEBE KNGt BH
EEEENSEYERREALE KGN
BEHE AEEMNBRTEEEBELCRK
B TERITR AT e R BER KRB R AR K
MEREN EEANEEE S ERKIER
HEEBENERERERNGE VB REW
FE21



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and also a suitable discount rate to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of
goodwill at 31 December 2019 was RMB192,564,000 (2018:
RMB192,564,000). Further details are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to

calculate the present values of those cash flows.

3.
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HMFEMITES o

HEBEER BE (BEEI)

AEEEHHEETRRARE @RS H
RFFBEHFERMEE (BRERAREEE) BB
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses can
be utilised. Significant management’s judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
Further details are set out in note 17 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Fair value measurement of debt and equity investments
Where fair value of debt and equity investments cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined using
valuation techniques. The inputs used in the valuation are taken
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair
values. This valuation requires the Group to make estimates
about expected factors which may have impact on the fair
value of the debt and equity investment and the discount for
lack of marketability, illiquidity and control and hence they
are subject to uncertainty. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair value of debt and
equity investment. The Group’s debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss at 31 December 2019 was approximately
RMB13,856,000 (2018: Nil), equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss at 31 December 2019 was approximately
RMB1,249,000 (2018: RMB4,039,000) and the Group’s unlisted
equity investment, which was accounted for as a financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31
December 2019, was approximately RMB382,569,000 (2018:
RMB612,939,000). Further details are included in notes 18, 23
and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

3.

TEGTHHERMAEF @
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HEE BEABRIANEEHREESH
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AREEFAEMCEZARSEZEREENIE
ERAEE L A AR 382,569,000 7T (=
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the

subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
two reportable operating segments as follows:

(@)  the communication system segment, which is engaged in
the provision of network system integration including the
provision of network infrastructure solutions, network
professional services and mobile internet software of
mobile office automation software business, and the
trading of telecommunications products; and

(b) the money lending segment, which provides credit
financing to entities and individuals in Hong Kong.

3.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’'s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s loss before tax except that interest income,
unallocated income and gains, non-lease-related finance
costs, as well as corporate and other unallocated expenses are

excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, pledged deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss, a debt investment at fair value through
profit or loss, and corporate and other unallocated assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (other than lease liabilities), coupon notes, tax
payable, deferred tax liabilities, a loan from a director and
corporate and other unallocated liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.

4,
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4, REFIERE (B
Year ended 31 December 2019 EE-NFE+ZHA=+—HILEF
JEE

Communication
system Money lending Total

BREAR BE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T AR®T R

Segment revenue (note 5) 2k (FTzEs)
Sales to external customers BRI ESEECE= 484,655 4,027 488,682
Segment results DEEE (10,732) 3,206 (7,526)
Interest income FEUWA 292
Unallocated income and gains FN T PN & 1,233
Finance costs (other than intereston REK A (FHEEAEHNE

lease liability) BR5M) (3,149)
Corporate and other unallocated NAEIREMRDEFAE

expenses (13,488)
Loss before tax BREATER (22,638)
Segment assets DEHEE 986,264 25,398 1,011,662
Corporate and other unallocated NAIREMRDREE

assets 98,242
Total assets EEAE 1,109,904
Segment liabilities AEHEE 231,119 480 231,599
Corporate and other unallocated NAIREMRDEERE

liabilities 96,943
Total liabilities BELE 328,542
Other segment information: HthpBEH -
Impairment losses recognised in the R BZE T HERERIE

statement of profit or loss, net BiE¥E 4,819 - 4,819
Depreciation and amortisation rEREH 26,267 - 26,267
Capital expenditure* BARRY 3,508 - 3,508

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BARASZBRERNEME BEREEUR

equipment and right-of-use assets. CRAEEE -



150 InvesTech Holdings Limited B3 1% R B R 2 7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o s R B

31 December 2019
—E-NFFZA=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4 REFHTERE (B
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE=-E—N\F+=ZH=+—HLE
e

Communication
system Money lending

BIERL mE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT AREBTT

Segment revenue il
Sales to external customers mIMNBEFHE 406,038 8,826 414,864
Segment results D ERELE (49,926) 8,204 (41,722)
Interest income F B WA 1,898
Finance costs BB AR (9,735)
Corporate and other unallocated NAIREMARSRAX

expenses (8,857)
Loss before tax BB AIE R (58,416)
Segment assets AHEE 1,212,273 39,571 1,251,844
Corporate and other unallocated RERHEMARDEEE

assets 107,928
Total assets EEAE 1,359,772
Segment liabilities AEHEE 182,359 230 182,589
Corporate and other unallocated RERHEMKRDEAE

liabilities 177,375
Total liabilities BELEE 359,964
Other segment information: Hth 2 BER -
Impairment losses recognised in the R BZE T HERHRIE

statement of profit or loss, net EEFE 20,742 - 20,742
Depreciation and amortisation FEREE 21,287 - 21,287
Capital expenditure BARRX 1,588 - 1,588
Additions to a financial asset NERADBER AHM

at fair value through other PHRENEREE

comprehensive income 280,000 - 280,000



4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

(a)

(b)

Revenue from external customers

Mainland China

Vietnam

Hong Kong

United States of America
Other countries/regions

RE R

L

7B

xHE
HiBEKR, &

The revenue information above is based on the locations

of the customers.

Non-current assets

Mainland China
Hong Kong

RER
B

The non-current asset information above is based on the

locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax assets.
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4 BETWER )

i 3 & B
(a) KENBEFZKA
2019 2018
—E-hE —T—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARETT
400,858 385,977
72,934 -
6,152 23,006
4,661 2,269
4,077 3,612
488,682 414,864

(b)

Et W A B BT AR P P A B R AR

5% o

FnBEE
2019 2018
—E-hF —ET-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMT T AREFT
707,669 952,590
48 186
707,717 952,776

EHERBEEE R TIABEMEL
KRS BRI EEEERBAEE °
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4.
Information about major customers
Revenue of approximately RMB72,934,000 was derived from
sales by the communication system segment to a single
customer during the year ended 31 December 2019.

No revenue from sales to a single external customer amounted
to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018.

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

gesBER (A
BAREEEFZER
REBEE-Z-AF+-_A=1t—RHILEE"
WA AR ¥ 72,934,000 TR BB E R
ROHEHE—RFPHHEE o

BHE-_Z—\E+=-A=+—8H1IL=EE"
WMERE—IINBREIEHMNEEWSER
AEBEBTAN0% ©

WA - H AW A RS

Revenue from contracts with customers KEEPELHZWA
Revenue from other sources KB E AR 2 WA
Interest income from money lending REMEEBZ

business A EHBA

WASHTET
2019 2018
= —TN\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT ARKET T
484,655 406,038
4,027 8,826

488,682 414,864




5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information

Communication system segment

Type of goods or services
Sales of goods
Rendering of services

Total revenue from contracts with
customers

Geographical markets
Mainland China

Vietnam

United States of America
Hong Kong

Other countries/regions

Total revenue from contracts with
customers

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time
Services transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts with
customers
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WA - Bl AR WS (4)

KEEFEHNZWA
(i) DBEUmEHF
FIEEZEE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARETTT
ERBRIEER
HEE M 418,579 335,490
R 66,076 70,548
KERPEHZBEIA
484,655 406,038
I 5
o B A i 400,858 385,977
g 72,934 -
=R 4,661 2,269
BB 2,125 14,180
HMER, R 4,077 3,612
KERPEHZBEIA
484,655 406,038
R A
RE—FBHEEEER 418,579 335,490
BE B e 8 S AR 7% 66,076 70,548
KERPEHZBEIA
484,655 406,038
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning:

5.

WA - B AR WS (4)
REEFEHNZWA ()
i) DBEURREHR(E)
TRIIRAHRERHEVNENABENE
RWATH

2019 2018
—E-hHF —E—N\F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Revenue recognised that was included EEtASRERTELN

AR®TR ARBTT

in contract liabilities at the beginning BEMNEERBA
of the reporting period:

Sales of goods HEEm

Rendering of services RS

(i)  Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sales of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the goods and payment is generally due within 30 to 90
days from invoice date, except for certain customers,
where payment in advance is normally required.

Rendering of services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 30 to 90 days from invoice date, except for certain
customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

6,415 20,059
564 177
6,979 20,236

(i) BHEMF
BRAEBERBYETNERMIMNT

HEET
BHBEERAXMNEREERK - MR
—REBRZ=RHE30E90 B R E

HE—RFERNRBENETELERIN

TEHIRTE
BHOREREHREREEREEX
MR —REEZHHEIEIA
AEIH - E-RFBERANRENET
BEFRRSN



5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations (continued)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the

remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or

partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

5.
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WA - Hl A KU (&)

REEFEHNZWA (E)

(i) EHELE(E)
R+=ZA=+—H2BEFTHTREHE
£ (REREI D FREK) IR HER
LUNNE

2019 PANK:]

—E-hEF —E2-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥ T AR®ETTT

Amounts expected to be recognised TEERER AU AR FUA ¢

as revenue:

Within one year —F R 97,522 124,981

After one year —F1& 12,168 4,328

109,690 129,309

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected to
be recognised as revenue after one year relate to certain
services, of which the performance obligations are to be
satisfied within two years.

D ET RN FRERNE T RS
BEENSRTRAOEENXZEREAN
R—FREZBBRA
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. WA - HtA R WKz (@)
Other income and gains Haw ARkl
2019 2018
—E-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARBTIT
Bank interest income RITHFI B YA 292 1,898
Finance income on the net investment in MEREFENMERA
a lease/interest income arising from MEHEELZFBERA
finance leases 553 416
Fair value gain on a debt investment at fair QAR EBEFAEBZZ
value though profit or loss (note 24) EREENAAEE
Weas (P 5% 24) 1,233 -
Government grants released* 2, 3% BRI 48 A 1,631 1,026
Gain on collection of impaired trade WEREBEHMERN
receivables acquired in a business BREE S EWIE
combination** pdll § 116 2,266
Foreign exchange differences, net N ZERFE = 10
Others H A, 66 13
3,891 5,629
* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to * 7 4% 3R ER AR Bl B B MO R B T IR sk sk A
these grants. L
* The gain was generated by the cash collection of trade ” WEREESEEFBERMBERNRE S - K
receivables which were fully impaired when they were acquired REBEE=ZT—AF+-_A=+—RHLFE
by the Group through a business combination in the year ended AEEFEBEGE HRBREEBRE

31 December 2015.



L

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

0SS BEFORE TAX

(crediting):

%
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6. KRBIBIEE

Cost of inventories sold* BEEFERA
Depreciation of property, plant and W WELKETE
equipment 13
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FREEENE 14
Amortisation of other intangible HEMmpEEsiE
assets™* 16
Impairment of goodwill*** P AR (B 15
Impairment of financial assets, net: & §i & E R (B F5E ¢
Impairment of trade receivables, B 5 rEWGRIER A
net*** SRR 21
Impairment of other loan E B W B FURE
receivables, net** HER 19
(Reversal of impairment)/ Ze & H b EIW IR
impairment of deposits and CRER D) RE
other receivables, net*** SRR 22
Minimum lease payments under wEHE REHEE
operating leases BN
Lease payments not included inthe K&t A% ,\/\L =
measurement of lease liabilities A E TR
Auditor’s remuneration % BLR B &
Research and development costs 3 B A
Foreign exchange differences, net ME W, = R HEE
Employee benefit expenses EERMMAX
(including directors’ and a chief (BIEEENR—%
executive's remuneration) ERTBABMNE)
- Wages and salaries —TERF®
- Equity-settled share option —ARREAE B RS AR
expense 53
- Pension scheme contributions —RRSEF B
Write-down of inventories to net WmTERr] #IR
realisable value* FE*
Net fair value loss on equity Bi%y D\Lﬁfﬁfﬁfﬁf\?ﬁ/\
investment at fair value through E’JHX$T§ RAEE
profit or loss*** B8 F R 23
Inclusive of write-down of inventories to net realisable value *
The amortisation of other intangible assets for the year is **
included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
* These items of expenses/income are included in “Other ¥

expenses, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

i

REBRBABEE NG, GIA)UATH
I8 :

2019

—g2—nE
RMB’000
AR® T

371,188 301,069

1,208 1,042

4,814 -

20,245 20,245

- 15,016

3,641 4,270

172 74

(16) 278

3,797 4,622

- 7,903

1,407 -

2,220 2,150

14,317 11,693

146 (10)

44,313 40,167

- 778

5,222 5,254

49,535 46,199

1,022 1,104

2,821 226

BIE R/ FENRZ ] #5FE

FREMBETLEEEHANAGE
[HERANIEEA -

WHERX WAEE B ARE
NIEAMRASOFEIA -

BER

B RA

hEER 157
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BB ADTAT ¢
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARE T ARET T
Interest on bank and other borrowings BR1T M oAt & B 2,339 2,306
Interest on coupon notes M EZEEF A 810 7,099
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEME 966 -
Interest on finance leases MEMEER S - 330
4,115 9,735
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EESRBSTHAEHMH
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, B EmR A B (R BEA) 5 383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (@~ &OEAR AR (FEEEF
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 HERDBEMNE 2T URBCFANEE R
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of RETBRAEBESHMT :

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2019 2018
—E—hE —T—)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T ARBTT
Fees: we
Executive directors and non-executive WITEERIENTES
directors 468 404
Independent non-executive directors BAERITES 318 303
786 707
Other emoluments of executive directors HITERERIERTESZH
and non-executive directors: B e -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e FMEEMER 5,364 3,944
Equity-settled share option expense NEmEENERERS - 778
Pension scheme contributions BRIRESETEIHRK 82 70
5,446 4,792

6,232 5,499




DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, two directors were
granted share options, in respect of their services to the Group,
under the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and
the amount included in the consolidated financial statements
is included in the above directors’ and chief executive's
remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors of

the Company during the year were as follows:

Mr. Huang Liangkuai =RIREA
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen BKERE A
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund =EBEEA

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors of the Company
during the year (2018: Nil).
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—EF-AFT=ZA=+—H

EERBSTHRAESEHM &)

HE_T—X"F+-_A=+—HILFE"
MAEERERANEBEHRZ RS HRE
ARRZEREHEERBERE  LE—
THBEANGEMBHRRMEB - ZFHE
BEZANBEENEBERHEAELRS BLS
RPER IRBELAEE MESE Y
BHRERPAFAZEHEEFALXERTR
RE{THABFHMEES -

(@ BIYFHITES
FANTFARRBYIEATEEHNE
T

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREFIT
106 101

106 101

106 101

318 303

FRAALBENANRRBILIFATES
MEMS (ZT—N\F &) -
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERBETHAEHM
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) HMITES - - kBTESERESTT
the chief executive BAE

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration

A= 4 BikE
e  RENEN sHEIERK Ed bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR%®TR AR®TRn ARETxR

2019 “E-nE
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Lu Chengye BRELE 106 - - 106
Ms. Wang Fang IFLL 106 1,079 50 1,235
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo BRiBE L AE 106 3,712 16 3,834
Mr. Ching Chau Wa' ERELRLS 106 573 16 695
424 5,364 82 5,870
Non-executive director: FRTES -
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek? Flrf e
(with his former name of (EgREA
Mr. Wong Dak Wai) TEREE) 44 - - JAA

468 5,364 82 5,914
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERBEITHAEHM®)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) HMITES - - kPTEERESTT
the chief executive (continued) BAER (&)

Salaries, Equity-

allowances Pension settled
and benefits scheme  share option Total
inkind contributions expense remuneration

bhiEs

AL BIRE EER
wEe  REWEFN  HEEX BRERX  FHes
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥TT ARETR ARETRT AR¥TR

2018 —E-0\E
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Lu Chengye BRELE 101 - - - 101
Ms. Wang Fang Izt 101 1,071 55 707 1,934
Mr. Wu Chi Luen? REMRFELS 101 708 - - 809
Mr.Chan Sek Keung, Ringo R #5285 4 101 2,165 15 71 2,352
404 3,944 70 778 5196
1 This director was appointed as an executive director of the U RZEER-_E-NF—H-BHEZ
Company on 1 January 2019. FRARFHITES -
2 This director was appointed as a non-executive director of 2 ZEER-_ZE-NFN\HA-—BEZ
the Company on 1 August 2019. EAERREIERITES
3 This director resigned as an executive director of the 9 ZEEN=TE—NF—A—HEE
Company on 1 January 2019. RRABMITESE ©
There was no arrangement under which a director of the FAXRRFBESHERITHABE
Company or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive HIVAESEE-S7 3 ¢ TAE-9: ¢ e Gk

any remuneration during the year. B
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.
The five highest paid employees during the year included two
(2018: three) executive directors of the Company, details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2018: two)
highest paid employees who are neither director nor chief

executive of the Company are as follows:

AVREHESR
FALUREHEEREARA (=
T-N\F ZM)RTES - BENFHF
BERN EXMESs - FANEBK =L (=F
—N\F: DB FARAEFHHZSTH
ABNBERFHEENHFMFHBOT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREYER
Pension scheme contributions RINE B R

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

band is as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
2,460 1,593

99 107

2,559 1,700

FMEATHBEMNIFESTRIFRSITERA
BNRSHEBARLT -

Number of employees

BEA#

2019
—E-hE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000% 7T




10.

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of
the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime effective from the year of assessment
2018/2019. The first HK$2,000,000 (2018: Nil) of assessable
profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. Taxes on profits

assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax

prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
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10. FRE8
FARNEIE165%FHE (ZZT—N\F :16.5%)
HEE BB GA R EFTIRE SR
BREEE  EAEEN—FEHEARIR -
ZATATAEE-E— N\ /T NEWH
FERBEMOMRGFEHEREGENE
BE o FZ M B A R B 22,000,000 (=ZF
— N\ : £8) B FE SR v FI) 1% 8.25% K B &
B - HERERTE A BIE 16.5% BB X 4K
i o H it = 59 FE SR Bl i B M B TH B IR AN
EEEEEBFE R AERNE R ETE -

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARET T
Current — Hong Kong BNEA— &%
Overprovision in prior years BEFEEBEREE (8) (774)
Current — Mainland China BIEf— AR B A i
Charge for the year FRZH 1,996 -
Current - Vietnam BIVER —#i g
Charge for the year FRZH 3,507 -
Deferred income tax (note 17) EIEFTE R (B3E17) (3,468) (2,985)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FRABEXH(Ex) @58 2,027 (3,759)

Except for the following companies, the subsidiaries of the
Company established in Mainland China were subject to
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at the statutory tax rate of 25% in

the following years:

BRATRBSIN ARBR P E AL Z
F B8 X R LA T S E /R 1R 25% 0K TE 11 R 4
MERMEBR (TEEMER])

Beijing Wafer* b R
Xi'an Wafer* iik=g 5

15.0% 15.0%
12.5% 12.5%
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10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FRBH (&)
¢ The entity is qualified as High and New Technology Enterprises * ZEBRTASHEMEEER  BREZRE
and was entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15% for the years —E-NEFERZF— /\i'f’ A=+—8

ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

%

exempted from CIT for the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2016, and was entitled to a 50% reduction in the applicable tax

The entity has been recognised as a software enterprise and was

IHFEEZHERCEMSHEI5%

* RERCHIA/EMLE LERARH
MBE-_Z-—AFR-_T—RFE+=A

S+—HIEFENGEMSH  WREEE

rate for CIT for the subsequent three years ended 31 December HE_T-NWF+_A=+—HILE=EF
2019. EZHMES0%EACEMSHTE 2 E
The subsidiary which operates in Vietnam was subject to CIT at e B R M B A R E K 20% M) 1 R 5t

a rate of 20% on taxable income.

Loss before tax

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5%
(2018: 16.5%)

Different tax rates enacted by local
authorities in Mainland China

Different tax rates in different jurisdictions

Adjustments in respect of current tax of
previous periods

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Income not subject to tax

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's effective
rate

11. DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2019 and subsequent to the end

of the reporting period (2018: Nil).

JERTMA A B RPEH -

2019 2018
—E—hEF —ZE—N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARBFT
bR AT E 1R (22,638) (58,416)
¥165% (T — \F:
16.5%) EEMEFTH
5 I8 (3,735) (9,639)
B A 3 5 B S B B B
IRNEETRS 176 4hs
R RERE R M) TR B R 613 -
B ER R M BN ER R 1B B
(8) (774)
TR0 B 2 1,124 4,486
M AR TR 2 B IS S 1R Y
ks 3,879 2,009
BARBZ YA (22) (285)
RAEEERBREGTERN
MBS, (EHR) 2,027 (3,759)
1. RE

BE_T-NF+t-_A=1T"HLFER
RIS HRR  NRAHEIK N HEHIK
MEE(ZFE—N\F: #) -



12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 1,396,947,945 (2018: 1,170,000,000) in issue during

the year.

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on:
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12. BAREBRERSEARLEESR
E#
BREABRIBEAFTE S Q AT REK
BEFBEARGEEER URFREHTE
ERL N F15801,396,947,945 B (—F— N\
F :1,170,000,000 f%) 5+ & o

BREAREBEBZFTENATREHESKE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®ET ARET T
Loss [}
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders &I AR EBARERHAE A

of the parent, used in the basic loss per
share calculation

EAREE

Shares ;&)
Weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year used in

the basic loss per share calculation T
Loss per share: Tl EE -
Basic and diluted ERREE

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 in respect of a dilution as the impact of share options
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per

share amounts presented.

FEIHE R - AR E K

(21,096) (46,171)

ARGt EEBRERERDN
FARBRTEBRRINE

1,396,947,945 1,170,000,000

(RMB 1.51 cents)
(AE#¥1.519)

(RMB3.95 cents)
(AR#3.95%)

A R T 62 RS 2 R 2 SR EA
FEGEARRINE RUBHAE=
T-NER-F-N\FT-A=t+-AL
EE2RZSRENBRSBELHE -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. Y% - BMERRE

Leasehold Motor
improvements Equipment vehicles Others Total
RENELE B RE Hitr @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETR ARBTR ARET R ARET R
31 December 2019 ZB-NF
tZA=t-A
At31December 2018 andat  M=F—/\F
1 January 2019: +ZA=+-HRR
“E-NE-A-H:
Cost KA 1,154 1,392 74 1,257 4,517
Accumulated depreciation ~ 23HTE (531) (923) (239) (473) (2,166)
Net carrying amount FEFE 623 469 475 784 2,351
At 1 January 2019, net of RZE-NE-A-H"
accumulated depreciation  J1fR 2T E 623 469 475 784 2,351
Additions nE 5 142 - 225 3N
Disposal RE - - - (24) (24)
Depreciation provided during  FRETIEZTE
the year (193) (300) (237) (678) (1,208)
Exchange realignment ERREER: - (3) 2 (3) (4)
At 31 December 2019, netof M =Z—1F
accumulated depreciaton ~ T-A=T—H "
nREHE 435 308 240 504 1,487
At 31 December 2019: RZZ-NE
tZA=t+-R:
Cost KA 1,159 1527 728 1,419 4,833
Accumulated depreciation ~ 23HHTE (724) (1,219) (488) (915) (3,346)
Net carrying amount REFE 435 308 240 504 1,487
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. V¥ - BERRE®

Leasehold Motor
improvements Equipment vehicles Others

HEMXEE e L Rt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTL ARETTL ARETT ARETT

31 December 2018 “B-0\%
+ZA=t-H
At31December 2017 andat HR-ZE—+F
1 January 2018: TZA=ZT-HER
“E-\f-A-H:
Cost A 764 1,011 367 776 2918
Accumulated depreciation R iTE (257) (641) (69) (156) (1,123)
Net carrying amount REFE 507 370 298 620 1,795

At 1 January 2018, net of RZE-\¥—A-B"

accumulated depreciation IR BT E 507 370 298 620 1,795
Additions HE 390 423 305 470 1,588
Depreciation provided during TR ZITE

the year (274) (324) (138) (306) (1,042)
Exchange realignment [ 5% - - 10 - 10

At 31 December 2018, netof R =Z—/\F
accumulated depreciation +-ZA=+-8"

AR ZEIE 623 469 475 784 2,351
At 31 December 2018: RZZE-N\F
+ZA=1+-R:
Cost KA 1154 1,392 714 1,257 4517
Accumulated depreciation ~ 23HHTE (531) (923) (239) (473) (2,166)
Net carrying amount REFE 623 469 475 784 2,351
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, no property, plant and RZE—NER_ET—N\F+_A=+—

equipment were pledged. B WEYE WBEREEHEDH -
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14. LEASES 14. HE

The Group as a lessee AEBERAEEA

The Group has lease contracts for various items of machinery AEEBERAREXEKEENKEINEFTS
and buildings used in its operations. Leases of machinery EIEEMEEEH KB EBER25F -
generally have lease terms of 2 years. Buildings in Mainland FEAMEFHNEPBRENT2E3F - &
China generally have lease terms between 2 and 3 years. BEFHNEABBENT1E2F - HTHA
Buildings in Hong Kong generally have lease terms between 1 EMNHEBANREAIAT HEHESL
and 2 years. Certain offices have lease terms of 12 months or BIREERRKIEEEEA R EFRENN -

less. There are no lease contracts that include extension and
termination options and variable lease payments.

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets AEEFAFAREEEMNREERE
and the movements during the year are as follows: g :

Buildings

BF

RMB’000

ARET T

At 1 January 2019 RZZE—-—hF—HA—H 9,926

Additions NE 3,136
Depreciation charge WERX (4,814)

At 31 December 2019 RZZE—-—NF+=ZA=+—8” 8,248
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14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAEBEA (BE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEERE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under FANHEHEBE(BREGFERITRAM
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, note 29) and BERIB T - MiE29) /BREE & &
the movements during the year are as follows: EDl N
2019 PANK:]
—E-NEF —E2-N\F
Lease Finance lease
liabilities payables
REREE
HEEE JESTFRIR
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ TR AREBTTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEEAE 17,518 -
New leases MEE 3,136 10,404
Accretion of interest recognised during £ A B HE R | B 1L 18
the year 966 330
Payments Rk (7,313) (2,539)
Other changes Hih &) - (603)
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt+=—A=+—8H
Z BRE{E 14,307 7,592
Analysed into: DT
Within one year —FA 7,341 1,887
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_FEFRF
(BREEREMF) 6,966 5,705
14,307 7,592
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities (2018: finance HEAGB(ZCZE—N\F mEHERE
lease payables) is disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated RHFRIE) B BREE D AT B RAR A BT 75

financial statements. EFITE43 o
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14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE )
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAEBEA (BE)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) REZHERNEERBERERAT :

leases are as follows:

2019
—E-NF
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE 966
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENERS 4,814
Expense relating to short-term leases and other ESEHIFAENGHTHEAN —_Z— A
leases with remaining lease terms ended on F+-A=+—HkZAEH
or before 31 December 2019 MEMEESENHAE 1,407
Total amount recognised in profit or loss REE PR KIBLE 7,187
(d) The total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in note (d) BEBENRSAIABEEENGS
36(c) to the consolidated financial statements. B 75 3R 3 M9 5 36(c) °
15. GOODWILL 15. B8
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T ARET T
Cost: R
At 1 January m—H—H 268,726 268,726
Write-off i (61,146) -
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 207,580 268,726
Accumulated impairment: RETRE
At 1 January n—H—H (76,162) (61,146)
Impairment during the year (note 6) FE (HsEs) - (15,016)
Write-off i 55 61,146 -
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H (15,016) (76,162)
Net carrying amount: BRESHE -

At 31 December Rn+=-A=+—H 192,564 192,564




15. GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill
The carrying amount of goodwill acquired through business
combinations allocated to each of the following cash-generating

units is as follows:
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15. HE &)
BEZREANR
EREBRAHKE NENETIEIRS
THE—EREEESEMMT :

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ETR ARBT T
Before impairment loss: REE B
Terminal and network product Bom RRBRERREES
cash-generating unit B - 61,146
Network system integration PR AGERABECEE
cash-generating unit E-Aiv2 207,580 207,580
207,580 268,726
After impairment loss: REEIEE
Terminal and network product Ko R ERREES
cash-generating unit BB - _
Network system integration PR ARBABECEE
cash-generating unit B 192,564 192,564
192,564 192,564
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15.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Terminal and network product cash-generating unit

Goodwill related to the terminal and network product cash-
generating unit arose on the acquisition of Rosy Sun in 2013.
Details of the acquisition are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 31 December 2012 which was approved by
the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 28 January 2013. The recoverable amount
of the terminal and network product cash-generating unit was
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections. In 2016, the recoverable amount of terminal and
network product cash-generating unit was estimated to be
minimal by senior management, as the Group shifted its focus
towards the development of the business of network system
integration and significantly downsized the sales of terminal
and network products due to diminishing gross margin and
intense market competition. Accordingly, the goodwill was
fully impaired since 31 December 2016. During the year ended
31 December 2019, the goodwill related to the terminal and
network product cash-generating unit has been written off
along with the deregistration of Rosy Sun.

15.

(R3]

EmEZRENR (8

R REEEGESELEN

B R AR ERR S EEBNAEMN
HEEAR-_TS—=—FRERN - Wi
BHRAARARBSHAE-_T——F+ -8
S+—HzBEER ERKEER-T—=
F—A -+ NBEFZARABRREIA
G rEREIE - REREBRELRGE
EEBENZAKRESENRBERS A
B EFENEREEET R —A
F HREMBRBERTEBEIME K&
SO EBARRPREREALBRA
BREREERBREDNE SREBE
R R BEESR S ELE B MK
EB&EE N Bt B-E—A~F+=-A
St BERNEERARE -REE_-T
—AE+-A=+—BILEE BERH
S EMBESREBRERRSES
BRIERMRE -



15.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Network system integration cash-generating unit

Goodwill related to the network system integration cash-
generating unit arose from the acquisition of Fortune
Grace in 2015. Details of the acquisition are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 6 and 13 November
2015. The management relied on the valuation carried out
by an independent professional valuer to determine the
recoverable amount of the network system integration cash-
generating unit. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Group recognised an impairment loss of RMB15,016,000
against goodwill following a reduction in the future cash flow
projection of Fortune Grace and its subsidiaries (“Fortune
Grace Group”). As at 31 December 2019, the recoverable
amount of the network system integration cash-generating unit
has been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
senior management covering a five-year period with estimated
revenue growth rate of -1.64% to 23.35% per annum (2018:
-11.69% to 48.70% per annum). The pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 27% (2018: 28%). The
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the
five-year period is 3% (2018: 3%), which is consistent with
the industry growth estimate. In the opinion of the directors,
based on the goodwill impairment review results, no further
impairment loss of the goodwill was identified for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

15.
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BE

BmEZRENR (&)
BEZGESESELEN
HEREARBEEHeELS
BEAN-Z —h F K Fortune Grace °
WEFREERNAAaBHA-Z—HF
+ H/\E&+ EIZ"E‘H%?IEHWE
BUBEXMGERMETHHREEEAESZ R
MEBESRSEEEH A NG & o RE
E_T-N\F+ZA=+—HIEFE K
% Fortune Grace & H [ff )& A 7] ([ Fortune
Grace 5 E |) MR KB @ METBAR D + K
Elﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁéwmﬁﬁﬂa}\ﬁm15016000
T -RZE—NFT+ZA=+—H #%
ES %AEE%FE S 2 A UYL El & RE T
AEREREENE B RARRERSST
F—1.64%%F2335% (ZEE—\F: §F—
11.69% £ 48.70%) A F I BRE 2 HER
BARBERAEBEAEEEEE - EAR
R MERZHAAIRE R 27% (ZF— N\
F:28%) WMELFHERSREEAZ
BERAB3I%(ZZT—/\F : 3%) » HEITHIE
R — R -EZRR REEERERE
BER BE_ZE-NFE+A=1+—H
IEFE - SIEER B E —PRERBE -

Az HRBE R P
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15. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Network system integration cash-generating unit (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation for
network system integration cash-generating unit for 31
December 2019 and 2018. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue growth rates — The budgeted revenue
growth rates are based on the historical revenue growth data
and market outlook perceived by management.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the

budget year, increased for expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rates used are before tax and

reflect specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

Long term growth rate — The long term growth rate is based
on market data and management’s expectation on the future
development of the technology industry.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development and discount rate are consistent with external

information sources.

15. BE (B

BEZRENR (E)

HAEFRBERELELEN (B)

ERFAE_FE-NAFR_F-—N\F+_HA
ST HBREAGBRARSELBUZRE
Jﬂﬁ@ﬁﬂ%fﬁ”“ TXHAEBREERE
BenBRALTEHERENAMEKEZS
([EEE3Ei

BRERAREXR-FAERAERRTIRE
BELWARERBELREEBHMSARE

PEFE -

BEENE-REENEXZBEDIREER
EREFENZFABRES 2 FPHEME
(REAMSEREAER)ETE -

FRE-—FAFTRESRBAFTIRE I
R ELE B BB AR 2 i T AR -
REERX-REEREDIRIET S HE

REBRBHRMITEARERNONEEE -

Mmi5ER 2 X E2REEERIFTHKEINE
BRHIR—2 -
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. HWEFREE

Customer Technology
31 December 2019 relationships know-how Total

—E2-hF+=A=+—-H EFBR% SRR Bt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT AR®T

Cost: B
At 1 January 2019 R-_E-NF—A—H 41,339 202,446 243,785
Deregistration of a subsidiary HE—RHENEAR (41,339) - (41,339)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—-hEF
+-A=+—H - 202,446 202,446
Accumulated amortisation and ZETHEERORE -
impairment:
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—-NF—H—H 41,339 63,265 104,604
Amortisation provided during the FNHHRE
year - 20,245 20,245
Deregistration of a subsidiary HE—HMEAR (41,339) - (41,339)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NEF
+=ZA=+—H - 83,510 83,510
Net carrying amount: AREFE -
At 31 December 2019 R-_ZT—hEF
+=-RA=+—-H - 118,936 118,936

Customer Technology
31 December 2018 relationships know-how Total

—T-\F+-A=+—~ BFHE LR fazt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT AREBTTT

Cost: B
At 1 January and RZE—-\F—HA—H
31 December 2018 M+ ZA=+—H 41,339 202,446 243,785
Accumulated amortisation and BRI KORE
impairment:
At 1 January 2018 R-—Z—N\F—HF—H 41,339 43,020 84,359
Amortisation provided during the FNHHRBE
year - 20,245 20,245
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F
+-A=+—H 41,339 63,265 104,604
Net carrying amount: REFE :
At 31 December 2018 MNoZE—)N\E

+=-A=+—H - 139,181 139,181
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17. DEFERRED TAX 17. EERE
Deferred tax assets EIERIBEEE
31 December 2019 —E-NFEF+=-HF=+—H

Impairment
loss of assets Others Total

EEREER Hity At

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T AR® T AR®T R

At 1 January 2019 RZE-hE—H—H 2,187 383 2,570
Credited to profit or loss during the ~ FRPEZEFA (Hi5E10)
year (note 10) 430 2 432
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF
+-A=+—H 2,617 385 3,002
31 December 2018 —E-NEFE+ZHA=+—H

Impairment
loss of assets Others Total

BEREER Hity Bt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2018 RZE—-N\$—-H—H 2,237 385 2,622
Charged to profit or loss during ~ FRR Bz (FFFE10)

the year (note 10) (50) (2) (52)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F

+-A=+—8 2,187 383 2,570




17.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities

31 December 2019

At 1 January 2019

Credited to profit or loss during
the year (note 10)

Credited to other comprehensive
income during the year

At 31 December 2019

31 December 2018

At 1 January 2018

Credited to profit or loss during
the year (note 10)

Charged to other comprehensive
income during the year

At 31 December 2018

R-F-NF—A—H
FRREETA HEE10)

FANEMEERETA

R-ZZE—N\F—H—H
FRRNEETA HEE10)

FRRN A2 R

RZE—N\F
+ZA=+—8H
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17. JEZEBIE (4)
EERERE
—F-AF+=FA=1—-H

Fair value

adjustment of

financial asset
at fair value Fair value
through other adjustment on
comprehensive acquisition

income of a subsidiary
BEARBETA
Htn2E WS Iy B8 — B
HEMEEN MEARZ
DMABEAE DNABEAE st
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®T T ARBT T

3,235 20,877 24,112
- (3,036) (3,036)
(3,235) = (3,235)
- 17,841 17,841

—E-NF+ZF=+—H

Fair value

adjustment of

financial asset
at fair value Fair value
through other adjustment on
comprehensive acquisition
income of a subsidiary

*r‘—\

WefE — ]

RERRZ
ARBEEHRE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT ARETTT

- 23914 23914
- (3,037) (3,037)
3,235 - 3,235
3,235 20,877 24,112




178

InvesTech Holdings Limited & 51l 12 & B fR 2 7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl s ¥R 2R B

31 December 2019
—E-NFELZH=+—H

17.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
deductible temporary differences of RMB288,382,000 (2018:
RMB38,540,000) as the deductible temporary differences have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for years and
it is not probable that taxable profits will be available against

which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 December 2019, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland
China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled RMB36,140,000 at 31 December 2019
(2018: RMB32,207,000).

17.

EEBIE (5)

138 4 s BT OB E B = 2 A R 288,382,000
L (ZZF— )\F : AR #38,540,000T) #&
REEHEEE  RAAZZ AR Y R
ZRELERSFREESEBOIE AR -
& S K A] BE B FE AR B m Al B 4 A R e
Rr = 20 R VEH SN o

RIR A B (b 2P BA - 12 B A K 32
RINERHEMINHIEEESRRE - B
BB MI0% N RKINREAT - LR E B
—EENF-HA—BHRBRERNBERAR=
T EFTA=T—HZENRF - W
A B A B ez SN IR B A BB B AR
BRI EHRMHE  AIRMREATRTESE
FraAR - Bt A"EEBEEAREFEA
MK NZERNBARIBE=ZZEZNF—A
—HBREERNAEF D IRREHARIN

R_ZE—hFE+-_A=+—H FERK
SEEPEANMKALAMNBARIZAE
& BT FE AT 2 IR B T R RIEE R IE o
EERE ZEWBARTHERARR
RAORBBRFN R-ZFT—NF+=A
=t+— B HABRECHEEBZRF
BErkEAR 2 RERENEREER
A ARY36,140,0000 (ZF—N\F : A
R #32,207,0007T) °



18.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

On 17 February 2017, the Company entered into a capital
injection agreement (“Agreement”) with £ 5 AR AR A
A (China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* “CCT") which
was established in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province of the
PRC, and certain shareholders of CCT, pursuant to which the
Company would inject an amount of RMB600,000,000 to CCT.
The capital injection was completed on 25 July 2018 when the
Company became a non-substantial shareholder of CCT and
owned approximately 3.95% of the enlarged registered capital
of CCT. Upon completion of the capital injection into CCT and
other conditions as stipulated in the Agreement, the Group has
irrevocably designated this unlisted equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income at initial recognition
as the Group considers this investment to be strategic in nature.
As at 31 December 2019, resulting from CCT's capital increase
during the year, the Company’'s shareholding percentage
decreased to approximately 3.91% of the enlarged registered
capital of CCT.

Financial asset at fair value through

18.

other comprehensive income WaeaEE
Unlisted equity investment, BARBEFTEN
at fair value FELEMRARE
ccT EAHTA

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the fair value loss
netting of the income tax in respect of the above unlisted equity
investment recognised in other comprehensive loss amounted
to RMB227,135,000 (2018: fair value gain netting of the income
tax amounting to RMB9,704,000). The fair value loss was mainly
attributable to the significant decrease in net profit generated
by CCT during the year ended 31 December 2019.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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BEAREBEFAHMGZEKENE
L& E

RZE—tEF-_ATtH AQAIEEH
ARAREERAR ([ZEAAAL - TIRFRE
BRAE R ) REMTAE TRFRET
SOFEWE (ThaEzEl) - Bt - XAFME
EAE A EE AR 600,000,000 © JEE
ER_ZEZ—NELtA-+HBZEK AR
AIERAEMAANEEIERRE  WH#EAB
AT AEIEARNEMEARL3.95% c RIEE
T A R A% ek 2R E WY E AR (R4 Tk &
HRAEBRAZREBREESL At
IR ERRFSE T MEIEE/AEA
AREEF AR 2T IE EmRAE
B-R_TE-—NFT+_HA=+—0 RBE
MARARFEALE RAGWFERE D
WO EEH G AHEEARTMERL3.91% °

2019
—E-hE

2018
—E—)\F
RMB’'000
ARETT

RMB'000
AR®T T

AR EEFAREMER

382,569 612,939

BE-_Z— WS+ -_A=1t—HItFEE"
HEMEZEEEERN Ll EHRAE
BEMAALEBEEREFEJRMAER) AA
K% 227,135,0007C (ZZ — /\ 5 : {IKRFT
SEHHAABEKZE A ARK9,704,000
) c ARNBEBEIEFEANERSTAR
BHE-_ZT—NhF+_A=+—BLFEE
A R REFI K IR R A

. X EFEHRZE
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19. LOAN RECEIVABLES

Finance lease receivables

Other loan receivables
Impairment

Other loan receivables, net

Total loan receivables, net

Portion classified as non-current assets:

- Finance lease receivables

Current portion

19. EWER

MEHERYIE

HoAth Y B R
BE

H i B E ROFRR

R E SRR

DERIERBEERD

— R EHE EUWRR

BIERER 9

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
5,900 7,578
25,300 38,484
(253) (77)
25,047 38,407
30,947 45,985
(3,913) (5,741)
27,034 40,244




19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

(A) Finance lease receivables
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19. ERER(®)

(A)

BEHERWNIA

Present value of minimum lease

Minimum lease receivables receivables
EEAEERHE EEAEEURENRE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
“§-hE  ZEFNF  Z®¥-AE —T)4
+=-A=+-8H +ZA=+-HB t=A=+-BH +ZA=+—H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETTT ARETR ARET T
Within one year —FR 2,433 2,431 1,987 1,837
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ -ZEHF
(BREEME) 4,257 6,490 3913 5,741
6,690 8,921 5,900 7,578
Less: Unearned finance income W AERBERE (790) (1,343)
Present value of minimum
lease receivables sERERNFERNRE 5,900 7,578

The Group’s finance lease receivables are denominated in
RMB. The effective interest rate of the receivables is 8.9%
per annum. There are no unguaranteed residual values
of assets leased under finance leases and no contingent
rent arrangements that needed to be recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

AEBNRERSRUKEINARE
FHE BWHIENERFENER8.9% °
HE-Z-—NF+-A=1T—HLHF
B HEfAREHEEEMNEER
FIsREE - MEM(IAETERIAR
B2
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19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

(B)

Other loan receivables

Other loan receivables represented outstanding principals,
which are denominated in HK$, arising from the
Group’s money lending business in Hong Kong. Other
loan receivables have fixed terms of repayment, all of
which are within 1 year. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its other loan receivables in order to
minimise credit risk by reviewing the borrowers’ and
their guarantors’ financial positions.

Other loan receivables are interest-bearing at rates
mutually agreed between the Group and the borrowers,
ranging from 6% to 15% per annum. As at 31 December
2019, other loan receivables of RMB6,973,000 were
guaranteed by properties of the borrowers (31 December
2018: RMB6,854,000).

Expected credit losses of other loan receivables which
measured at amortised cost are estimated by applying
a loss rate approach and adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions,
as appropriate. It is assessed that the overall ECL rate for
the above other loan receivables for which there was no
history of default is approximately 1%.

Movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other

loan receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year R E ]
Impairment losses, net (note 6) VERIEN SEi=DecE-
Exchange realignment ME 5 B

At end of year RER

19. ERER#E)
(B) HihEWER
Hmrwg IR AEEEEEEYE
BRREEZMRKEARS - TIABT
SHE o H A fE UK E KR B T B 2K
A%ﬁﬁ—i@omﬁlﬁiﬁhﬁ

(Mf7E6)

ﬁﬁﬁﬂ}%%f?ﬁxzfiﬁ i WA
ERERAREERAZFBRR
L/{E BEERR -

HihEWERRASE RERAZRE
*EET%%)EZM‘?Eé%iH%Zﬂ
B o RZZE-—NF+=ZA=+—
EI - AR5 6,973,000 TR E b EUE

NERAMEEER (T —NF
‘l'fﬂ:‘i——El : AR ¥ 6,854,0007T) °

B HR AT ENE R ERNTE
HEEBRRABER AR LE
8 B DA B2 R 3 By iR R % SR SR AR
RFENTOR (WER) o bt B b UL
ERYEELENCE  BtEEE
HEEBHRRRFENR1% -

Hit R EFURER R B EE ST -

2019 2018
—g-nE —2—\#F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREF T ARBFT
77 -

172 74

4 3

253 77




19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

(B) Other loan receivables (continued)

20.

The maturity profile of other loan receivables of the

Group as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
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19. ERER(®)
(B) HMtEWER (&)
RBEHRAET L ERE R

Within 3 months

3 to 6 months
6 to 12 months

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, no amounts due from
related parties of the Group were included in other loan

receivables.

INVENTORIES

Merchandised goods

—EAR
=ZXMEA
~E+ @A

ERET SR

BB RN ¢

2019 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
6,903 28,323

15,046 7,015

3,098 3,069

25,047 38,407

R-E-NFR-ZE-NF+-A
=t—8 AKEYEBETREKK
FEAEMERER

20. FE

2019 2018
—g-hF —E-N\F

RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT

12,881 13,398
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21.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables B 5 rWEIE
Impairment A

Trade receivables, net

B R E

Bills receivable

Trade receivables of the Group represented proceeds receivable
from the sale of goods and rendering of services. The Group's
trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except
for new customers where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit term generally ranges from 30 to 90
days, and a longer credit term will be granted to certain major
customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control management system to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned, as
at 31 December 2019, except for the amounts due from one
(2018: None) customer exceeding 10% of the Group's total
trade and bills receivables, the remaining balances of the trade
receivables related to a large number of diversified customers.
There is no significant concentration of credit risk as at 31
December 2019. Trade receivables were interest-free and
unsecured as at 31 December 2019.

B 5 WG F 5

EZREBER
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
217,785 216,226
(9,392) (8,240)
208,393 207,986
1,887 1,704
210,280 209,690

AEEEZRIGKERKREEEm R EHR
RIEEBZERE - REAEEZES
R AEBEXPAREZZHAEEH HEH
EFERARANK - EEH—RHAIE
WEFLE METEIEXRFPRERRKRZ
FEH BREFPHUEARREER LK
B B0 B AR P I B R BB EUGRIR - A RR
BEEEEHERERLS  BRBEERRR
ERE - SREEABSEHMRMAHK
R-EREREE R-_FT-AF+_-H
=t+—B BEKE-(ZZT-N\F: &)
EEFBEBEAKREE S RERREKAE

E10%5 - BB MRS TR R
STROREHRR=F n%+=7
=+ AEMEAGEARET R

—NFFTZA=+—"HZEFRES IEF%
2B REEH
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TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. EFREBERR G
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the Group as at TREI A MERREEEE F R KIA
the end of the reporting period, based on the transaction date HEREE DT - BEAD AR 5 BB RMKE -
and net of loss allowance, is as follows: I E kRSB
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARE T ARBTT
Within 3 months =EmAR 100,763 88,157
3 to 6 months —ZXEA 37,928 30,540
6 to 12 months NETZEHA 42,351 65,913
1to 2 years —EWF 24,431 13,550
Over 2 years B R R 2,920 9,826
208,393 207,986
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade EZREBGERNRESBREEESNT ¢

receivables are as follows:

2019 2018

—E-hE —T-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%ET R ARET T

At beginning of year REA 8,240 5,959
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEEFEE (FTe) 3,641 4,270
Amounts written off as uncollectible i 58 1~ °] e 21 3R IE (2,497) (1,995)
Exchange realignment bE 5 B 8 6

At end of year RER 9,392 8,240
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21.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer categories with similar loss patterns
(i.e., by geographic region, product type, customer type and
rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms of
credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written
off if uncollectible and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2019

Current  Within 1 years
Il 15/
Expected credit loss rate BHEEHER 0.64% 1.43%
Gross carrying amount REGE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 66,751 126,501
Expected credit losses BHEERE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 292 1,808

As at 31 December 2018

Current  Within 1 years
& 1ER
Expected credit loss rate T‘Eﬁﬁf“&ﬁﬁ & 0.38% 1.48%
Gross carrying amount FHLE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 73,241 117,026
Expected credit losses EHEEEE
(RMB'000) (ARET7) 281 1735

21.

BESREBERRE)
REBRSRE BHAFEREHEERETR
BNt RHEEERE - BEXTDIRE
BEEBUEBEXNNZ @R FERD 4 (B
i EREE TERFEERTEAR
EEEEXKEMEERREANRESDR)
K% HA B B E o FTE R s 4k R
EENERRRESHHASEBRBESEE
B AIAR I B R R A E R TEORI Y & ER AT 2
BRe —Mms ' BSEWRELOAA]UK

B & /A RH SR BB 1T/ B Al T LAMK S
TREFJAEECABEEEETENE S
EWFIAEERRE R -
R-—B-hE+=A=+-8
Past due
1to 2 years 2to3years  Over 3 years Total
1528 2E3F BB=F @t
17.97% 46.17% 83.94% £.31%
18,694 2,634 3,405 217,785
3,359 1,075 2,858 9,392

R-ZB-N\E+Z-A=+—H

Past due
1to 2 years 2to3years  Over 3years
1526 223% ER=F
15.07% 38.17% 84.17% 3.81%
21,275 2,012 2,672 216,226
3,207 768 2,249 8,240



21.

22,

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The maturity profile of the bills receivable of the Group as at

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Within 3 months —EAR
3 to 6 months =Z=XEA
6 to 12 months ~NE+ -8R

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, no amounts due from related
parties of the Group were included in the trade and bills

receivables.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS

Advances to suppliers ) £k FE 7 B 3K
Deposit and other receivables e N E b EGRIE
Tax recoverable AR B 77 3
Impairment allowance E R

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, no amounts due from related
parties were included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets.

22,
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. BEEREERWR @)
RS PRI EEEEE NI BBERNT :

2019 2018

=F X — N\
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBF T AREFTT
636 -

1,151 1,704

100 -

1,887 1,704

R_B-NER-B—N\F+=A=+—
B ARENHEHREREKKLTRE
AR BRI 3R -

BARE HERREAREME
E
2019 2018
=2-7%  —TNE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREFR  ARETR
37,707 18,855
12,726 16,495
3,530 164
53,963 35,514
(220) (282)
53,743 35,232
R-F-NER-F-\F+-A=+—
A - ﬁﬂ$Wﬁ@E ABE A AT BOR -
#

Lt FE U3

KIELHMEBE -
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22.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS (continued)

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at
each reporting date by considering the probability of default
and expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss
rate approach with reference to the historical loss record
of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate. The financial assets included in the above balance
were categorised in stage 1 at the year of the reporting period.
In calculating the expected credit loss rate, the Group considers
the historical loss rate and adjusts for forward-looking
macroeconomic data. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018,
except for the default receivables, the Group assessed the
expected loss rate for the other receivables to be minimal.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
deposits and other receivable balances. Movements in the

provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables are

as follows:

At beginning of year REF )

Impairment losses, net (note 6)

Amounts written off as uncollectible 881 ] W 2] FRIB
Exchange realignment P& o, 2
At end of year RER

22.

R EE R R AR (FaEe)

ANRE  HttBEWREREME
B ()

EERBAT RERSEHBBERE
AR BEMEETTIRE DT R fE A B IR ROA (i
AEBEEER ER2EAKEMNER
R - BRXGFELABRARRIE
AR B R RGBT IRV TR (@A) -
RBEHEFERN LAEHRANERE
EEORFE-—HR -FERHEEHEX
B AEEEZEEEEREEAAELER
BRBEHEBFELAR -R_Z-NAFR_
T-N\F+ZA=+T—HB BTEEZLONH
JEUCR IR S - AN 5% 18 Y £ L At FE IR IR B9
TEHIE 1B R A5 1RO o

7R 65 [ B BRAS 1R ) B R EUE B RIR
BB EERRRERE REBRENG
HHEREEEEREN AEELEL
HEHe hEMEKFIRGE S A EER
an 2k H AR E IR TT o I e H At 8 W 5K0R
ZREBBESHIT

2019 2018
—E-hF —ET-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR®ETIT
282 -

(16) 278

(47) -

1 4

220 282
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EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23. BAREBEFABZZRARE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018

—E-hF —T-NF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR TR ARBTT

Listed equity investment, at fair value BAREBEFNEZ
FIRAKRE 1,249 4,039
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group acquired Bz Z—+&+_-_A=+—H Jtir
shares of a listed company in Hong Kong, the trading of which AE l%,ﬁﬁf B RN )

has been suspended since October 2017. The equity investment BE-_ZE—+tF+AEEERH- HXK&Q
is classified as held for trading and measured at fair value SDERFIERS  WIRALEBER ABR -

through profit or loss.

A fair value loss of RMB2,821,000 was recognised for changes HE-_T—NF+ZA=T—HILEFE "
in fair value of equity investment at fair value through profit HEAALBEFABEZHNREAKEANE
or loss in “other expenses, net” in the consolidated statement BEEHHABEEEE AR 2821,0007T
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: —E—)\F: AR¥226,0007T) RERE1E
RMB226,000). ER R E [ B SOFHE | HERR

DEBT INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 24, ROARBESABENERRE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018

—E-NF —ZE-N\F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR%ST R ARBTT

Unlisted debt investment FLHEBRE 13,856 -
On 20 March 2019, the Group subscribed an unlisted bond R-ZZE-—NE=B=-1+H KNEBRE
issued by an independent third party with an aggregate principal —HR UBYFE=ZFETASEREE
amount of HK$15,000,000 (equivalent to RMB12,980,000), 15,000,000/ 7T (18 & 7 A K % 12,980,000
bearing interest at a rate of 12% per annum. The investment is TC) A FFR12% T EMIELEMES - K E
measured at fair value through profit or loss and will mature in 1 BAABESARBZ W —FERNEE] -

year.
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24. DEBT INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 24, BRAREBEFABENERRE (8
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
A fair value gain of RMB1,233,000 was recognised for changes HE_ZT—NFTZA=T—RHLFE"
in fair value of debt investment at fair value through profit or HEAALBEFTABENEBHRRENA R
loss in “other income and gains” in the consolidated statement BEEHNGEBERM [ E KA Rk ]
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019. NERN AR EEKZE A AR 1,233,000

3T

Subsequently to the end of the reporting period, on 18 March RIEHARE R _FTF=A+/\8 -
2020, the Company entered into a supplemental subscription KRRV RBHBE Bl &K
agreement, pursuant to which, the maturity date of the debt EMEBAERE—"T-_—F=AF+NH-
investment is extended to 19 March 2021. Details of the EHREHNFBREINARAIRAE-_Z=
extension have been set out in the announcement of the TE=AF+/\BHAE -

Company dated 18 March 2020.

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 25 RERBESEEYREBERAER
DEPOSITS

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Cash and bank balances Re MR ek 48,781 98,278
Pledged deposits BHEBT R 31,018 2,189
79,799 100,467

Less: Pledged deposits: B BEBER
Pledged for a banking facility FIRTTRYE RS (B R (13,423) -
Pledged for contract bidding PRI A LB IR (3,837) (2,189)
Pledged for contract execution A AHRITIER (13,758) -
(31,018) (2,189)

Cash and cash equivalents ReMRESFEEY 48,781 98,278




25,

26.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB36,541,000
(2018: RMB40,328,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through

banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

TRADE PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group, based
on the invoice date, as at the end of the reporting period, is as

follows:

Within 3 months =EAXN
3to 12 months —=+=-{@A
1to 2 years —EWF
Over 2 years 8 18 A

The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 1 to 3
months from its suppliers. Trade payables are unsecured and
interest-free.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, no amounts due to related
parties of the Group were included in the trade payables.

25,

26.
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BERASSEYRCSEAER @)

RIBER REBUARBHEZRS
LiRITHE G A AR 36,541,000 (=
— N\ : AR#40,328,0007T) - A R#EER
AERLBRAHMEY A BEFREH
R CHNE & ARG RCAETE - EERME
ERBE)  NEEABABEEELEINE
B 2RITHARBHIGAKEMER

RITBEEREARITERNEZFBH =X
REUA B - |RITE B R E BB EREF RN
BRI HBIEE R RRRTT

EZ RN
W R R B 5 A R R A
fEHH BV BRES DTN T -

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR T T
97,187 98,796
39,298 38,104
16,418 6,034
18,012 16,708
170,915 159,642

AEE-—REHERG TN F—E=@EA
MEEH HEZRNRABERARLE

RZBE-—NERZE-N\FF+_A=+—
H AEEWEBESEMNKGTAESE
A -

191



192 InvesTech Holdings Limited B & 1% R B R 2 7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o s R B

31 December 2019
—E-NFFZA=+—H

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. EHEE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHBEFHIBNT

31 December 31 December (NELELRY
2019 2018
—g-hF z “EN\F

T=A=t+-H —HA—H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT ARBTT

Advances received from customers 5 &SI ATFE Y 50 TE

Sales of goods HEEM 13,422 6,415 20,059
Rendering of services U RS 13,806 564 177
Total contract liabilities BREREEE 27,228 6,979 20,236
Portion classified as non-current D AERBEEHH
liabilities (2,296) - -
Current portion BIHAES 7 24,932 6,979 20,236
Contract liabilities included advances received to deliver goods SEHEEBEEEMNE R EIR MR IE
and render services. The increase in contract liabilities in 2019 MPBEWHIE - —E—NFEHBEEMNE
was mainly due to the increase in advances received from EHRAMIEEREERE WE R TE W IE

customers in relation to rendering of services. HANFTER o
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. HitENRIEREFTER

2019 2018

—E-hEF —T—)N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBFIT

Loan from a director KE—REFZER 6,258 43,933

Accruals EsrEH 11,276 8,516

Other taxes payable Eqth e IR 4,296 4,362

Other payables EAth fE 5B 11,958 12,170
Total other payables and accruals HEMENFIEREREA

Rk 33,788 68,981

Portion classified as non-current liabilities 48 AIERENB &I D

- Loan from a director —RE—RESCIER - (32,510)
Current portion BN B &R 33,788 36,471
Other payables and accruals are interest-free and have an HtwEAREkETERAEES  FHHE

average term of three months. HEAB=(EA -

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group’s other payables RZE—NF+—A=+—H ~5&H
and accruals was a loan payable to a director of the Group AEhENRIEREFERRBEEMNAK
amounting to HK$7,000,000 (equivalent to RMB4,258,000) EEE = 527,000,000 T (HERA
(2018: RMB43,933,000). The loan payable to a director was R #6,258,00070) (ZZE—N\F: AR
unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one year. 43,933,000L) WER - ENEZSER AE

B 2B ABR—FREE -
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued) 28. HttENREREFER (5
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, included in the Group’s other RZE-—NFRER_ZE—NF+_/A=+—
payables was a loan amounting to HK$4,000,000 (equivalent B« AN & B E b f& 1 518 4,000,000 % 7T
to RMB3,576,000) payable to Smoothly Global Holdings (FBE R AR#3,576,0007C) & 1F fE
Limited (“Smooth Global”), which is owned by two directors Smoothly Global Holdings Limited ([ Smooth
of the Company and also a non-controlling shareholder of the Globall) (HARAMEBESHFA  IMANR
Group. The maturity of the loan payable has been extended to SEIFEZERBER)NER BEZZT—NF
December 2020 during the year ended 31 December 2019 and +ZA=+—HIEFE BENEFELEER
the loan payable was unsecured and interest-free. 2T _FTFT+ AR BENERA
EEARRE ©
As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group's other payables RNRZE—NE+A=1+—H A&EBH
were amounts due to a related company of RMB2,985,000 (2018: HENRERBIEEN —BBEEAR A
RMB2,855,000), which were repayable on credit terms similar AR 2985000 (ZZTE—N\F: AR
to those offered by the related company to other third parties. 2,855,000 70) F) /A - HIE = E BjEL g &
RNaElMEME =T FTREERM -
29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29. FFERITRHEMMER

BORROWINGS

2019 2018
“Z-NE “I-N\fF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB'000 Maturity RMB'000
ERA=
(%) I ARETrn 15 ARETR
Current L
Lease liabilities/finance lease TBEBE/BAHE
payables (notes 14(b)and 30)  [E(SFUR
(W5 14(0) 12 30) 5.33-6.97 2020 7,341 6.97 2019 1,887
Bank loans - unsecured ROEF- 258 4.25-5.80 2020 22,298 4.18-4.66 2019 31,766
Bank loan - secured ROEF-EH 6.5 2020 11,464 - - -
Other loans - unsecured ERL=E O e 456 2020 16,561 5.83-7.06 2019 3,326
57,664 36,979
Non-current FEH
Lease liabilities/finance lease ~TREBE/BEMRE
payables (notes 14(b)and 30)  [EfFE
(5 14(b) B 30) 533-697  2021-2023 6,966 6.97 2022 5,705
64,630 42,684



29.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2019, a director of the Company provided
guarantees to certain subsidiaries of the Group in respect of
revolving banking facilities in aggregate of RMB21,621,670 (2018:
RMB26,423,000). As at 31 December 2019, RMB12,797,507 (2018:
RMB21,766,000) was outstanding under these banking facilities.
As at 31 December 2019, the director also provided a guarantee
to a subsidiary of the Group in respect of a non-revolving bank
loan of RMB9,500,000 (2018: RMB10,000,000) and other loans of
RMB16,561,000 (2018: Nil).

Banking facilities of RMB53,222,000 were pledged by a bank
deposit of RMB13,423,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil)
and RMB11,464,000 was outstanding under these banking
facilities as at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, except for the unsecured bank loans
of US$403,154 (equivalent to RMB2,930,000), which were
denominated in US$, secured bank loan of Vietnamese dong
(“VND") 37,717,293,960 (equivalent to RMB11,464,000) which
was denominated in VND, and the unsecured other loans of
HK$18,525,000 (equivalent to RMB16,561,000) which were
denominated in HK$, all borrowings were denominated in RMB.
As at 31 December 2018, except for the unsecured bank loans
of US$1,045,000 (equivalent to RMB7,178,000), which were
denominated in US$, all borrowings were denominated in RMB.
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ATERITREMER )

Wyt

(a)

—NE+—_A=+—BLEE"
ARARESRRTBEREAEAR
21,621,670 L (ZZE—NF: AR
26,423,0007C) MASKEE THE QA
RBEER R —hE+_A=+—
H ZERTREREESTAAR
%1’%1279750771(—’:*/\¢'/\E?ﬁ5
21,766,0007T) ° —hF+=A
:+*E|'$/\7§$?TE%3FTJ§5E§ETT
B AK%9,500,000T (=& — )\ &F:
AR #10,000,0007T) M EMERARE
16,561,0007C (Z T — )\ F : T) M A K EH
—FEM B R AR HIER -

R-ZZE—hAh&E+_A=+—8: KT
& AR ¥ 53,222,000 THRITERARE
134230007_1(_?*)\¢'?)T’Eﬁﬁ"

ZE-NAFE+ZA=1+—8B %R1TH
éIETikf““iAfﬁi%/\E%Hz.Mooon
(ZT—N\F:F) -

R=ZZE—h&E+=A :JF*E CBRLASE
JC =T 1B By 4 3K 8R 17 B 30 403,154 % 7T
(15 & MW A R % 2,930, ooom AR E
5T B B 3K 35 4R 17 B 3037,717,293,960 it 5
B (THmEED (JHE R AR11,464,000
TC) R AS TUAHE Ay I IR H A SRTT B K
18,525,000 7% 7T (AHE M A K #5 16,561,000
TN FTEBRAUAREEE - RN =
T-NEF+= H erfE CBRIAETTEHE
RO 4 4K 1 4R 77 B 7%1,045,000 = T (ABE R
/\E“Aﬁ,ws,ooon) FEEEANUAR
BESHE -
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30. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 30. MERERNRE
The financial leases have remaining lease terms of less than BRERAENHRTHERLRAF - REE
five years. These leases were classified as finance leases PR ELERFE1I6FEN_E—NF—H—
prior to IFRS 16 becoming effective on 1 January 2019. At 31 BAMA  ZSHENHEAMERE - R
December 2018, the total future minimum lease payments —E-N\F+_A=+—H BMEMAEZ
under finance lease and their present values were as follows: ARFERENRRE R HEBESV T

Present value of
Minimum minimum lease

lease payments payments
BEEE BREEESFR
TR#EEE HMEEEE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARET T
Amounts payable: FERTFUA
Within one year —FRX 2,355 1,887
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E-ERFNRN
(BREEMS) 6,287 5,705
Total minimum finance lease payments =EMERERERE 8,642 7,592
Future finance charges RAFEER (1,050)
Total net finance lease payables LEETHE RN FIETFE 7,592
Portion classified as current liabilities DEAERBEENIS
(note 29) (K5t 29) (1,887)

Non-current portion (note 29) EmENE Y (F5E29) 5,705




31.

COUPON NOTES

Coupon notes, unsecured
Carrying amount as at 1 January
Early redemption REEM
Amortisation # 5H
Exchange realignment PEE 37, &

Carrying amount as at 31 December

FREE

On 30 March 2017, the Company issued 8.0% coupon notes
(the “Third Batch Coupon Notes”) with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$47,100,000 (equivalent to RMB41,670,000),
which would mature in 2 years from the issue date. The
related commissions amounted to HK$2,402,000 (equivalent
to RMB2,125,000), among which HK$1,443,000 (equivalent to
RMB1,250,000) has been paid and netted off against the cash
proceeds. The Third Batch Coupon Notes carried interest at a
rate of 8.0% per annum and were payable quarterly in arrears.
The effective interest rate of the Third Batch Coupon Notes
was 10.87% per annum. The Company early redeemed the
Third Batch Coupon Notes partially with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$600,000 (equivalent to RMB531,000) in December
2018. The Company early redeemed the Third Batch Coupon
Notes with aggregate principal amounts of HK$1,800,000
(equivalent to RMB1,583,000) and HK$44,700,000 (equivalent to
RMB39,300,000) in January and February 2019, respectively.

NERE  EEKH
R—A—HAZKHEE

Rt+tZA=+t—B2Z

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z— A EE3% 197

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rl RS ¥R Bfif ot

31 December 2019
—EF-AFT=ZA=+—H

MERE

2019 2018
e

et SIC S
RMB’'000
ARETF

RMB’000
AR®T T

48,921 87,800
(49,323) (43,671)
366 2,997

36 1,795

- 48,921

N_E—+F=A=+H ' AQAI%ET—
AR & 4% 5 47,100,0008 T (HHERAR
¥ 41,670,000 7T) H98.0% F| B =4 ([ =#t
MEZE])  BRBEITAHERFERH -
FERE M £ 52,402,000 0 (FEE R AR
2,125,0007C) @ H™11,443,000%8 70 (FEE R
A K #1,250,0007T) B R EHEIER S PT
BRIE - F=HFEEBIRF F EL8.0% 5T
B BEME-—XR - F=ZHFNEBEZENE
BREFIRE10.87% c ARRIER _Z— )\
F+-_ARFELOISSE =M 2%
ReEEE £ 56000005 T (FHENRARE
531,0007C) e AR R ED AR ZZT—NF
— AR ARFEERE=HFNEZE K
T XA £ 51,800,000 (FHE R AR
1,583,0007T) % 44,700,0005%8 7t (#H & R A
R #39,300,0007T) °
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31.

32.

COUPON NOTES (continued)

On 11 May 2017, the Company issued 8.0% coupon notes (the
“Fourth Batch Coupon Notes”) with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$9,600,000 (equivalent to RMB8,493,000),
which would mature in 2 years from the issue date. The
related commissions amounted to HK$490,000 (equivalent
to RMB433,000), among which HK$288,000 (equivalent to
RMB255,000 has been paid and netted off against the cash
proceeds. The Fourth Batch Coupon Notes carried interest at a
rate of 8.0% per annum and were payable quarterly in arrears.
The effective interest rate of the Fourth Batch Coupon Notes
was 10.87% per annum. The Company early redeemed the
Fourth Batch Coupon Notes with an aggregate principal amount
of HK$9,600,000 (equivalent to RMB8,440,000) in February
2019.

All coupon notes are redeemable at the option of the Company
after the twelfth month from the issue date, in whole or in part,
at certain predetermined prices in certain specific periods prior
to the maturity dates of the coupon notes. Further details of
the coupon notes are set out in the related announcements of
the Company dated 1 and 22 December 2016 and 23 February
2017, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL
Shares

31.

32.

FMEEE (B

R=ZT—+tFRA+—HB ZAFEET—
#H 7K € 4858 59,600,000 0 (FHER AR
#8,493,0007T) HY 8.0% F 5 2= & ([ 55 U it
MEZE]  BRETAHBRFERE -
HEFA £ A490,0008 T (HHERARE
433,000 7T) © H A1288,0007% 7T (F8E K A
K% 255,00070) Eff REEH R © 1S K
TH o BN A B EIBIRFFE8.0%E 8B
BEME—X - FEMFEZBENERF
MEAE1087% c AAFR=ZZTE—NF=A
2P HE D A $ 42%059,600,0005 T (FHE
AR HE 8,440,000 7T ) B 5 O AL S 24 o

RETEHET—@A%E  AAREAER
MERBIHBA THEHRAKRSE T
BAEENERERZBABLIFERE -
EANBERNE —SFHBHNAARH
HE-_ZT—A"F+-_A—BER=_+=BK
E_E—+E_A-_+=B2HEBAE -

@IS
i 17

Issued and fully paid: BERITEAR
1,404,000,000 (2018: 1,170,000,000)
ordinary shares of U5$0.02 each

0.02F Tz L@

i3
=

Equivalent to 1

1,404,000,000 % (ZZ— N\ :
1,170,000,000 %) B X E &

US$28,080,000 US$23,400,000
28,080,000 3 T 23,400,000 7T
RMB188,710,000 RMB156,928,000
AK%188,710,000C AR 156,928,0007T
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 32. BA(®)
Shares (continued) B3 (48)
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as ARARRAEEHZ T :
follows:

Number of Share
shares in issue Share capital premium Total

BRTRGEE BA iy At

Equivalent to
HER
US$'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
TET NS AEBTT AEBTT

At 1 January 2018 and RZE-\E—-A—H
31 December 2018 RZZ-N\%
+-A=1-H 1,170,000,000 23,400 156,928 625,495 782,423
Issue of shares (note) B17Mtn (&) 234,000,000 4,680 31,782 652 32,434
Shareissue expenses (note) 1A E{7H % (MisE) - - - (1,135) (1,135)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NE
+-A=1+-H 1,404,000,000 28,080 188,710 625,012 813,722
Note: On 11 January 2019, 234,000,000 new shares were issued at a Kiag IR =—ZF— NLF— A+ —H " 234,000,000
price of HK$0.16 per share to not less than six independent third R AR B R B A% 016 8 21T T DRI
parties for an aggregate cash consideration, before expenses, FEIE=F KA ABRERER
of HK$37,440,000 (equivalent to RMB32,434,000). The related 37,440,000 7T (8E 70 A R ¥ 32,434,000
transaction costs amounting to HK$1,300,000 (equivalent to JC) ° HHRER $ A A 41,300,000 %8 T (A8 E
RMB1,135,000) were netted off against the cash proceeds. The R AR 1,135,00070) EREREESME K
net proceeds were intended to be used for business development HeFIBRAFEMAERERERRIE

and as general working capital of the Group. BAEBE —REEESD -
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33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high calibre employees and attract human resources that
are valuable to the Group and any invested entity. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include the Company’s directors,
including executive director and independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, the Company’s
shareholders, any non-controlling shareholder in the
Company’s subsidiaries, holders of any security issued or
proposed to be issued by any member of the Group or any
entity in which the Group holds any equity interest, and any
other person including any consultant, distributor, contractor,
supplier, agent, customer, business partner, joint venture
business partner, promoter or service provider of any member
of the Group whom the board of directors considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the Group.
The Scheme became effective on 25 October 2010 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10
years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in
the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date
of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

33.

BT
ARmERBEEERESE (%8 B&
AHREEXBEKRBEAERMZEERS
BATRHEZHREE R XEAEE
REERAMEEESEEARRSIHAEE
REMKREECEEEBENANER %
AEAER2EATBEARAES (B
HNITEZRBYIFRNTES)  AREHM
BE ARAIKRR ARBMERR I
BEEER AEEZERKERBIRAE
EEHATARENTAEREITRBRET
WEMREFFEEA  AREREMA L
BEBEMR - - SHEE - AeE HER - R
B OEE BEAERBH GLELERE
BEBH BEASIAKTEEZSAHE
REHMBAEBERLAR S ELEROE
AREREE - ZA R T —FF+ A
“TRBEER RIFLBUERER - TR
5 BZBEEARI0F -
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RIRZET SRS EER L RETERBK
BOREHERTERHESRARRRE
AREMEETRHZ210% - ZEER2 A
ALTR12BA ARZHEIER L BREZ
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EREREETRN 1%  RAEMEE
Rz BRENARKRAE /IR
R

MARAES THREAHI T EBRRHIREK
FZEMBEALEOBREREBIE
MITEFFRAE - 1IN REMI12EA
HEA R ARAFEERRIFILIEHR
TEFIWRSF2EABEA TR L BRE
B R By - BBEAR R B ERARE S 3
TTR20.1% KBEBBSAEET (RE
REARAEAARRR ZRHERTE) - Bl
IARBRNBRA S LSk -



33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
7 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to three
years and ends on a date which is not later than ten years from
the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board of directors in its absolute discretion and shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
on the date of the grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average of closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the
Scheme during the year:

33.

2019
—E2-NF

Weighted
average

exercise price
T HTEE
HK$ per share
BRER

R—A—Bk
+-A=+—-8H

At 1 January and 31 December

No share options under the Scheme were granted, exercised,
cancelled, or lapsed during the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018.

1.7
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BT E ()
BRHBREZZOAINRENAHESTAR
NEARASNRBARE 1B TRER -
REnBERENTERARESRE IR
—E-FREBHRAL AERTEREZ
BRERZHETFATMAE F&tEE
m BB (ABREERE) -

BERENTEENESSE2ENBEEE
EABERTIRSE  VREEREES
B(BEAREXR)BXAEHRERMS
ARF DB MTHE - (i) RER IR 2 B RGE
EHAAER S AR AAEERERM
AR BRAD KPR TE ¢ R i) N AR
fEE -

BRENETERSAE AR S HRBER
REEREZHER -

AT RERREZA BRI ARITEZ B

2018
—T-N\E
Weighted
average
exercise price of options
IEFTTEE e =
HK$ per share ‘000
BRETT Tin

Number Number

of options

BREMA
000
Th

7,920 1.7 7,920
HE-_Z—h&ER-_Z—N\NE+_-A
=t+—HIFE BEREZTEERL
1318~ FESHER AR R 2 B R AE o
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. IERAESTE(®)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options ReRERR RETHFEEREZTHEER
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: IR ERR -
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 R-ZE-—hERZZE-N\F+ZA
=+-8
BR B
BREHE TEE: REBEH TEH
Number Exercise Grant date
Name of category of of share price* of share
participants SHREHEZRES options per share option  Exercise period
‘000 HK$
T4 BT
Directors =
Wang Fang 5 2,880 1.7 25-10-2016  25-10-2016 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2016 £ 25-10-2026
2,160 1.7 25-10-2016  25-10-2017 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2017 £ 25-10-2026
2,160 1.7 25-10-2016  25-10-2018 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2018 £ 25-10-2026
7,200
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo fe £ 08 288 1.7 25-10-2016  25-10-2016 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2016 £ 25-10-2026
216 1.7 25-10-2016  25-10-2017 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2017 £ 25-10-2026
216 1.7 25-10-2016  25-10-2018 to 25-10-2026
25-10-2018 £ 25-10-2026
720
7,920
< The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment * BERGHE 2 (T B AR MR SR ITA IR S 1
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in RATREA R IEUE BT AFE -
the Company’s share capital.
The Group recognised a share option expense under the REBRBEE_ZE—NWFE_Z—\F
Scheme of nil and RMB778,000 during the year ended 31 T A=+ B tEEBRZZTEER

December 2019 and 2018. RS AT R AR T778,0007T °



33.

34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2016 was estimated as at the
date of grant using a binomial model, taking into account the

terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The

33.
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BT E ()

BE-_Z-—R"Ft_A=t—RHLFE"
ERHUNESEERBREZAREE T
RELBEHRA -_BEAEA G EEE
P H B P A O AR AR B AR 1 » TR DI T

following table lists the inputs to the model used: BEEAXMANGE AER :
Dividend yield (%) 1% BOUK 25 2 (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) T8 HR R 1 (%) 59.63
Risk-free interest rate (%) 47 3 B ) 2 (%) 1.56
Expected life of options (year) B ETEHER (F) 10
Exercise multiple 1T EE 2.393

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data
over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual

outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into

the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the year, the Company had 7,920,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of
the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 7,920,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of US$158,400 (equivalent to RMB1,105,000) (before

issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 7,920,000 share options outstanding under
the Scheme, which represented approximately 0.6% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 92 to 94
of the consolidated financial statements.

34.

BRECEMERABE=ZFZ2HERE
BE-BRORMRATGEEANTEHEERN - &
HR i S BB 1 R 1R BT AR R B B A RAR
RIEAR L RRERAER

WEHE M SR HBRERIENARAEE

e o

RER - AN2Q B #EAH 7,920,000 15 5 i #
M RABIRZET 1T E o BIEA R FIER B A
BRANZERE  FBEITE M AR ITE B ARE AT B
8 SN 17 7,920,000 % A A A E R
% R 38 AN A% 2 158,400 35 7T (FHE 7 A R #
1,105,000 7T) (R EATHRZ) °

RLEZEMBHRERAY  NAFHA
7,920,000 17 & AU i R AR IR % 5t &I 7T (2
HERZBARBEETRNAI0.6% °

R
AEBRAFERBEFEZHEHEEER
HEPRGEEUBERRENREUBZEE
ERSEHRET -
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35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 35. BEEARFEHERZ2HIERM

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BAF
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non- ERBAEEAREEH R ZAEBNBE R
controlling interests are set out below: AIMFFBEEHIIAT ¢

Percentage of equity interest held by non- IR R

controlling interests Bl
Fortune Grace Fortune Grace 25% 25%
2019 PANK:]
—E-hHF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ TR ARET T
Loss for the year allocated to non- DT IEE G ER
controlling interests FEERE
Fortune Grace Fortune Grace (3,569) (8,486)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RIRE B EIFEIE Sl =
interests at the reporting date 2 2T

Fortune Grace Fortune Grace 53,269 56,736
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35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 35. BEEARFEHERZ2HLEBM
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) BAT @
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TERHAPLAMBRARMBEERNBE o

information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are

before any inter-company eliminations:

BRI AAREEN 2SR

2019 2018

—E-hF —T-NF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARET T

Revenue WA 484,611 393,165

Total expenses #HEE (498,887) (427,107)

Loss for the year FEEE (14,276) (33,942)

Total comprehensive loss for the year FETHEBELRE (13,869) (34,051)

Current assets MENE E 389,239 329,678

Non-current assets EMEEE 135,586 149,843

Current liabilities RBEE (284,648) (225,994)

Non-current liabilities FEmEBBE (27,102) (26,582)

Net cash flows from operating activities KEEBFEReNEFHE 18,703 1,727

Net cash flows used in investing activities ~ REFEBFIAR S REFH (28,544) (1,279)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BEEBAE,(FTH)

activities WEmEFHE 8,343 (3,166)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR& MRS EHER L FEE (1,498) (2,718)
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36. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. REREREBRME

CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions (@ EXFREXRSH
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to REA AEEREFHELRENE
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB3,136,000 AREERHEABNIEREAE
and RMB3,136,000, respectively, in respect of lease o Bl A AR 3,136,000 T 2 AR
arrangements for buildings (2018: Nil). 3,136,000 L (= — NF : &) o

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) MEITBFRELEZ2EEEH
activities
2019 ZE-AF

Aloan

payabletoa

non-controlling

shareholder
Finance lease includedin Interest-bearing
payables/ Loanfroma  other payables  bank and other
lease liabilities director and accruals borrowings

A
EtEAHKE
MERE REFERZ
ERRE/ RE-2ES EA-2FER TERTR
HEAE ZEH RRER EffER NERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBFR AR®TR ARBTR ARBTR

At1 January 2019 R-Z-h%5-A-H 7,592 43933 3,331 35,092 48,921
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16 43 EIHE B #53R 5 £ 8|

AT i) 9,926 = = = =

17,518 43933 3,331 35,092 48921

Changes from financing BERESREEL

cash flows Ve (6,347) (37,806) - 14,691 (49,323)
New leases MHE 3,136 - - - -
Interest expense MBEX 966 = = = =
Interest paid classifiedas ~ 2 BALKLELRE

operating cash flows HEMTHE (966) - - = =
Foreign exchange &

movements - 131 245 540 402
At 31 December 2019 RZE-N

- £
+ZR=1-H 14,307 6,258 3,576 50,323 -
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36. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. KEBERERMT (@)
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BMEIBHFEEZEESE (E)
activities (continued)
2018 —E— ) F

Aloan

payable to a

non-controlling

shareholder
included in  Interest-bearing
Finance lease Loanfroma  other payables  bank and other
payables director and accruals borrowings

RE-%EZ HERAR
ZEH BRER HibfEH HERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARET  ARETn ARETR  ARETx

At 1 January 2018 RZE-\E—A—H - - 3,331 35,760 87,800
Changes from financing RERDREEL
cash flows & (2,209) 43933 - (955) (43,671)
New finance lease HmEneE 10,404 - - - -
Interest expense FlaFY - - - - 2,997
Foreign exchange 5
movements - - - 287 1,795
Other changes g (603) - - - -
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\§
+-RA=1t-H 7,592 43,933 3,331 35,092 48,921
(c) Total cash outflows for leases (c) HE-HESRBHAZE
The total cash outflows for leases included in the HRGERERERNEE LR ESR
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: MBI
2019
—E-hE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Within operating activities LEIEENA 2,373
Within financing activities EEEEA 6,347

8,720
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37.

38.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group underwent several reorganisations, including
disposals of the entire interests in Honglin International
Limited and /& T #4 18 4R & Bl 50 A R 2 7] (Weihaishi Yubo
Wire & Cable Technology Co., Ltd.) during the year ended 31
December 2015 and the transfers of several subsidiaries
within the Group. The Group has conducted filings of the
reorganisations, if required, with the relevant tax authorities.
However, those reorganisations may be subject to further
investigations if initiated and requested by the relevant tax
authorities. The directors of the Company believe that the taxes
arising from those reorganisations have been properly dealt
with and provided for in the consolidated financial statements.
Given the complexity of relevant tax laws and regulations and
the diversified practice of respective tax authorities in the
PRC, there exists a possibility that tax authorities may levy and
collect additional taxes for those reorganisations.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s banking
facility, contract bidding and contract execution are included in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

37.

38.

HREE

AEERETZREE BEREBE_ZT
—HEF+ZA=t+—BIEFEHEUME
RERARMEETHERENKERA
AR A RN AR B RS RS HNE
DR AKECERAMABANGE RS2 HREH
(IMBERE) - A WEZFHERBE
BiREEXR  ZEEAARARE TN
HAE - ARAEEFHEXFEAEENH
HOESFAMBRE A FEIENETHRE
we-ARTBEEERGEERREREE
MEXHBERNHBEZE TR HEE
BEE %S EARW R UEEIMIIE o

EEEKF
NAEBEEEEERFZAEBRRITHE
BE BRENREHNVITHBRNEGS
BF 7% 3k I 25 ©



39.

40.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS AS AT 31
DECEMBER 2018

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in
respect of offices and buildings falling due as follows:

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with its related parties during the year:

(@ On 6 December 2017, the Group entered into a loan
agreement with Smoothly Global for an unsecured,
interest-free loan of HK$4,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,576,000). The maturity of the loan payable has
been extended to December 2020 during the year ended
31 December 2019 and the loan payable was unsecured
and interest-free (2018: RMB3,331,000).

(b) On 13 August 2018, the Group entered into a facility
agreement of HK$100,000,000 (equivalent to RMB87,716,000)
with a director of Group. As at 31 December 2019,
HK$7,000,000 (equivalent to RMB6,258,000) was outstanding
under this facility (2018: RMB43,933,000). The facility is
unsecured and interest-free and repayable within one year.

F_EFRTFAN(BREREMF)
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39. R=F-—N\F+-A=1t—HZE
BHENEE
RZT—NF+-A=+—8 xEEH
A AR AR T AT BN A 0 B
ERNRRSERERBNT

2018
—E-N\F

RMB'000
ARETT

5,781
7,249

13,030

40. BESREZRBERS

B e BHRREME D AHEENZ I -
FRARAEEAEBELTETTIIRS

(@ R=ZZFE—tF+=-A~HB £~5H
H Smoothly Global i £ i 1 & 5
B 504,000,000 7T (lHE R AR
3,576,0007T) 5] ;2 B i ©
E-NFE+-_A=t—RULFE &
NEFEERE-_ZE-_ZEF+=-AF
B BZENERREERREE (=
Z—N\F : AR¥3,331,0007T) °

-

b)) R=ZF—N\FNA+=HB £5H
HAEBE - REFITLRELEEH
# 100,000,000 ;¢ (FHE R AR
87,716,00070) - R=ZE—NF+=A
=+—H %@ & 7,000,000 7T (#8
BN AR 6,258,000 7T) HAEE (=
T—)\F : AR¥43,933,0007T) ° %
MEREAEERAREEAAR —F
RNEE o
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
entered into a purchase agency agreement with a related
company. The commission fee paid to this related
company was charged based on the 5% of the purchase
amount. The charges are substantially in line with
comparable transaction in the market. The Group paid a
commission fee of RMB930,000 during the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: RMB758,000).

Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the Group’'s outstanding balances with its
related parties as at the end of the reporting period are
disclosed in notes 19, 20, 21, 22, 26, 27, and 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

During the year, the Company did not identify any
personnel as key management other than the directors of
the Company. Further details of directors’ and the chief
executive’'s emoluments are included in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

40. BEARZGRBERS (5)

(c)

BHE-_T-N\F+ZA=1+—81
FE - AEEE—EEER ALK
BRERZ XN THEAERFHNR
CEAEHESEN% I & A
BTG FNA AR SR —5 -
HE-_ZT-NFT+ZRAR=1+—81
FE -AKEHEXHHAEAIAR
#930,000t (ZZE—\F: AR¥
758,000 JC) °

\E

a5

BB 2 REEMRE

S

\

REREHRERES 2 K EE
FIERGE I ERRATE19
© 222627 R29HHEE o

]
#

nu}' -

Z
23
20 ~ 21

AEEETEZEEAEHM

FABRARRESFI  AARLE
BAERMALAIBEEEE -EFR
ERTHRABFMZE - FFBEER
A B MR MIEES



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 —Z— A EEH 211

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o S R 2 B

31 December 2019
—EF-AFT=ZA=+—H

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 4. REHNESERMIA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial WEMRSHENSRTAMERBERT :
instruments as at the end of the reporting period were as

follows:

2019 —E-NF

Financial assets THEE

Financial asset
Financial assets at fair value
at fair value through other
through comprehensive
profit or loss income
RANBERA
RANBETA Hf 2 EkE
BREMEREE HEREE
Financial Mandatorily
assets at designated Equity
amortised cost as such investment Total
REBEHA BHEER
NECEREE 208 RARE -y
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Trade and bills receivables BHREBRET 210,280 - - 210,280
Financial assets included in STABRTE - Al

prepayments, other receivablesand ~ ZE R E M EEH

other assets TREE 12,506 - - 12,506
Loan receivables EER 30,947 - - 30,947
Interest receivables JEIHE 343 - - 343
Equity investment at fair value through RS EE ABEZ

profit or loss BARE - 1,249 = 1,249
Debt investment at fair value through ~ EA S EEAEEZ

profit or loss EHRE - 13,856 - 13,856
Financial asset at fair value through ~ RAAEBEAE

other comprehensive income PANEREBEE - - 382,569 382,569
Pledged deposits BERE 31,018 - - 31,018
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBReEEY 48,781 = = 48,781

333,875 15,105 382,569 731,549
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 41. RERIEI S €M T B (&)

2019 (continued) —E-NEFEHE)
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R R AT IR
ZEEA s
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Trade payables B SR 170,915
Financial liabilities included in other payables FTAEAMEN B R EFTE A
and accruals ZEHmAE 18,216
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHEERIT R HEAE R 64,630

253,761
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 41. IRERIZ2 €I E (&)

2018

Financial assets

Trade and bills receivables

Financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Loan receivables

Interest receivables

Equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

EHRERRET
STABMTE - EtbEK
REREMEE

cREE
RUER
RS
BARBEFARS
RERE
BOLEBET ALY
FHUENEREE
EEWTM
RERHLEED

c

m%ﬁm

Financial asset
Financial assets at fair value

at fair value through other
through comprehensive
profit or loss income
BAREBERTA
22 ENE

; 74

Financial Mandatorily
assets at designated Equity
amortised cost as such investment

REHERA BHETR

Sk eRAE oL BARE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTTL ARETTL ARETT AREBTT

209,690 - - 209,690
16,213 - - 16,213
45,985 - - 45,985

1,356 - - 1,356
- 4,039 - 4,039

- - 612,939 612,939
2,189 - - 2,189
98,278 - - 98,278

373,711 4,039 612,939 990,689
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 41. RERIEI S €M T B (&)
2018 (continued) —B—-N\F (&)
Financial liabilities LB E

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

YR SR AT R

=

RMB’'000

ARET T

Trade payables B 5 RN FIE 159,642
Financial liabilities included in other payables and 5t A E {th B~ 2k 18 K fE 51 & A

accruals JeRBE 23,593

Loan from a director RE—BREEZER 32,510

Coupon notes B EE 48,921

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHEERTT R H A E K 42,684

307,350




42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial

42.

instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Financial assets

Equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive
income

Finance lease receivables, non-
current portion

Financial liabilities

Coupon notes

Finance lease payable,
non-current portion

Loan from a director,
non-current portion

ERMEE
BAREESARS
AT E
BAREEF AR
ZIEBEE
BRAABEA
At 2EREH
TRMEE
BEME WA -
SERVEIRE Y

TRHAR
MERE
RMEMERNFIE -
SERVERRE Y

RE—REZZEN

SERVEIRE Y

Carrying amounts

FREE

2019

ZE-hE
RMB'000
ARBT T
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EMIAZARBERAAEES
&
AEESRTA(REERAABES2H
EEBRIN) 2 RABRALBEST :

Fair values

AAREE
2018 2019 2018
SUACHENEL 5 S SY\C
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR%TrR ARETT

1,249 4,039 1,249 4,039
13,856 - 13,856 -
382,569 612,939 382,569 612,939
3,913 5,741 3,913 5,741
401,587 622,719 401,587 622,719
- 48,921 - 48,867

- 5,705 - 5,705

- 32,510 - 32,510

- 87,136 - 87,082

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the finance

manager is responsible for determining the policies and

procedures for the fair value measurement of financial

instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to the

chief executive officer. At each reporting date, the corporate

finance team analyses the movements in the values of financial

instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the

valuation, if any. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the

chief executive officer.

AEEBE THYBKEETENDEMBAE
BERERIANAABESHEBE
NIEF XV BEBERRAARER RN

EMEEH CXRMBESMERTAE
ﬁm@&#mﬁﬁﬁﬁEWIE%Aﬁ@D
B) - fAECRARENRILE -
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42.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade and bills receivables, current financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
pledged deposits, the current portion of loans receivables,
interest receivables, trade payables, current portion of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and the current financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term

maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of finance lease
receivables have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining

maturities.

As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of equity investment at
fair value through profit or loss, representing an investment
in shares of a listed company in Hong Kong that the trading of
which has been suspended since October 2017, was measured
by valuation techniques of the guideline public company
method. The guideline public company method requires the
research of comparable companies’ benchmark multiples and
selection of an appropriate multiple. In order to reflect the
latest financial performance of the listed company which the
Group invested in, the management have adopted the price to
sales (“P/S”) ratio of the comparable companies.

42.

EMIAZARBERAIABES
& (E)

REREFHR ReMkREFEY E
S RBHBERUGR - SEATRNFIE - L&
WREREMEENRBDERMEE 2K
BiER - BRERABHES  BEAE
B SRR - 5 RRT R EMAEKETH
BB LA R 5t A EL At A SRR e FEET B A Y
nBTRAENAREEREREERES
TEHRRETENHRE -

MEHERWFRFANBLD 2 AREE
EEBEFRLUGNK EERR MK TE
HIE 2 TEBRE ARG 2 M RATRBHR
KEEMEMTH -

R_E—-AE+-_A=+—HEAREBME
AABRZRAREAABER—ERE
BETRRAZRAREEG T —+F+
ARBEERS THREZEETMARNETE o
BIZE LM ARDEZH A LA A # B 2AEF 8
ETHR WERBEENEH - BRREAE
SEAMREZETMARGHMBEE &
BEECKANELRARZERLEE ([P/
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42.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair value of the unlisted equity investment designated
as financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income has been estimated using a summation method
with majority of component assets are valued by market-
based valuation technique based on assumptions that are
not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation requires the directors to determine comparable
public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and
strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such as
price to book (“P/B”) multiple, price to earnings (“P/E”) multiple
and P/S multiple, for each comparable company identified.
The multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of
the comparable company by an earnings measure. The trading
multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity
and size differences between the comparable companies based
on company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted
multiple is applied to the corresponding earnings measure of
the unlisted equity investment to measure the fair value. The
directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from
the valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair
values, which are recorded in other comprehensive income, are
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at
the end of the reporting period.

The fair values of unlisted debt investment are measured
by valuation techniques of binomial model using significant
unobservable market inputs including the liquidity and credit

spread, and short rate volatility.

The fair values of coupon notes are measured by valuation
techniques of binomial model using significant unobservable
market inputs including the discount rate and interest rate
volatility, except for partial of the balances of the coupon notes
early redeemed subsequent to year end which was measured
by income approach.

42.
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

42, EMIBRAZAAEBERAAEBESE
YD)
AREEER
TREZESHMBREBEZEATTEES
AEUAERR-_E—AER-T—N\F+=
A=+—BZE8BmEDIT

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial investments together with a quantitation
sensitivity analysis at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Description

i

Equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Valuation
technique

fhER &

Guideline public company

method (2018: Prior
transaction method)
(Market approach)

EREMRRAIA(ZE-N
ERARHTE) (15

%)

Unobservable
input

FUBREAA

Valuation multiple:

BEGEE

- Price to sales

-BRHHE

Discount for lack of
marketability

Amount of
unobservable
input

FUBRBAE

31 December 2019: 0.28
(31 December 2018: N/A)
ZZ-NETZA=T-H:
0.8(ZF-\F+Z7
=t+-R:TER)

31 December 2019: 19.16%
(31 December 2018: 19.13%)

Relationship of unobservable
input to fair value
TTERGAER
DMEENEE

The higher the ratio, the higher
the fair value

LEES ARABEMR

The higher the percentage, the
lower the fair value

R AR RLTE ZE-NEHZA=t-H:  BAMR AALEEME

19.16%(ZE-N\F+Z 7

=+—H119.13%)
Debt investment at fair value Binomial method (Income Liquidity and credit spread 31 December 2019:10.61% The higher the percentage, the
through profit or loss approach) (%) (31 December 2018: N/A) lower the fair value
BRABEARR ZEAREMAE) RBUREESE %) ZE-NETZA=T-R: BALME ARAEEME
ZEBRE 1061%(ZF—\F+=F

=t+-R:TER)

Short rate volatility (%)

SENIES eI

31 December 2019: 0.589%
(31 December 2018: N/A)
ZZ-NETZA=T-H:
0.589%(—F—N\F+=A

=+-R:TER)

The higher the percentage, the
lower the fair value

BONEE  AIDABESE
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42. SRMIAZARBERAAEBESE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ﬁ& (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREBEER (B
Amount of
Valuation Unobservable unobservable Relationship of unobservable
Description technique input input input to fair value
TABRBAER
it HER % TABREA TUBERAE DMEENEEZ
Financial asset at fair Summation method (With Valuation multiples:
value through other majority of the component
comprehensive income assets valued by market
approach)
BRABEGAEMZAR  AHE(ZEARESEE  MEGE:
BIEREE TSR TIE(E)
- Price to book 31 December 2019:0.95t0 1.44  The higher the ratio, the higher
(31 December 2018:0.92) the fair value
-BRULRAERE “Z-AF+ZR=+-B:  UEEE ADABESR
095E 144 (ZF—\E+Z
A=t—H:092)
- Price to earnings 31 December 2019: 1.92 to 4.06
(31 December 2018: 12.09)
—BRLAT —F-AF+-R=t+-H:
1922406 ZF—\F+=
A=+—H:1209)
- Price to sales 31 December 2019:
13.21t029.37
(31 December 2018: N/A)
—BRLHE ZE-NETZRA=T-R:
132122937(ZF-N\F
TZA=1—-R: T#ER)
Discount for lack of 31 December 2019: 18.25% The higher the percentage, the
marketability (%) (31 December 2018: 19.13%) lower the fair value

BemBRBRTE®% ZE-NFTZAZt-B: B LEE AAREEME
18.25% (22— N\E+=A
=+—8:19.13%)

Discount for lack of control 31 December 2019: 18.00% The higher the percentage, the
(%) (31 December 2018: 17.00%) lower the fair value
iR 2 P A R () ZE-AFTZAZT-H:  BAUES BMALEEME
18.00%(ZF-\F+2A
=+—A :17.00%)
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts
of premiums and discounts determined by the Group that
market participants would take into account when pricing the
investments.

The valuation multiples represent the market multiples derived
from the comparable companies (peers) and were applied to
the financials of the financial assets to arrive the fair value.

The discount for lack of control represents the amount by which
the pro rata value of a non-controlling interest is less than the
pro rata value of a controlling interest over which a business

enterprise reflects lack of a control.

42, TRAITEZAABERAAEBESE

& (E)

ARBEBEFRE)
RZmERABENRIIME2EEESR
EEEREERZAKEMERE 2 E SR
FRTE -

MEGHNKREAELRAR (F%) N
LR YRAREMEENTHEEEN
EBAABE-

R 2 45 I 4 T o B 3 7% b 3 IR R ER = 42
) DB BIE D RIS R L Pl E
M AR ©
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42. TRTACZARBERAAEBES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ﬁ& (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) ARABEER(E)
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement T%ﬁuﬂ—\$$.ﬁ¥éﬂl LA RBEEE
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments: E
Assets measured at fair value: BRARBEFENEE

As at 31 December 2019

Equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive
income

As at 31 December 2018

Equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive
income

>

o
¥

S B

ot
—+
>
S
pinil]
B

~
=

- 58
Bk [ 35 my
gy -

%
=
k> >
%ﬂl

~
=

e
e

Fair values measurement using

Ny LFE*E}%

Significant Significant
Quoted prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

EX EX

ERMHEHE TERBAE TURERAE
(B14) (%24) (34 st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT ARETT AREFT

- - 1,249 1,249
- - 13,856 13,856
= = 382,569 382,569
- - 397,674 397,674
- - 4,039 4,039
- - 612,939 612,939

- - 616,978 616,978
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42. TRIBEZARBERAAREBES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) & (E)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) ARBEEER(E)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 FRNEIRAABEFTENEFSHOT ¢

during the year are as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARBTIT
At 1 January n—HA—H 616,978 4,034
Purchases BE 12,980 600,000
Interest received B U F & (794) -
Total losses recognised in the consolidated R4RAEZER AR
statement of profit or loss KB 1B 48 5E (1,588) (208)
Total (losses)/gains recognised in other REAM 2 HE R mE K AER
comprehensive income m (E518) s (230,370) 12,939
Exchange realignment b 5 R 468 213
At 31 December R+ZA=+—81 397,674 616,978
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair E/\ —hWEER_E—NF+=_A=+—
value as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. ' $% .*E)fﬁﬁ?ﬁ” AREBEEFENS

%EET§°
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42, EMIBRAZAAEBERAAEBESE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) FEE)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREBEEER(E)
Asset for which fair values are disclosed: BEAREBEZEE:

Fair values measurement using
AREETERA
Significant Significant
Quoted prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

EX EX

ERMHEHRE UERBAE TURERAE
(B14) (%28) (34 st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT ARETT ARETT

As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+-A=+-H
Loan receivables - EUEH—
non-current portion JERNEE S - 3,913 - 3,913
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\5F
+-A=+—H
Loan receivables - e E T~

non-current portion JEREE H - 5,741 - 5,741
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42. EMIBRAZAAREBERAAEBESE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&
Fair value hierarchy (continued) ARBEEER(E)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: BEARBAEZEE:

Fair values measurement using
AREBEFERA
Significant Significant
Quoted prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

EWN EWN

ERMSRE ABRHAE IUBEHAE
(B18) (%#28) (E38)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT

As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+-A=t-H
Loan from a director, RE-BRESHER
non-current portion JERNERE - 32,510 - 32,510
Coupon notes FIEEE - - 48,867 48,867
- 32,510 48,867 81,377
The Group did not have any financial liabilities disclosed at fair RZZE—NF+ZA=+—8 ~5EI

value as at 31 December 2019. ELMEANBEERENERHEE -



43.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and cash and cash
equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills
receivables, trade and bills payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group’s policy that trading in financial instruments shall be

undertaken with due care.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s debt obligations in US$, RMB
and VND with floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest costs using a mix
of fixed and floating rate debts with respect to the prevailing
interest rate environment. The Group mitigates the risk by
monitoring closely the movements in interest rates and
reviewing its banking facilities regularly. The Group has not
used any interest rate swap to hedge its exposure to interest

rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s
loss before tax and equity in response to changes in interest
rates of the Group’s floating rate debts in US$, RMB and VND
(with all other variables held constant).
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43, BIXREREBEBEREE®)
POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) 2= Jm b (48)

Increase/
(decrease) in (Increase)/ (Decrease)/
interest rate decrease in increase
basis points loss before tax in equity*

FEEHEH BRBLAIEE EEGY)
(T  (Em), WD ®ne
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETR

2019 “E-NF

US$ debts EES 100 (28) -
RMB debts AR ER 100 (195) -
VND debts W EER 100 (115) -
US$ debts EEHR (100) 28 =
RMB debts AREER (100) 195 =
VND debts W EES (100) 115 =

Excluding retained profits e et RIRB & H)

Increase/
(decrease) in (Increase)/ (Decrease)/
interest rate decrease in increase
basis points loss before tax in equity*

MEEHLER  BEASE  @@(RD)/
(F&) (%)W s 10

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFLE  ARBTR

2018 —E-N\&F

US$ debts ELES 100 (71) -
RMB debts ARBEER 100 (100) -
US$ debts ELES (100) 71 -
RMB debts ARBEER (100) 100 -

Excluding retained profits * T R AR i Al



43.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.
The Group assesses the respective exposures of each of its
operating units.

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the holding of monetary
assets and liabilities and entering into transactions
denominated in foreign currencies which will affect the Group’s
financial position and performance as a result of a change in
foreign currency exchange rates. At the end of the reporting
period, certain trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings of the Group denominated in or
linked to foreign currencies, exposing the Group to foreign
currency risk, details of which are set out in the respective

notes.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s
loss before tax and equity in response to changes in exchange
rates (with all other variables held constant) to which the Group

had significant exposure.

43.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43. BIEMEEHEREE (&)
POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SN E B ()

(Decrease)/ Increase/ Increase/
increase in (decrease) in (decrease) in
exchange rate loss before tax equity*

Ex(T&K) BRBiATE 1R ‘@M,

xRS (R2)
% RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT

2019 —E-NEF

If US$ weakens against VND fMERTTABmEERE (10%) - -

If US$ strengthens against VND WEETHEMEEAE 10% - -
S Excluding retained profits * et RIRB & H)

(Decrease)/ Increase/ Increase/
increase in (decrease) in (decrease) in
exchange rate loss before tax equity*

B (T#),/ BBt AT 1R HEmE
A GBW) RS (R )

% RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

2018 —E-N\F

If US$ weakens against VND HERTAEmEERE (10%) (10) -

If US$ strengthens against VND WEETALEEEHE 10% 10 -
¢ Excluding retained profits * T R AR i A
Credit risk EERR
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy ANEBEHEFERAMEEEENE = HiE
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who T AREBNHEABEHAEREENU
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification IRBRHAT S B PHETE ERBIRIZT oo -
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on JEWAR EHIFETER  MAEEZEERD
an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not BRIt TER HRIWIEFATEEEEN
significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the N ERAENRS  AEBERIE
functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group e TEEERHAET  T2IRMHEHRKR
does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the AR HEA o

head of credit control.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43. BIBEMEEHEREKE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) FER (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging BRERERIER FARERSE

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRBVNERAEEEFERRNEERZ
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, e EERBAE  EEZEUABEN
which is mainly based on past due information unless other REZE (BRIEAT R BAR H AW E R KA,
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- ZIRBEMER)  UER+ZA=+—
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts BRFEREE B ZIHEBELAESREE
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. RIARRRTE(E °

As at 31 December 2019 R-ZB-NFI+-_A=+—H

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12EARS
FEER FHREHEERE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BN #28) 23 B -
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETT ARETR ARET T ARET R

Trade and bills receivables* & 5 REBEYG - - = 219,672 219,672
Loan receivables ERET

- Normal*™ -EE" 31,200 - - - 31,200
Interest receivables JEYe RS

- Normal*™ —-EE" 343 - - - 343
Financial assets included STABRFE - Kbk

in prepayments, other FEREMEER

receivables and other assets S EEE

- Normal** —-EE" 12,726 - - - 12,726
Pledged deposits BHEAER

~ Not yet past due kN 31,018 - - - 31,018
Cash and cash equivalents BeRALSED

- Not yet past due kNl 48,781 - - - 48,781

124,068 = - 219,672 343,740
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND BEEREEEERBEE &)
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

43.

EERE(E)
REBEBRRERFAERDE (E)
R-F-NNFft-A=1—H

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2018

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A L
-4 FHNE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F18] 2R ERE 1f(97 @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFTT AREFT ARETFT
Trade and bills receivables® &5 R EBEYH" - - - 217930 217930
Loan receivables FERER
- Normal* -EE* 46,062 - - - 46,062
Interest receivables eI &
- Normal** —-EE" 1356 - - - 1,356
Financial assets included STABRFE  EfhEK
in prepayments, other TEREMEER
receivables and other assets B EE
- Normal* -EE* 16,495 - - - 16,495
Pledged deposits BEAER
- Not yet past due — R 2,189 - - - 2189
Cashand cashequivalents ~ BERBREZED
- Not yet past due — R 98,278 - - - 98,278
164,380 - - 217,930 382,310

%

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The credit quality of the loan receivables, interest receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets is considered to be “normal” when they are not
past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets
is considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to

credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note 21

to the consolidated financial statements.
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43.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk rests with the board
of directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management of
the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements. Having considered the forthcoming
business plan, the Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate banking facilities and continuously monitoring
working capital forecast and actual cash flows. Should there be
any significant change in banking facilities available, the Group
will adjust the working capital forecast and business plan

accordingly to maintain its liquidity.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43, BIXREREBEBEREE®)

POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) TE MR B ()

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at BESORMBNIR ASERAERE
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual WMEBAROBNEB AT

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Less than 3to 12
On demand 3 months months Over 1 year Total

REREE 3AUT 3Z12(87 155 L @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Trade payables VT 49,345 65,596 55,944 30 170,915
Financial liabilities included in ~ 5f AE & ZE R

other payables and accruals BBz £ RAE 5,221 484 12,511 - 18,216
Lease liabilities HEAE - 1,532 6,481 7,314 15,327

Interest-bearing bank and FTRRITREMER
other borrowings (excluding (B8 ER)
lease liabilities) - 14,367 37,008 - 51,375

54,566 81,979 111,944 1,344 255,833

Less than 3to 12
On demand months Over 1 year

RERER 3EAUT 3Z1218A 150 F f
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTL ARETT ARETT ARETT

1.

Trade payables VTR 30,366 54,927 74,349 - 159,642
Financial liabilities included in s AE#TENFER

other payables and accruals ~ B BR 2 REE 5715 14,278 3519 81 23,593
Loan from a director RE—REZLEN - - - 32,510 32,510
Coupon notes HEEE - 50517 - - 50,517
Interest-bearing bank and FERITREMER

other borrowings 5,672 2,395 29,663 6,482 44,212

41,753 122117 107,531 39,073 310,474




43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
businesses and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed

capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is ZF%@? BEARBBELR (BT EaER
interest-bearing liabilities divided by the total assets. The ABEEFTE 2R ERER - EHR
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as E@§$ﬁ%tt$ﬁﬂ—|— :
follows:
31 December 1 January 31 December
2019 2019 2018
—E-NE — N —E-N\F
+=-A=+—~H —A—RB +ZA=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT ARETTT
(Note)
(HT5E)
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREMER
borrowings 64,630 52,610 42,684
Coupon notes FEEE - 48,921 48,921
64,630 101,531 91,605
Total assets BEE 1,109,904 1,369,697 1,359,772
Gearing ratio BEXRBELE 5.8% 7.4% 6.7%
Note: The Group has adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective Biat - AREBE RAE PR SR EZERIZE 1655 -

approach and the effect of the initial adoption is adjusted against
the opening balances as at 1 January 2019 with no adjustments
to the comparative amounts as at 31 December 2018. This
resulted in an increase in the Group’s net debt and hence the
Group's gearing ratio increased from 6.7% to 7.4% on 1 January
2019 when compared with the position as at 31 December 2018.

FEALETNERE  aARANKE =%
—NF-—A—BZEVEHARE WEY
R-ZE—N\F+-A=1+—HBHLKRLE
EITHE SWAEEFEHAF LM -
MER—_E— \F+-_A=+—8BHitR
s NEBR-_ZE—HhE—RA—HHE
RNEBEHERB6.7% EFAE7.4% -
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44. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

45.

(@@ On 18 March 2020, the Company entered into a
supplemental subscription agreement, pursuant to which
the maturity date of the debt investment is extended to 19
March 2021. Details of the extension have been set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 18 March 2020.

(b) There was an outbreak of the novel coronavirus around
the world. As the epidemic is fluid and rapidly evolving,
the related impact on the Group’s consolidated results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition could not
be reasonably estimated at this stage.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, the
Group adopted IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative
amounts in the financial statements were not restated and
continued to be reported under the requirements of the
previous standard, IAS 17, and related interpretations.

44,

45.
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MBARRN BT ERNE R A B
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 46. XA T B BEAR R *
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the BERAARARARNMERRNTBAMKAKRHE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: e/
2019 2018
—ZE—-hEF —EF-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%STR ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSET kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB A RIRE 408,460 850,693
Total non-current asset ERBEELLT 408,460 850,693
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and other ~ FE{FRI8 « E {th & Ug X8
assets LEMEE 211 151
Equity investment at fair value through BEAREBEFABRE
profit or loss ZRAEE 1,249 4,039
Debt investment at fair value through profit ZAREET AIEZR
or loss ZEBHE 13,856 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG 418,400 364,301
Cash and cash equivalents RehkReEED 492 37,550
Total current assets MEVEELRE 434,208 406,041
CURRENT LIABILITIES REERE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEH I B~ &) 3k 78 6,795 304,463
Other payables and accruals HEMENFIBERESER 6,878 12,074
Coupon notes A EEE - 48,921
Tax payable FERT LR 6,007 6,004
Total current liabilities mEBEEE 19,680 371,462
NET CURRENT ASSETS REFEE 414,528 34,579
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAR
LIABILITIES 822,988 885,272
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FkRBAE
Loan from a director KE—REFZER - 32,510
Total non-current liability ERE A EREE = 32,510
Net assets FEE 822,988 852,762
EQUITY &
Issued capital [RELEE N 188,710 156,928
Reserves (note) s () 634,278 695,834
Total equity A% 822,988 852,762
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 46. QBRI K (@)
COMPANY (continued)
Note: it
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARafEBZBENT :

Foreign

Share currency

Share option Capital translation  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve loss Total
ROEE BRERE ERGE B % R EE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARET:R

Balanceat 1 January 2018  R=ET—N\F—H—H
2R 625,495 5,526 106,715 (1,007) (40,293) 696,436

Equity-settled share option i EBRER

arrangements - 778 - - - 778
Loss and total comprehensive & E518 I 2 HE B2
loss for the year - - - 402 (1,782) (1,380)

At 31 December 2018 and RZE-N\F
1 January 2019 +-A=1+—-H
k=F-NE—-A—A 625,495 6,304 106,715 (605) (62,075) 695,834

Loss and total comprehensive FE BB 2 HEREE

loss for the year - - - 60,052 (121,125) (61,073)
Issue of shares BIIRG 652 - - - - 652
Share issue expenses BHBEITHY (1,135) - - - - (1,135)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-N&F
+-A=1t—-8 625,012 6,304 106,715 59,447 (163,200) 634,278
47. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 47. HEREMEHRE
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and EFEeN _ZE_FEF="A_-_t++tHAER
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March BT BE R R B B RS 3% o

2020.
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